REGULATION OF CCR5 USE ON PRIMARY CD4+ LYMPHOCYTES BY R5X4 HIV-1

Lamorris M. Loftin

A Dissertation

in

CELL AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2010

Dissertation Advisor: Ronald G. Collman, M.D., Professor of Medicine

Graduate Group Chairperson: Daniel S. Kessler, Ph.D., Associate Professor of Cell and Developmental Biology

Dissertation Committee:

Paul F. Bates, Ph.D., Associate Professor of MicrobiologyGary H. Cohen, Ph.D., Professor of MicrobiologyRobert W. Doms, M.D., Ph.D., Professor of Pathology and Laboratory MedicineJames A. Hoxie, M.D., Professor of Medicine

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my thesis advisor Ronald Collman for the scientific advice, guidance and support he provided during my dissertation research as well as the patience he displayed as a mentor during my development as a graduate student. I also want to express gratitude to current and former lab members Lingshu Wang, Nadeene Riddick, Jesse Isaacman-Beck, Emilia Herman, Anjana Yadav, Mobeen Malik, Brian Tomkowicz, Rick Cheung and Vipa Ravyn for advice, ideas and creating a wonderful environment to learn and grow as a student. I would like to especially thank Yanjie Yi, for being a mentor in the lab and helping me get started as a graduate student, and Martha Kienzle, whose technical assistance was invaluable in the completion of the research described in this dissertation.

I would like to acknowledge the members of my dissertation committee P. Bates, G. Cohen, R. Doms and J. Hoxie for excellent advice and guidance throughout my graduate training. I would also like to acknowledge P. Gorry, R. Doms, J. Hoxie, B. Lee and M. Mack for reagents that were critical for the completion of this dissertation.

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grant AI035502, and L.L. was supported in party by National Institutes of Health training grant T32 AI007632.

ii

ABSTRACT

REGULATION OF CCR5 USE ON CD4+ LYMPHOCYTES BY R5X4 HIV-1

Lamorris M. Loftin

Ronald G. Collman

HIV-1 strains that use CCR5 predominate after transmission and during the asymptomatic period of disease. However, in up to half of infected people, variants that use CXCR4 emerge, coincident with accelerated disease progression. The earliest CXCR4 using strains to appear, called R5X4 viruses, usually retain CCR5 use. Prototype R5X4 HIV-1 isolates infect macrophages using CCR5 and CXCR4, but CD4+ lymphocyte infection by these viruses is mediated predominantly by CXCR4. Here, we sought to identify obstacles to CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1. Using a panel of R5X4 Envs we found that, although CXCR4 was the predominant coreceptor used to infect CD4+ lymphocytes, there was a spectrum of CCR5 use. Greater CCR5 use on lymphocytes correlated with relative resistance to inhibition by CCR5 mAbs and small molecule antagonists in CCR5+ indicator cells. Increasing CCR5 expression on primary lymphocytes through cytokine stimulation or lentiviral transduction increased the proportion of entry mediated by CCR5 for all R5X4 isolates except 89.6. Env dependence on CCR5 density was then evaluated using a cell line in which levels of CD4 and CCR5 could be independently regulated. At non-limiting CD4 levels, strains with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use were better able to exploit limiting levels of CCR5, whereas those that used lymphocyte CCR5 poorly were more sensitive to reductions in CCR5 levels. Evaluation of the V3 sequences of the R5X4 viruses using algorithms that

predict viral phenotype indicated an association between greater CCR5 use on lymphocytes and a predicted non-syncytium inducing phenotype. Introduction of an R306S mutation in the Env V3 domain of 89.6 enhanced its ability to use CCR5 at low levels and switched its preference to CCR5 for lymphocyte entry. Residue R306 in the 89.6 and C2-16 Envs was also associated with greater dependence on the amino terminus of CCR5 for infection. Thus, lymphocyte CCR5 is used by some R5X4 strains to a variable degree, low CCR5 expression coupled with inefficient Env-CCR5 interactions are the principal obstacles to lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1, and the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 isolates is determined by variation in Env-CCR5 interactions.

Table of Contents

Origin of the HIV-1 pandemic 2 Overview of HIV-1 pathogenesis 3 Function and structure of the HIV-1 envelope protein 8 Molecular determinants of coreceptor use 11 Target cell tropism and viral phenotype 12 Coreceptor use and viral tropism 14 Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: immune suppression of CXCR4-using viruses 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring <t< th=""><th>Chapter I - Introduction</th><th> 1</th></t<>	Chapter I - Introduction	1
Overview of HIV-1 pathogenesis 3 Function and structure of the HIV-1 envelope protein 8 Molecular determinants of coreceptor use 11 Target cell tropism and viral phenotype. 12 Coreceptor use and viral tropism 14 Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers. 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers. 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines. 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by RSX4 HIV-1 <th>Origin of the HIV-1 pandemic</th> <th>2</th>	Origin of the HIV-1 pandemic	2
Function and structure of the HIV-1 envelope protein 8 Molecular determinants of coreceptor use 11 Target cell tropism and viral phenotype 12 Coreceptor use and viral tropism 14 Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: immune suppression of CXCR4-using viruses 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ Iymphocytes by RSX4 HIV-1 37 Introduction	Overview of HIV-1 pathogenesis	3
Molecular determinants of coreceptor use 11 Target cell tropism and viral phenotype 12 Coreceptor use and viral tropism 14 Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 278 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes infected thro	Function and structure of the HIV-1 envelope protein	8
Target cell tropism and viral phenotype 12 Coreceptor use and viral tropism 14 Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ hymphocytes infecated through each coreceptor is m	Molecular determinants of coreceptor use	11
Coreceptor use and viral tropism 14 Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R3X4 viruses 40 40 CR8 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 44 <td>Target cell tropism and viral phenotype</td> <td> 12</td>	Target cell tropism and viral phenotype	12
Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview	Coreceptor use and viral tropism	14
Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers 16 Emergence of CXCR4 use: immune suppression of CXCR4-using viruses 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 4 lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor i	Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview	16
Emergence of CXCR4 use: immune suppression of CXCR4-using viruses 17 Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 49	Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers	16
Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion 19 HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 19 lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 38 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 49 Conclusions 52	Emergence of CXCR4 use: immune suppression of CXCR4-using viruses	17
HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission 20 Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 46 Conclusions 52	Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion	19
Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1 24 Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 1/2 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 26 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 46 Conclusions 49 26 Conclusions 52	HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission	20
Goals of this thesis 26 Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 1/2 Imphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 27 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1	24
Chapter II - Materials and Methods 28 Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 1////////////////////////////////////	Goals of this thesis	26
Primary cells and cell lines 29 HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 1////////////////////////////////////	Chapter II - Materials and Methods	_ 28
HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors 29 Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 26 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	Primary cells and cell lines	29
Pseudotype virus production 31 CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors	29
CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes 32 Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	Pseudotype virus production	31
Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes 32 FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression 34 Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring 36 Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes	32
FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression	Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes	32
Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring	FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression	34
Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ 37 Imphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 37 Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring	36
Introduction 38 Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated 40 by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 46 CCR5 upregulation 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4- lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1	⊦ <i>37</i>
Results 40 A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses 40 40 CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated 44 by CCR5 44 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following 46 CCR5 upregulation 46 Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression 49 Conclusions 52	Introduction	38
CCR5 upregulation	Results A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 virus CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry media by CCR5 The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following	40 ses 40 ted 44
Coreceptor-aepenaent KSX4 entry jollowing tentiviral vector CCK5 over-expression 49 Conclusions	CCR5 upregulation	46
······································	Coreceptor-dependent KSA4 entry jollowing lentiviral vector CCKS over-expression	49 52

Chapter IV - Efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction determines the spectrum of CCR, use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 5.
Introduction
Results
Resistance to inhibition by ECL2-specific CCR5 mAbs correlates with the capacity of R5X4 HIV-1 to use CCR5 for lymphocyte infection5
Sensitivity to CCR5 antagonists but not a fusion inhibitor correlates with lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-16
Greater lymphocyte CCR5 use is associated with reduced sensitivity to CCR5 density for infection of Affinofile cells6
<i>Ability to use CCR5 on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 correlates with the use of low levels of CCR5 on 293 Affinofile cells</i> 6
Conclusions
Chapter V - Molecular determinants within Env that regulate coreceptor use on CD4+ lymphocytes 7.
Introduction
Results
Impaired CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by 89.6 is reversed by the R306S mutation within the V3 region 8
Residue R306 increases Env dependence on the CCR5 amino terminus8
Conclusions
Chapter VI - Discussion9
Limited lymphocyte CCR5 use: implications for the evolution and transmission of R5X4 HIV- 1
Efficiency of CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1: implications for pathogenesis9
V3 determinants that regulate CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1: implications for structural interactions with coreceptor
Summary and final conclusions
Chapter VII - Bibliography 10

List of Illustrations

Figure 1.1. Markers of disease progression during HIV-1 infection. 4
<i>Figure 1.2. Steps in the gp120 mediated membrane fusion process.</i> 7
Figure 1.3. Env structure and variability.
Figure 1.4. HIV-1 coreceptor use and target cell tropism.
Figure 1.5. Selective transmission of R5 HIV-1 from donor to recipient. 21
Figure 3.1. Coreceptor use on U87 indicator cells by HIV-1 pseudotype viruses 41
<i>Figure 3.2. CXCR4 is the principal coreceptor on PHA/IL-2 stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes for R5X4 HIV-1 primary and prototype strains.</i> 42
Figure 3.3. CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 infection mediated by CCR5.
<i>Figure 3.4. Stimulation-dependent changes in coreceptor expression affect the percentage of CD4+</i> <i>lymphocytes infected via each pathway.</i> 48
Figure 3.5. Lentiviral over-expression of CCR5 increases the proportion of R5X4 entry mediated by CCR5 on CD4+ lymphocytes51
Figure 4.1. Antibody epitopes on CCR5. 60
Figure 4.2. CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes correlates with resistance to inhibition by ECL2 mAbs. 61
<i>Figure 4.3. CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes correlates with resistance to inhibition by CCR5 antagonists but not T20.</i> 63
Figure 4.4. Inducible CD4 and CCR5 Affinofile expression system. 65
Figure 4.5. Efficiency of CCR5 use on Affinofile cells correlates with CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by
<i>R5X4 HIV-1.</i> 67
Figure 5.1. R5X4 HIV-1 CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes is associated with the predicted viral phenotype. 78
<i>Figure 5.2.</i> The amino acid at position 306 in Env does not affect coreceptor use on U87 cells by 89.6 or C2-1680

Figure 5.3. Residue R306 in Env is associated with less efficient interactions with CCR5.	82
Figure 5.4. Residue 306 in Env regulates CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes for 89.6 but not C2-16.	85
Figure 5.5. Envs with R306 are more dependent on the N-terminus of CCR5 for infection.	

Chapter I - Introduction

Origin of the HIV-1 pandemic

Human Immunodeficiency Virus – type 1 (HIV-1), the causative agent of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), is a lentivirus in the family *Retroviridae*. HIV-1 can be grouped into three separate phylogenetic lineages that each entered the human population through cross species transmission of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (SIV) from either chimpanzees (Group M and Group N) (Keele et al., 2006) or gorillas (Group O) (Van Heuverswyn et al., 2006) in west Africa. Recently a fourth lineage (Group P) (Plantier et al., 2009) was proposed, suggesting that cross-species transmission of SIV may still occur. HIV-1 from groups N and O are found almost exclusively in West Africa (Ayouba et al., 2000; Peeters et al., 1997); however, HIV-1 from group M spread beyond Africa leading to the global pandemic (Buonaguro, Tornesello, and Buonaguro, 2007). Since the early 20th century, the likely period during which HIV-1 Group M entered the human population (95), the evolution of this group from a common ancestor has resulted in the formation of distinct genetic subgroups, clades A-K, as well as numerous circulating recombinant forms of the virus (Buonaguro, Tornesello, and Buonaguro, 2007). The greatest diversity of HIV-1 Group M is found in Sub-Saharan Africa, while the pandemic in other parts of the globe is characterized by a high prevalence of one or a few specific clades or recombinant forms of the virus (Hemelaar et al., 2006). Over 25 million people have died of infection by HIV-1, and currently 33 million people globally, including 22 million in Sub-Saharan Africa, are infected by HIV-1 making it imperative that we understand the pathogenic mechanisms of this virus (Merson, 2006; UNAIDS-Epidemic-Update, 2009).

Overview of HIV-1 pathogenesis

HIV-1 is an insidious virus that, in the absence of antiretroviral therapy, slowly erodes the capacity of the immune system to respond to pathogens, which ultimately causes individuals to succumb to AIDS in an average of 5-7 years (Costagliola et al., 1989; Ward et al., 1989). The virus is spread by exposure to blood and other bodily fluids containing HIV-1, which occurs through blood product transfusion, IV drug use, perinatal exposure and, most commonly, during sexual contact (Curran et al., 1984; Harris et al., 1983; Scott et al., 1984).

HIV-1 infection and pathogenesis are studied using relevant human lymphoid cells and tissues *ex vivo* or SIV infection in non-human primates, and disease progression is monitored by specific measures that are adversely affected by the virus (Fig. 1.1). Following mucosal infection by SIV (Stahl-Hennig et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 1999) or HIV-1 infection of vaginal explant tissue (Collins et al., 2000; Gupta et al., 2002), virus is first found in small foci of infected resting and activated memory CD4+ lymphocytes and then later in macrophages and dendritic cells at the initial sites of infection. Within two weeks of SIV infection, virus disseminates from the site of local infection and amplification to local draining lymph nodes (Miller et al., 2005; Stahl-Hennig et al., 1999). From there, the virus travels through the lymphatic and vascular systems to other lymphoid tissue including the gut associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) (Miller et al., 2005; Stahl-Hennig et al., 1999). The majority of activated, memory CD4+ lymphocytes in the body are found in the GALT, and HIV-1 infection of CD4+ lymphocytes in this



Figure 1.1. Markers of disease progression during HIV-1 infection.

Acute infection by HIV-1 is characterized by a rapid decline in CD4+ lymphocytes in multiple compartments that is coincident with a rapid increase in viral load. During this stage, the immune system is activated to respond to the virus. CD4+ lymphocytes in peripheral blood, but not in gut mucosal tissue, rebound as viral load decreases marking the transition to the chronic phase of infection. During the chronic phase, CD4+ lymphocytes in peripheral blood continue to decline and immune activation increases, which is thought to contribute to the immune exhaustion seen later in disease. Near the onset of AIDS, there is a loss of viral control that leads to a spike in viral load, depletion of the peripheral blood CD4+ lymphocytes and death. R5X4 strains typically appear near the onset of AIDS. Image obtained from *Grossman, Z. et al. Nature Medicine 2006.*

compartment leads to rapid and massive cell loss that is sustained throughout disease (Fig 1.1) (Brenchley et al., 2004; Schieferdecker et al., 1992; Schneider et al., 1994). HIV-1 replication in the GALT invokes a robust immune response and induces apoptosis of intestinal epithelium that damages the lining of the gut (Li et al., 2008; Sankaran et al., 2008; Schmitz et al., 2001). Microbial products are thought to enter peripheral blood as a consequence of the breakdown of the intestinal barrier and induce immune activation that increases as disease progresses and has been hypothesized to directly contribute to the immunodeficiency that occurs at the end of disease (Fig 1.1) (Brenchley et al., 2006).

Although HIV-1 infection after the acute phase is clinically asymptomatic, covert viral replication proceeds for years until the final stage of disease (Embretson et al., 1993; Pantaleo et al., 1993). Humoral and cellular HIV-1-specific immune responses arise weeks after transmission; however, in most cases, they fail to adequately control viral replication, instead providing selective pressure that contributes to viral evolution (Allen et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2003). As HIV-1 disease progresses, the number of CD4+ lymphocytes in blood slowly declines (Polk et al., 1987). The opportunistic infections that characterize AIDS typically begin to occur once CD4+ lymphocyte levels fall below a threshold (Eyster et al., 1989), and infected individuals ultimately die from an inability to clear virulent as well as opportunistic microorganisms (Fig. 1.1) (Quagliarello, 1982).

HIV-1 pathogenesis begins at the interface between the virus and cellular membranes. HIV-1 requires a receptor, CD4 (Dalgleish et al., 1984; Klatzmann et al., 1984), and a seven-transmembrane domain chemokine coreceptor, either CCR5 (Choe et al., 1996; Deng et al., 1996) or CXCR4 (Berson et al., 1996; Feng et al., 1996), for infection of target cells. Viruses are typically classified based on the coreceptors they use to infect CD4+ cells lines: R5 viruses use CCR5, X4 viruses use CXCR4, while R5X4 viruses are able to use either coreceptor (Robertson et al., 2000). Differences in coreceptor use between HIV-1 variants have important implications for transmission and pathogenesis. R5 HIV-1 predominates in the early and asymptomatic stages of infection (Schuitemaker et al., 1991); however, in up to 50% of subtype B-infected individuals, viruses that use CXCR4 emerge (Spijkerman et al., 1995). Memory lymphocytes are the preferential targets of R5 viruses, but the emergence of CXCR4 use leads to an expansion in target cell tropism to include naïve lymphocytes as well (Blaak et al., 2000; Ostrowski et al., 1999). The appearance of these variants and the expanded tropism that results is associated with an accelerated decline in the number of CD4+ lymphocytes in peripheral blood and rapid progression to AIDS and death (Koot et al., 1993), but presently, it is unclear whether the emergence of CXCR4-using viruses is a cause or consequence of immune decline. Interestingly, regardless of virus quasispecies in the donor or the route of transmission, nearly all HIV-1 infections are initiated by R5 viruses (van't Wout et al., 1994; Zhu et al., 1993). Although there is evidence suggesting mutational barriers and selective immune pressure oppose the emergence of CXCR4-using viruses (Harouse et al., 2003; Pastore, Ramos, and Mosier, 2004), it is unclear what factors regulate the appearance of these variants and why predominately R5 strains transmit. R5X4 viruses are the first CXCR4-using variants to appear (van Rij et al., 2000), and despite CCR5 use on indicator cells, these viruses rarely establish infections after transmission (Cornelissen et al., 1995; Pasquier et al., 1998). Consequently, studies focused on R5X4 HIV-1 may shed light on these two critical aspects of HIV-1 infection: the emergence of CXCR4 use and the bottleneck at transmission that selects for R5 viruses.

6



Figure 1.2. Steps in the gp120 mediated membrane fusion process.

The HIV-1 Env and the cellular receptor (CD4) and coreceptors (CCR5/CXCR4) are shown on the viral and host cell membranes, respectively. CD4 binding leads to conformational changes in gp120 that result in the formation of a coreceptor-binding site. Coreceptor binding causes additional structural changes in gp120 that lead to insertion of the fusion peptide of gp41 into the target cell membrane. Creation of the six-helix bundle in gp41 brings the virus and target cell membrane into close proximity ultimately resulting in membrane fusion and viral entry. This image was modified from *Nathanson and Overbaugh, Viral Pathogenesis and Immunity 2006*

Function and structure of the HIV-1 envelope protein

The HIV-1 lipid membrane is studded with the envelope (Env) glycoprotein, which is arranged on the surface of the virion as a trimer (Gelderblom et al., 1987). This protein is composed of gp120, the surface subunit, non-covalently attached to the transmembrane subunit gp41, which contains the fusion peptide (Earl, Doms, and Moss, 1990; Freed, Myers, and Risser, 1990). As outlined in Figure 1.2, HIV-1 entry is a multistep process that begins with binding between gp120 and CD4 (Dalgleish et al., 1984; Klatzmann et al., 1984). In addition to tethering the virus to target cells, CD4gp120 binding also triggers conformational changes in Env that create a coreceptor binding site (Sattentau and Moore, 1991). A number of seven-transmembrane G-proteincoupled receptors serve as coreceptors for HIV-1 *in vitro* (Edinger et al., 1998a; Edinger et al., 1998b), but only CCR5 and CXCR4 are thought to play a significant role for infection *in vivo* (Scarlatti et al., 1997). Coreceptor binding is required to complete the conformational changes in Env that lead to membrane fusion (Mkrtchyan et al., 2005; Oravecz, Pall, and Norcross, 1996).

Virus-host membrane fusion is mediated by gp41. Gp41 has a an N-terminal fusion peptide that is inserted into the target cell membrane following receptor binding (Freed, Myers, and Risser, 1990; Gallaher, 1987) and two heptad repeats (HR1 and 2) that fold back on each other following insertion of the fusion peptide (Chan et al., 1997; Weissenhorn et al., 1997). Formation of this 6-helix bundle brings the HIV-1 and target cell membranes into close proximity (Melikyan et al., 2000). The exact mechanisms that



Figure 1.3. Env structure and variability.

The 2D amino acid structure of the R3A Env is pictured with the location of the variable loops denoted (A). Predicted N-linked glycosylation sites are indicated by black dots, and the N-terminal leader sequence is cleaved where indicated. The structure of gp120 is shown without the variable loops (B) or CD4-triggered with the V3 loop (C). (A) The molecular surface of monomeric gp120 core showing the inner domain (left side) and the heavily glycosylated outer domain (right side), which is modeled with complex (light blue) or high-mannose (dark blue) sugars. The location of the variable loops is indicated. Color coding signifies the sequence variability of the indicated residues: red, highly conserved between primate lentiviruses, orange, highly conserved between HIV-1 viruses, yellow, variable between HIV-1 viruses, green, significant variability between HIV-1 viruses. (B) CD4-triggered gp120 structure with V3 loop extended toward the cell surface. The CD4 structure is superimposed showing the orientation of the gp120 trimer towards the host cell membrane. R3A 2D sequence obtained from G. Leslie (U. of Pa.). Gp120 images from *Wyatt, R. et al. Nature 1998* (B), and *Huang, C. et al. Science 2005* (C)

join the viral and cellular lipid bilayers are unknown, but following membrane fusion, the capsid core is released into the cell. Upon viral entry, reverse transcription, nuclear import, integration of viral cDNA, viral gene expression, mRNA export, protein synthesis and virion assembly occur, ultimately leading to the formation of new HIV-1 viruses (Greene and Peterlin, 2002).

The conformational changes that have to occur in gp120 for entry to proceed are directly related to the complex structure of the protein. The surface subunit of Env can be divided based on patterns of genetic diversity between isolates into five conserved regions and five variable regions, V1-V5, which correspond to disulfide bonded loops (Fig. 1.3a) (Starcich et al., 1986). Additionally, gp120 is heavily glycosylated (Leonard et al., 1990). Structural studies of gp120 monomer without its variable loops reveal a core that is divided into an inner and outer domain (Fig. 1.3b) (Chen et al., 2005; Kwong et al., 1998). The more conserved inner domain forms the interacting surface within the trimer, while the glycosylated outer domain is exposed (Kwong et al., 1998). The CD4 binding site and portions of the coreceptor binding region, including the bridging sheet, are non-contiguous on the surface of gp120, and the coreceptor binding domains are also partially concealed by variable loops V1/V2 and V3 (Chen et al., 2005). CD4 binding causes conformational changes, primarily within the inner domain, that result in formation of the bridging sheet and extension of the V3 loop toward the cell surface, ultimately facilitating coreceptor binding (Fig. 1.3c) (Huang et al., 2005; Kwong et al., 1998).

Molecular determinants of coreceptor use

The V3 loop is the most critical determinant of coreceptor use by HIV-1. The V3 loop is typically around 35 amino acids long and its structure consists of a base, stem and tip (Leonard et al., 1990). The tip and stem of V3 are thought to interact with the extra cellular loops of the coreceptor, while the base interacts with the coreceptor N-terminus (Huang et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2005). Studies have shown that only a few mutations within V3 are necessary to alter coreceptor use (de Jong et al., 1992a; Shioda, Levy, and Cheng-Mayer, 1992). The presence of positively charged amino acids at positions 11 and 24 or 25 within the stem of V3 are associated with the ability to use CXCR4 (Cardozo et al., 2007; de Jong et al., 1992a; Fouchier et al., 1992). Moreover, deletion of three amino acids in the stem of V3, Δ 9-12, eliminates CXCR4 use by prototype R5X4 viruses, while deletions within the base of V3 abolish CCR5 use by these strains (Nolan, Jordan, and Hoxie, 2008). Another characteristic frequently associated with CXCR4 use by HIV-1 is a high net positive charge within V3 (Fouchier et al., 1992). Post-translational modifications within V3 can also impact viral coreceptor use; the presence of N-linked glycosylation in the base of V3 has been shown to determine CCR5 versus CXCR4 use for some isolates (Ogert et al., 2001; Pollakis et al., 2001).

The bridging sheet and V1/V2 loops are in close proximity to the coreceptorbinding site, and changes within these regions can also have implications for coreceptor use. Mutations within the bridging sheet can increase sensitivity to CCR5 or CXCR4 antagonists, indicating that this domain contributes to the efficiency of interaction with coreceptor (Reeves et al., 2002). Mutations within V1/V2 also affect how efficiently Env interacts with the coreceptor. Removing either of two N-linked glycans within the V1/V2 domain of DH12, an R5X4 virus, decreased CCR5 and CXCR4-mediated infection (Ogert et al., 2001). Furthermore, replacing the V1/V2 of R5 Envs with the corresponding domains from Envs that use CXCR4 can permit use of this coreceptor (Cho et al., 1998; Pollakis et al., 2001), and the efficiency of CXCR4 use in this context is regulated, in part, by glycosylation within V1/V2 (Pollakis et al., 2001). As critical determinants of coreceptor use, the bridging sheet, V1/V2 and V3 also influence target cell tropism.

Target cell tropism and viral phenotype

HIV-1 entry is a critical aspect of viral pathogenesis and a primary determinant of which cell types are infected by the virus. CD4, CCR5 and CXCR4 are expressed on a number of immune cells including T helper lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells (Bleul et al., 1997; Terhorst et al., 1980; Wood, Warner, and Warnke, 1983; Zaitseva et al., 1997). CD4+ lymphocytes are the primary targets for HIV-1 infection and replication *in vivo* (Massari et al., 1990; Spear et al., 1990), while macrophages are though to be a source of viral replication in numerous tissues (Eilbott et al., 1989; Jeffrey et al., 1991). Although HIV-1 infects monocytes and dendritic cells *in vivo*, infection of these cells is infrequent (Cameron et al., 1992; Spear et al., 1990), and in the case of monocytes, is more common late in disease (McElrath, Pruett, and Cohn, 1989). Maturation-dependent intracellular blocks to HIV-1 replication in dendritic cells and monocytes may explain why a low percentage of these cells are infected *in vivo* (Bakri et al., 2001; Sonza et al., 1996).



Figure 1.4. HIV-1 coreceptor use and target cell tropism.

Target cell tropism is indicated for the particular HIV-1 virus. L-R5, lymph node derived R5 isolates that poorly infect primary macrophages, B-R5, brain derived R5 viruses infect macrophages and lymphocytes; P-X4, primary isolate X4 viruses infect all three cell types; LA-X4, lab-adapted X4 viruses infect primary lymphocytes, and R5X4 viruses infect both primary cell types. Illustration modified from *Collman and Goodenow. Journal of Immunology 2006*

Early characterization of HIV-1 target cell tropism revealed that some viral isolates infected primary CD4+ lymphocytes and lymphocyte cell lines but not macrophages. These isolates were called syncytium-inducing (SI) or T cell (T) tropic isolates because of their ability to induce cell-cell fusion, or syncytia, in CD4+ lymphocyte cell lines (Fig. 1.4). SI isolates grew rapidly *in vitro* and were typically recovered at late stages of infection (Asjo et al., 1986; Tersmette et al., 1988). Another class of HIV-1 isolates was found at earlier stages of disease. These isolates infected CD4+ macrophages and primary lymphocytes, replicated slowly, did not infect CD4+ transformed cell lines (and thus did not induce syncytia in them) and were therefore called non-syncytium-inducing (NSI) or macrophage (M) tropic isolates (Fig. 1.4) (Asjo et al., 1986; Tersmette et al., 1988). Interestingly, M-tropic isolates did not infect T cell lines and most T-tropic isolates replicated poorly in macrophages (Schuitemaker et al., 1991; Schwartz et al., 1989). Following the identification of CCR5 and CXCR4 as coreceptors, it became apparent that differences in target cell tropism for M-tropic and Ttropic isolates were in large part related to target cell expression of CCR5 or CXCR4, respectively, and current classification schemes are now largely based on coreceptor use. R5 viruses use CCR5 for infection and X4 use CXCR4, while R5X4 viruses can infect cells expressing CCR5 or CXCR4 (Berger et al., 1998).

Coreceptor use and viral tropism

The combination of receptor and coreceptors expressed on a cell clearly influences HIV-1 tropism. However, viruses within a strain can vary considerably in the use of CCR5 or CXCR4 when expressed on different cells, which also has an impact on cell tropism and pathogenesis. As mentioned, lab-adapted and primary X4 isolates efficiently infect primary lymphocytes using CXCR4 (Gartner et al., 1986; Tersmette et al., 1988); however, lab-adapted X4 isolates show a reduced ability to use CXCR4 on macrophages when compared to some X4 primary isolates (Fig. 1.4) (Verani et al., 1998; Yi et al., 1999). This difference in tropism results from the inability of lab-adapted X4 viruses to use the low levels of CXCR4 expressed on primary macrophages (Tokunaga et al., 2001), which may be a consequence of prolonged passage on CD4+ cell lines in vitro. There are other examples of physiologically relevant variation in receptor use within a strain. R5 Envs cloned from brain typically infect macrophages more effectively than R5 Envs recovered from peripheral blood and tissue despite similar infection levels on lymphocytes (Fig. 1.4) (Peters et al., 2004; Peters et al., 2006). Furthermore, differences in macrophage tropism between brain-derived R5 viruses have important implications for viral pathogenesis. Neurovirulent R5 HIV-1 from patients with dementia show an even greater capacity to infect macrophages than R5 viruses isolated from brains of patients with no signs of neurological impairment (Gorry et al., 2002a). In both cases, enhanced macrophage tropism is mediated either by increased CCR5 affinity (Gorry et al., 2002a) or by an ability to efficiently utilize low levels of CD4 or CCR5 for infection (Dunfee et al., 2006; Gorry et al., 2002a; Peters et al., 2004).

The relationship between coreceptor use and target cell tropism is quite complex and is unique for each HIV-1 strain. It is critical that we fully understand the variation in coreceptor use by HIV-1 strains and its affects on target cell tropism because of the important role these two factors play in HIV-1 transmission and pathogenesis.

15

Emergence of CXCR4 use: an overview

Longitudinal studies of HIV-1 reveal that R5 isolates predominate during the early and the asymptomatic period of disease (Schuitemaker et al., 1991). However, nearly half of subtype-B infected individuals develop CXCR4-using variants (Spijkerman et al., 1995) (as do a number of people infected with other subtypes, except for subtype C which acquires CXCR4 use infrequently (Abebe et al., 1999; Tscherning et al., 1998)). The emergence of CXCR4-using viruses is associated with accelerated loss of CD4+ lymphocytes and rapid progression to AIDS (Koot et al., 1993). However, it remains unclear whether viruses capable of using CXCR4 arise in response to a weakened immune system, whether these viruses cause the accelerated immune decline associated with their emergence or if both phenomena occur. Unraveling this complex relationship as well as identifying the factors that regulate the emergence of CXCR4 use will help more clearly define the role of viral evolution in disease progression and may have implications for other stages of infection.

Emergence of CXCR4 use: intrinsic mutational barriers

In some cases, as little as two amino acid changes are sufficient to convert a virus from R5 to R5X4 (Kiselyeva et al., 2007; Pastore, Ramos, and Mosier, 2004), yet variants that use CXCR4 arise in only half of infected patients, suggesting barriers to their emergence. Studies of viral evolution *in vitro* and *in vivo* reveal complex mutational pathways from CCR5 to CXCR4 use that are beset with obstacles. In one study, nearly all R5X4 viruses derived *in vitro* replicated more poorly and were more sensitive to CCR5 antagonists than the parental R5 viruses (Pastore, Ramos, and Mosier, 2004). Additionally, when the mutations that accrued were individually reinserted into the parental R5 virus, the mutations within the V3 loop that switched coreceptor use resulted in non-functional viruses. Mutations within the V3 loop only resulted in functional Envs with CXCR4 use when they were preceded by mutations in V1/V2 (Pastore et al., 2006). In a patient followed for years before and after coreceptor switch, there was a reduction in the efficiency of CCR5 use by R5 viruses and rapid divergence, not only within V3, but in the V4/V5 loops as well, prior to the emergence of R5X4 viruses (Coetzer et al., 2008). These studies suggest that mutations within other domains of Env are required prior to or concurrent with the changes in V3 for CXCR4 use to emerge, and this multistep process is a barrier to the acquisition of CXCR4 because it negatively impacts CCR5-mediated entry and frequently results in non-functional Envs.

Emergence of CXCR4 use: immune suppression of CXCR4-using viruses

The difficult mutational pathways that lead to CXCR4 use are an intrinsic obstacle to coreceptor switching. However, the immune response to the virus also appears to impede this process. It has been reported that, following the acquisition of CXCR4 use, X4 viruses are more sensitive to neutralizing antibodies than coexisting R5 viruses (Bunnik et al., 2007). Support for the notion that CXCR4-using viruses are preferentially targeted by the host immune response also comes from acute infection. A few anecdotal cases have suggested that after a brief period of replication, CXCR4-using HIV-1 variants can be selectively suppressed following coinfection with viruses that use CCR5 (Cornelissen et al., 1995; Veenstra et al., 1995). A similar observation was made in a macaque coinfection study in which the R5 SHIV remained detectable while the X4 SHIV became undetectable in some animals coincident with the establishment of a SHIV-specific immune response. Depletion of CD8+ lymphocytes in these animals led to the reemergence of the X4 SHIV to levels similar to those of the R5 SHIV, and the X4 SHIV returned to undetectable levels after the CD8+ lymphocytes rebounded (Harouse et al., 2003). These findings suggest the immune response to HIV-1 suppresses X4 variants and that the loss of immune control may contribute to the emergence of CXCR4-using viruses. On the other hand, recent data suggests that most people who sexually acquire HIV become infected with a single variant, which is usually R5 (although whether X4 viruses are suppressed by local innate immune responses during mucosal replication is unknown) (Keele et al., 2008a).

While it remains unresolved, there is a substantial body of work suggesting that immune decline precedes the emergence of CXCR4 use because the antiviral immune response is more effective against these strains. The transmission and establishment of R5X4 viruses have been associated with poor humoral and cytotoxic cellular immune responses (Dalmau et al., 2009), although, it is not clear whether pronounced immune dysfunction enabled R5X4 infection or whether infection by R5X4 strains precipitated the immune destruction. In this regard, macaque models of coreceptor switch may be informative. The emergence of CXCR4-using SHIVs in macaques infected with CCR5-using viruses occurred in animals with high viral load, poor cellular immune response and undetectable antibody response to the virus (Ho et al., 2007; Ren et al., 2010), suggesting that immune decline precedes the appearance of variants that use CXCR4.

Emergence of CXCR4 use: CCR5+ target cell depletion

Another factor proposed to drive the acquisition of CXCR4 use is target cell depletion. R5 HIV-1 preferentially infects memory lymphocytes, while naïve lymphocytes, which lack CCR5 expression, are rarely targeted by these viruses (Blaak et al., 2000; Rabin et al., 1999). Acquisition of CXCR4 use results in a marked increase in infection of naïve lymphocytes (Blaak et al., 2000; Ostrowski et al., 1999). Preferential infection of CCR5+ memory lymphocytes coupled with expanded targeting of naïve lymphocytes following acquisition of CXCR4 use has lead to the hypothesis that depletion of CCR5+ targets cells creates pressure that selects for viruses with CXCR4 use. CCR5+ target cell depletion and lack of immune control are not mutually exclusive; these factors may act in concert to promote the acquisition of CXCR4 use. One interpretation of the results from the macaque model of coreceptor switch mentioned above is that poor immune control results in high levels of viral replication, increasing the chances of the emergence of mutant viruses that use CXCR4 while creating an environment that would allow greater depletion of CCR5+ target cells.

Conversely, an expansion in target cell tropism coupled with more rapid, cytopathic infection by R5X4 and X4 viruses suggests a viral component to the decline in cell numbers seen when these viruses are present. Infection by viruses that use CCR5 or CXCR4 are equally cytopathic for their target cells *in vitro* (Kwa et al., 2001) and in *ex vivo* lymphoid tissue (Grivel and Margolis, 1999). However, in blood, central and effector memory as well as naïve CD4+ lymphocytes express CXCR4, resulting in much greater lymphocyte depletion following infection with X4 and R5X4 viruses (Grivel and Margolis, 1999; Kwa et al., 2001). On the other hand, in some CD4+ lymphocytes

19

subsets, such as resting memory cells, CXCR4-using viruses are more cytopathic (Zhou et al., 2008), and these variants induce substantially more apoptosis in uninfected bystander cells in lymphoid tissue compared to R5 viruses (Jekle et al., 2003). Animal models also indicate that infection with X4 SHIV is more pathogenic than R5 SHIV infection (Harouse et al., 1999; Nishimura et al., 2004), resulting in rapid depletion of peripheral CD4+ lymphocytes, including naïve cells (Nishimura et al., 2005). Greater infection of naïve lymphocytes likely impairs lymphocyte differentiation and exacerbates immune decline. Although rare, in the instances in which CXCR4-using HIV-1 is transmitted and establishes infection, CD4+ lymphocyte numbers decline rapidly and progression to AIDS is much faster than the time frame following R5 infection (Yu et al., 1998).

HIV-1 coreceptor use and transmission

Heterosexual intercourse is the most common route of HIV-1 transmission, but it is nonetheless a very inefficient process. The probability of HIV-1 transmission from an infected individual is infrequent, ranging from 0.04-0.38% per sex act (Boily et al., 2009). However, HIV-1 transmission through other routes occurs at higher rates; the mother-to-child transmission rate, pre- and intrapartum combined, is approximately 20% (Kourtis et al., 2006). Efforts to understand HIV-1 transmission in different settings have revealed a bottleneck at transmission that is associated with genotypic and phenotypic selection of newly transmitted HIV-1 variants.



Figure 1.5. Selective transmission of R5 HIV-1 from donor to recipient.

Regardless of the composition of the viral quasispecies in the donor, only R5 viruses are transmitted to the recipient. It is unclear what factors impede the transmission of CXCR4 using viruses, or what selectively promotes the transmission of R5 strains. R5 target cell tropism and X4 immune suppression are two possible barriers to transmission of X4 strains, but there are likely others. It is clear that certain features are common in viruses from the recipient, such as the requirement for CCR5 use, which suggests selection targeted at the viral Env.

HIV-1 transmission is associated with a loss in genetic diversity from the donor to the recipient that suggests a selective barrier to transmission. HIV-1 infection is generally associated with high levels of genetic diversity (Hahn et al., 1986; Saag et al., 1988). However, after transmission, viral diversity in the recipient is much lower than in the donor, and this reduced diversity is most evident in the *env* gene (Verhofstede et al., 2003; Wolinsky et al., 1992; Zhu et al., 1993). In fact, in the majority of new sexually transmitted HIV-1 infections the env is completely homogeneous (Abrahams et al., 2009; Keele et al., 2008a). Furthermore, recent studies using PCR amplification and phylogenetic reconstruction of the successfully transmitted virus indicate a single viral variant is usually responsible for seeding infection in the recipient (~80%) with two or more variants responsible for the rest (Abrahams et al., 2009; Keele et al., 2008a).

A number of classic studies suggested that genetic homogenization in the recipient was associated with selection at mucosal transmission that favored M-tropic/NSI isolates with specific exclusion of T-tropic/SI variants. In these studies, viruses from the acute phase of infection were highly M-tropic where as T-tropic variants did not arise until later stages of disease (Schuitemaker et al., 1992; van't Wout et al., 1994; Zhu et al., 1993). The preponderance of M-tropic variants in a recipient during the earliest periods following transmission was seen even when the donor harbored T-tropic variants (van't Wout et al., 1994; Zhu et al., 1993), and a few anecdotal studies indicated that SI variants could be selectively suppressed following transmission (Cornelissen et al., 1995; Pratt et al., 1995). These early studies concluded that the ability to replicate in macrophages is essential for establishing infection in recipients and implied that macrophages are likely a major source of virus replication during acute infection.

22

However, more recent *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies strongly suggest CD4+ lymphocytes are the first cells infected after mucosal transmission (Gupta et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 1999), variants from periods shortly after transmission do not have enhanced macrophage tropism (Isaacman-Beck et al., 2009), and the single, founder virus responsible for establishing infection after transmission actually replicates significantly better in CD4+ lymphocytes than macrophages (Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009).

It remains unclear whether target cell tropism is a factor in the bottleneck between donor and recipient, but it is apparent that selection for R5 variants and exclusion of CXCR4-using viruses occurs during HIV-1 transmission in association with characteristic changes in Env. The V3 domain in Env is a major determinant of target cell tropism, and initial characterization of V3 within Envs from acute infection suggested selection at transmission that leads to a homogeneous population (Hwang et al., 1991; McNearney et al., 1992; Zhang et al., 1993). The discovery of CCR5 as the receptor for M-tropic viruses and the finding that V3 is the principal determinant of coreceptor use provided a genotypic basis for the phenotypic selection observed at transmission (Alkhatib et al., 1996; Choe et al., 1996; Deng et al., 1996; Doranz et al., 1996). Furthermore, the identification of individuals that are protected from HIV-1 infection due to a 32 base pair deletion in the CCR5 gene, which prevents its expression on the cell surface, confirms CCR5 use is required for transmission (Liu et al., 1996; Samson et al., 1996). The requirement for CCR5 at transmission also suggests that V3, the major determinant of coreceptor use, is either a direct or an indirect target of selection during transmission. Additionally selection at transmission may also affect other regions of Env. Envs recovered from the earliest time point after transmission of subtype A or C

HIV-1 have shorter V1/V2 or V1-V4 length, respectively, and reduced N-linked glycosylation (Chohan et al., 2005; Derdeyn et al., 2004) when compared to matched donors. For subtype C, these changes are associated with greater sensitivity to neutralization by donor antibody (Derdeyn et al., 2004). However, these differences in Env appear to be subtype-dependent, since there are no changes in either Env length or the number of N-linked glycosylation sites following transmission of subtype B viruses (Chohan et al., 2005).

Selection for CCR5 use clearly occurs during transmission and is required for HIV-1 to establish infection in a recipient. Preferential immune suppression of CXCR4using viruses may be one mechanism that accounts for this selection, although it remains unclear whether this is the principal means of exclusion or whether CXCR4-using strains are not transmitted for other reasons such as the inability to use CCR5 on a particular cell type.

Transmission, CCR5 use and tropism by R5X4 HIV-1

It is unclear why particular viral strains are the target of selection during transmission, which makes the study of R5X4 viruses intriguing and potentially informative. These viruses can infect indicator cells expressing either coreceptor, yet a dependence on CCR5 or CXCR4 for infection is associated with drastically different outcomes following HIV-1 transmission. R5 strains predominate following viral transmission whereas R5X4 viruses are typically not found during the early or asymptomatic period of infection (van't Wout et al., 1994). If variants that use CXCR4 are selected against, R5X4 viruses may be subject to the same repressive forces that are thought to oppose transmission of X4 viruses. Alternatively, if there is positive selection for CCR5 use, successful transmission of R5X4 viruses may not occur because these viruses uses CCR5 in a different manner than R5 viruses.

Numerous studies suggest that CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses differs from that of R5 viruses. CCR5 is a seven transmembrane protein with an N-terminus (NT) and three extracellular loops (ECLs). The NT of CCR5 is modified by tyrosine sulfation, and removal of sulfation within this domain by mutating tyrosine residues reduces infection by R5X4 viruses more substantially than infection by R5 viruses (Farzan et al., 1999; Rabut et al., 1998). Additionally, deleting amino acids from the NT of CCR5 has a larger impact on infection by R5X4 compared to R5 viruses (Rucker et al., 1996; Yi et al., 2003b). The ECLs of CCR5 are also critical domains for coreceptor function. Mutations within the ECLs cause a greater decrease in CCR5-mediated infection by R5X4 versus R5 viruses (Doranz et al., 1997; Genoud et al., 1999; Yi et al., 2003b). Inhibitors that target this region within CCR5 also have differing effects on R5X4 and R5 viruses. Antibodies with epitopes within the ECLs along with small molecule antagonists that disrupt this domain typically inhibit R5X4 infection more than infection by R5 viruses (Olson et al., 1999; Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). This suggests that, compared to R5 viruses, R5X4 viruses have less efficient interactions with CCR5. However, neither differences in the efficiency of Env-CCR5 interactions between R5X4 strains nor their ramifications for coreceptor use on primary cells have been addressed.

Coreceptor use by HIV-1 is typically determined on cell lines that express CD4 and CCR5 or CXCR4 (Björndal et al., 1997; Deng et al., 1997). While these cell lines

are invaluable tools for studying certain aspects of HIV-1 entry and infection, coreceptors used on these cell lines may not accurately reflect coreceptor use on primary cells (Collman, 1992; Tokunaga et al., 2001). Previous efforts by our lab to define the coreceptors used by a small number of prototype R5X4 HIV-1 on primary cells revealed these viruses can infect CD4+ macrophages using either CCR5 or CXCR4; however, in CD4+ lymphocytes, CXCR4 was the predominate coreceptor used by R5X4 HIV-1 while CCR5-mediated entry made only a marginal contribution to infection. In the same study, R5 viruses readily infected CD4+ lymphocytes suggesting CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses is severely impaired on these cells (Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). It is unclear how widespread the impairment to lymphocyte CCR5 use is for R5X4 viruses, and what factors regulate coreceptor use on primary lymphocytes. Given the selection for CCR5 use during transmission and the fact that CD4+ lymphocytes are likely the earliest cells infected in an HIV-1 recipient, understanding the factors that regulate CCR5 use on lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses may help elucidate why these viruses fail to establish infections following transmission.

Goals of this thesis

The goal of this thesis is to better understand the patterns of coreceptor use by R5X4 HIV-1 and to identify the factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by this virus strain. In chapter 3, I determine the extent of CCR5 use on lymphocytes by a panel of R5X4 HIV-1 viruses and examine the role of CCR5 expression on CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocytes by these viruses. My findings reveal a limited

spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by the R5X4 viruses in this panel that is determined, in part, by low CCR5 expression. Increasing CCR5 levels on CD4+ lymphocytes substantially increased CCR5-mediated entry by all but one virus, 89.6. In chapter 4, I determine the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction based on sensitivity to CCR5 antagonist, CCR5 antibody blocking and infection of a cell line that expresses inducercontrolled levels of CD4 and CCR5. I observed a significant correlation between greater lymphocyte CCR5 use and both resistance to CCR5 blocking and reduced sensitivity to changes in CCR5 expression. My results suggest viruses with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use have more efficient interactions with CCR5, which indicates this interaction is the main determinant of CCR5 use on these cells. In chapter 5, I address the impact of mutations within V3 on the efficiency of Env interaction with CCR5 and coreceptor use by R5X4 HIV-1. My results show mutating an arginine at position 11 within the V3 of 89.6 to a serine increased the efficiency of interaction with CCR5 and changed coreceptor use on CD4+ lymphocytes from preferential CXCR4 use to predominant CCR5-mediated entry. Mutating this position resulted in 89.6 and C2-16 variants with altered use of the CCR5 N-terminus. This indicates that V3, and position 306 in particular, is a principal determinant of Env-CCR5 interactions and CCR5 use for some, but not all, R5X4 viruses. Thus, low CCR5 expression is a major obstacle to CCR5 use on lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses, and the limited lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses is regulated by the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction. For most R5X4 viruses, the interaction is inefficient resulting in poor lymphocyte CCR5 use; however, mutations that increase the efficiency of this interaction can enhance CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocytes.

Chapter II - Materials and Methods

Primary cells and cell lines

CD4+ lymphocytes were isolated by negative selection from whole blood (Stem Cell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada). Purified lymphocytes were maintained at 10⁶ cells/ml in RPMI (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) with 10% FBS (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) and stimulated for 3 days with 5 µg/ml of phytohemagglutinin (PHA; MP Biomedical, Solon, OH) or in 24 well plates coated with 5 µg/ml of anti-CD3 (OKT3; a gift of M. Betts, U. of Pa.) and anti-CD28 (clone 28.2; Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA) antibodies. Cells were then either infected and maintained thereafter in IL-2, or cultured for 10 days in IL-2 (300 U/ml; Proleukin, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland) to upregulate CCR5 prior to infection. 293 Affinofile cells that express CCR5 and CD4 under independent regulation were maintained in DMEM (Thermo Scientific) with 10%FBS, blasticidin, G418, hygromycin and zeocin (Invitrogen) (Johnston et al., 2009; Lassen et al., 2009). 293, U87/CD4, U87/CD4/CXCR4 and U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were obtained from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program (Björndal et al., 1997; Graham et al., 1977). 293 cells were maintained in DMEM with 10% FBS, and the U87 cell lines were maintained in selective media containing 1 µg/ml of puromycin (MP Biomedical, Solon, OH) or 300 µg/ml of G418 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for selection of CD4 or CCR5 and CXCR4 respectively.

HIV-1 Env, CD4 and coreceptor expression vectors

HIV-1 R5X4 prototypes 89.6, DH12, and primary isolate NR Env clones were derived from patients with advanced disease and have been previously described
(Collman et al., 1992; Ray et al., 2007; Shibata et al., 1995). Env clone R3A was derived from an unusual acute seroconverter found to harbor R5X4 variants during acute infection, and it has been described previously (Meissner et al., 2004; Yu et al., 1998). R5X4 variants C2 and DR were obtained from two HIV-infected CCR5-null individuals homozygous for the $\Delta 32$ allele (Gray et al., 2006). The X4 isolate Tybe (from CSF) and R5 strains JRFL (from brain) and Bal (from lung) have also been described previously (Gartner et al., 1986; Koyanagi et al., 1987; Yi et al., 2003a). Prototype 89.6, R3A, JRFL and Tybe Envs along with NR Envs were subcloned into the expression vector pCAGGS (Niwa, Yamamura, and Miyazaki, 1991) using standard methods. The expression vectors used to subclone the remaining vectors have been previously described (Helseth et al., 1990; Kim et al., 2001). 89.6 and C2-16 envelope clones with mutations at position 11 within the V3 loop were generated using a Quick Change XL mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). NR Env clones were a gift from R. Doms (U. of Pa.), R3A was obtained from J. Hoxie (U. of Pa.) and kindly provided by L. Su (UNC-Chapel Hill), and JRFL, DH12 and Bal Env clones were generously provided by M. Cho (Case Western Reserve).

CCR5 N-terminal deletion ($\Delta 2$ -5, $\Delta 2$ -9, and $\Delta 2$ -13) mutant coreceptors were kindly provided by R. Doms and have been previously described (Blanpain et al., 1999). CCR5 N-terminal tyrosine (Y3A, Y10A, Y14A and Y15A) mutant coreceptors were kindly provided by G. Leslie and J. Hoxie (U. of Pa.), and were created using the Quick Change XL mutagenesis kit and sequence specific primers containing the appropriate nucleotide substitutions. Coreceptors with these mutations have been described elsewhere (Dragic et al., 2000; Genoud et al., 1999; Lee et al., 1999a; Siciliano et al., 1999)

Pseudotype virus production

HIV-1 Env luciferase pseudotype viruses were generated by cotransfecting a plasmid that expressed HIV-1 structural proteins (pCMVAP1AenvpA), a plasmid that expressed the packaged luciferase reporter (pHIV-1 luc), and an HIV-1 or VSV-G Env plasmid. Plasmids were cotransfected into 293 cells using Fugene transfection reagent (Roche, Palo Alto, CA) at ratios of 1:3:1 as previously described (Sterjovski et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2004). GFP reporter viruses were created by cotransfection of structural gene plasmid pHp1, GFP reporter plasmid pHRET-GFP, the *tat* expression plasmid pCep4-tat, and a plasmid expressing an HIV-1 or VSV-G Env. Plasmids were cotransfected into 293 cells at a ratio of 10:10:1:10 as previously described (Chang et al., 1999). The CCR5 lentiviral expression vector pNL-CCR5 was created from pNL-CD4 by digestion with NotI and XhoI to remove CD4, and the CCR5 gene was amplified (sense primer 5'-TAG TGC TGT TAA CTT GCT CAA TGC-3' and antisense 5'-GAT CAA GGA TAT CTT GTC TTC-3') and subcloned into the NotI and XhoI sites. CCR5 transduction vectors were produced by cotransfecting pRev, pNL-CCR5 and pVSV-G into 293 cells at a ratio of 1:2:1.

HIV-1 Env pseudotype viruses and lentiviral expression vectors were harvested 48 hours after transfection, clarified by centrifugation at 250xg, then stored in 5% sucrose at -80°C until use. Plasmids pCMVΔP1ΔenvpA (Parolin et al., 1996) and pHIV-1-luc (Yang et al., 2004) were generously provided by J. Sodroski (Harvard University), and pNL-CD4 (Tokunaga et al., 2001) was kindly provided by B. Cullen (Duke University). Plasmid pHRET-GFP (Lin et al., 2002) was provided by P. Corbeau (Hôpital Saint Eloi) and pHp1 and pCep4-tat (Chang et al., 1999) were a gift from J. Zucali (University of Florida) obtained through the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program.

CCR5 over-expression in CD4+ lymphocytes

PHA-stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes were pelleted (250xg at 25°C for 5 minutes) and resuspended at $2x10^6$ cells per ml in media containing 8 µg/ml of Polybrene. Cells were then transduced using 200 µl of CCR5 expression vector pNL-CCR5, spin inoculated for 2 hours as described (O'Doherty, Swiggard, and Malim, 2000), then incubated in the presence of 10 U/ml of IL-2 at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 72 hours. After this period, coreceptor expression was analyzed by FACS and cells were used for infection.

Infection of cell lines and CD4+ lymphocytes

U87 cells were plated in 96 well plates at 1.5×10^4 cells per well one day prior to infection, infected by spin inoculation at 1200xg for 2 hours with HIV-1 pseudotype viruses (5 ng of p24 antigen per virus), and cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for three days. For blocking studies, U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were pretreated for 1 hour and then infected in the presence of 10 µg/ml of CCR5 mAb or serial dilutions of the CCR5 small molecule antagonists. Luciferase activity was measured by lysing cells in PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100, combining cell lysate 1:1 with luciferase assay substrate (Luciferase Assay System; Promega, Madison, WI) and measuring luciferase relative light units (RLUs) using a Dynex technologies microtiter plate luminometer. CCR5 monoclonal antibodies 2D7, 45531 and CTC8 were obtained from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, and mAb MC-1 (Blanpain et al., 2002) was a gift from M. Mack (University of Munich). The CCR5 blocker M657 (Finke, 2000) was a gift from M. Miller (Merck, W. Point, PA), and Maraviroc (Dorr et al., 2005) (Pfizer Inc., New York City, NY) was obtained through the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program.

CCR5 wt and mutant coreceptor use was evaluated in 293 cells by plating cells in 6 well plates at 8×10^5 cells/well 24 hours before transfection. Cells were transfected using Fugene transfection reagent with 1µg of a plasmid that expressed CD4 either alone or in combination with 1µg of plasmid expressing wt or mutant CCR5. Cells were washed twice with media the day after transfection, and 48 hours post transfection, cells were removed with 2mM EDTA in PBS and replated either at 1.5×10^4 cells/well in 96 well plates for infection or at 8×10^5 cells/well in a 6 well plate for FACS. The following day, cells were analyzed for CD4 and coreceptor expression as described below or incubated with AMD3100 (1 µg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for one hour then infected with 5 ng of HIV pseudotypes by spinoculation as previously mentioned. Infection levels were determined after 72 hours by lysing cells and measuring luciferase activity in the cell lysates as detailed for U87 cells.

For infection of primary cells, PHA or CD3/CD28-stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes were added to 96 well plates at $2x10^5$ cells per well. Cells were pretreated for 1 hour with saturating concentrations of CCR5 antagonists M657 (5 µg/ml) or Maraviroc (2 µM), the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (5 µg/ml) or a combination of CCR5 and 33 CXCR4 blockers. Following pretreatment, CD4+ lymphocytes were infected in the presence of the inhibitors using an equal volume or 10 ng of p24 antigen per virus for PHA or CD3/CD28-stimulated cells, respectively. CD4+ lymphocytes were infected by spin inoculation at 1200xg for 2 hours, and then cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in the presence of IL-2 for 3 days. Infection was measured by luciferase activity in the cell lysate as previously described, or by FACS analysis of GFP expression.

Infection of 293 Affinofiles has been described in detail previously (Johnston et al., 2009; Lassen et al., 2009). To briefly summarize, cells were plated at 1.5×10^4 cells per well in 96 well plates in media containing 2% dialyzed FBS. Cell were allowed to adhere for two days, then media was removed and replaced with media containing a fixed concentration of the CD4-inducing reagent Minocycline (0.625 ng/ml) and varying concentrations of the CCR5 inducer Ponasterone (0-2 μ M). After an overnight incubation, cells were pre-treated for at least 1 hour with 1 μ g/ml of AMD3100 to block CXCR4 in media containing 10% dialyzed FBS, then infected by spin inoculation using 1 ng of p24 antigen per luciferase pseudotype virus. Infected cells were cultured for 4 days at 37°C and 5% CO₂, after which luciferase activity was measured as described. FACS analysis of CCR5 and CD4 expression was carried out the day of infection on cells that were plated in 6 well plates and maintained in an identical manner.

FACS analysis of CD4, CCR5, CXCR4 and GFP expression

CD4+ lymphocytes were pelleted (250xg for 5 minutes), washed with FACS buffer (PBS containing 1% fetal bovine serum and 0.1% NaN₃), resuspended in 50 µl of

FACS buffer and stained with 1 μl of mAbs to CD4 (clone RPAT-4- Fluorescein isothiocyanate [FITC]-conjugated), CCR5 (clone 2D7-phycoerythrin [PE]-conjugated), and CXCR4 (clone 12G-PE-Cy5-conjugated) (all from BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). Fluorescence minus one controls as well as cells stained with single antibodies were carried out in parallel. Cells were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 30 minutes then washed and resuspended in FACS buffer at 10⁶ cells per ml. Cells were analyzed by a FACS Calibur flow cytometer (BD) using Cell Quest (BD) and FloJo software (Tree Star Inc, Ashland, OR).

To determine the expression of CD4 and wt or mutant CCR5 on transfected 293 cells, cells were detached by incubation for 10 minutes in PBS containing 2mM EDTA, pelleted, washed in FACS buffer then stained with CD4 FITC, CCR5 PE (clone 2D7) and CCR5 (clone 3A9-Allophycocyanin [APC]-conjugated) as mentioned. Cells stained with single antibodies were carried out in parallel, and fluorescence was measured and analyzed as described. For CD4 and CCR5 quantification on 293 Affinofiles, cells were detached as previously mentioned then stained with the CCR5 PE mAb or with CD4 PE mAb (clone S3.5-Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) as described. Fluorescence was measured and analyzed by FACS as described, and CD4 and CCR5 binding sites were quantified using FloJo Software by comparing the average mean fluorescence intensity of stained cells to a standard curve created using PE-labeled beads with four distinct, defined quantities of fluorophores (QuantiBrite Beads, BD) as described (Davis et al., 1998). For detection of GFP expression after CD4+ T cell infection by HIV-1 pseudotypes, cells were washed and resuspended in FACS buffer as described 3 days post-infection and

analyzed for GFP fluorescence using the FACS Calibur flow cytometer and FloJo software.

Statistical analysis and PSSM matrix scoring

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 4 software. The EC50 values for M657 and Maraviroc were determined using a sigmoidal dose response equation. Correlations were derived by linear regression analysis, and correlation coefficients and p-values were determined using a 2-tailed Pearson test.

The predicted viral phenotype of R5X4 Envs used in this study was determined using the position-specific scoring matrix (PSSM) program (http://indra.mullins.microbiol.washington.edu/webpssm/). The PSSM algorithm compares amino acids at each position within the V3 of submitted envelopes to the corresponding residues from a database of Envs experimentally analyzed for coreceptor use (R5/X4 matrix) or viral isolates tested for T cell line syncytium-inducing capacity (SI/NSI matrix) as previously described *(Jensen et al., 2003)*. Chapter III - Identification of the cellular factors that regulate CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1

Introduction

Pathogenesis by R5X4 viruses is linked to CXCR4 use in several models. Infection and depletion of lymphocytes in human lymphoid tissue infected *ex vivo* by R5X4 HIV-1 is completely blocked by the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (Glushakova et al., 1999; Malkevitch et al., 2001). Moreover, infection of rhesus macaques with SIV/HIV (SHIV) chimeras carrying R5X4 envelopes induces a disease course similar to infection with X4 HIV-1 in humans (Nishimura et al., 2005; Nishimura et al., 2004). In light of these findings, our lab attempted to define the coreceptors used on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 *in vitro* using prototype viruses. Although infection was quite robust on untreated lymphocytes, we were surprised to see almost no CCR5mediated infection of lymphocytes by prototype R5X4 viruses when CXCR4 was blocked. Yet, R5 viruses used lymphocyte CCR5 for entry under the same conditions, showing that R5X4 HIV-1 was severely impaired in the use of an otherwise functional coreceptor. Conversely, when CCR5 was blocked, infection was not affected, indicating that R5X4 HIV-1 entry into CD4+ lymphocytes occurred almost exclusively through CXCR4 (Yi et al., 1999; Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). In contrast to those data, other studies have suggested that lymphocyte CCR5 can be used by some R5X4 strains (Ghezzi et al., 2001; Gray et al., 2006).

Thus, while CCR5 appears to be the secondary entry pathway into CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1, it is unclear whether R5X4 viruses vary in their CCR5 use and if entry mediated by this coreceptor can substantially contribute to T cell infection. CCR5 expression is one factor that might regulate coreceptor use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1. CCR5 is expressed at low density on a small percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes, and low levels of receptor expression in other cell types has been associated with cell type-specific restriction of infection. Macrophages are poorly infected by many lab-adapted X4 strains, but increasing CXCR4 expression increases macrophage susceptibility to infection by these viruses (Tokunaga et al., 2001). Furthermore, studies focused on coreceptor use by viruses from different tissues revealed that M-tropic R5 Envs were uncommon in blood, semen and lymph nodes. Interestingly, these Envs were able to mediate infection of CD4+ lymphocytes at levels similar to M-tropic R5 Envs recovered from brain. The lack of M-tropism by peripheral R5 Envs was associated with an inability to infect cells expressing low levels of CD4 and CCR5 (Peters et al., 2004; Peters et al., 2006).

In this chapter, I examine the diversity among R5X4 HIV-1 in the extent to which CCR5 can be used for infection of lymphocytes, and identify factors that regulate coreceptor use by these viruses on CD4+ lymphocytes. To do this, I assembled a diverse panel of R5X4 envelope clones, determined the extent to which CCR5 contributed to infection of CD4+ lymphocytes by pseudotyped luciferase reporter viruses, and examined the effect of increasing CCR5 expression on lymphocyte coreceptor use. My findings show a limited range of lymphocyte CCR5 use among the R5X4 viruses with some viruses exhibiting extremely poor use of this coreceptor. Regardless of CCR5 use, CXCR4 remained the predominant coreceptor used by all viral clones. I also found that increasing CCR5 expression on lymphocytes could markedly enhance entry mediated by this coreceptor for most (but not all) R5X4 viruses. Thus, low CCR5 expression on

CD4+ lymphocytes is responsible for limiting and, in some cases, restricting CCR5mediated infection of T cells by R5X4 HIV-1 isolates.

Results

A spectrum of restricted CCR5-mediated entry into CD4+ lymphocytes exists among R5X4 viruses

In order to examine the diversity in primary cell coreceptor utilization among R5X4 HIV-1 and facilitate the identification of factors that influence primary cell coreceptor use, we assembled a panel of diverse R5X4 env clones derived from divergent sources. Luciferase reporter viruses were generated that carried primary isolate R5X4 HIV-1 envelope clones from three different infected individuals (DR, C2, NR), using several individual Envs from within each swarm (Gorry et al., 2002b; Gray et al., 2006; Ray et al., 2007). We also studied three widely used prototype R5X4 clones (89.6, DH12 and R3A) which are also primary isolate-derived (Collman et al., 1992; Meissner et al., 2004; Shibata et al., 1995), along with control R5 and X4 Envs Bal and Tybe, respectively (Hwang et al., 1991; Yi et al., 2003a). Of note, 89.6, DH12 and NR envs were derived from late-stage AIDS patients (Collman et al., 1992; Ray et al., 2007; Shibata et al., 1995), which is the most common situation in which these variants are seen. R3A was an unusual R5X4 isolate in that is was obtained at the time of seroconversion from an individual infected via intravenous drug use who exhibited rapid disease progression (Meissner et al., 2004; Yu et al., 1998), whereas C2 and DR were isolated from two CCR5-null individuals (Gray et al., 2006). Dual CCR5 and CXCR4



Figure 3.1. Coreceptor use on U87 indicator cells by HIV-1 pseudotype viruses.

U87 indicator cells expressing only CD4, CD4 and CCR5, or CD4 and CXCR4 were infected with HIV-1 luciferase reporter viruses pseudotyped with primary isolate envelopes (C2, DR, NR), prototype R5X4 envelopes (89.6, DH12 or R3A), R5 (Bal or JRFL) or X4 envelopes (Tybe) as controls. Three days later, infection levels were determined by measuring luciferase activity in cell lysates. The results are expressed in relative light units (RLUs) and represent means +/- standard error (SEM) for two experiments performed in triplicate.



Figure 3.2. CXCR4 is the principal coreceptor on PHA/IL-2 stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes for R5X4 HIV-1 primary and prototype strains.

CD4+ T cells were stimulated with PHA for 3 days then treated for 1 hour before infection with or without the CXCR4 blocker AMD3100 (5μ g/ml; "CCR5 pathway"), CCR5 blocker M657 (5μ M; "CXCR4 pathway") or both ("neither pathway"). Cells were then infected with HIV-1 luciferase reporter viruses in the continued presence of coreceptor blockers and maintained with IL-2 (10 U/ml). Four days post infection, viral entry was determined by luciferase activity in cell lysates. Results shown for each virus are presented in RLUs (A) and as a percentage of the RLUs seen in the absence of coreceptor blockers (B). Data are means +/- SEM of three experiments using lymphocytes from different donors, each done in duplicate.

use for each virus was confirmed by infecting U87 cells that expressed CD4 and either CCR5 or CXCR4 (Fig. 3.1).

In order to determine coreceptor use by these viruses on primary lymphocytes, CD4+ T cells were infected in the absence or presence of CCR5 or CXCR4 antagonists M657 and AMD3100, respectively (Fig. 3.2). As expected, Bal was completely inhibited by the CCR5 antagonist M657 and Tybe by the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100. When CD4+ lymphocytes were infected with R5X4 pseudotypes, a different pattern was evident. All R5X4 strains were markedly inhibited by CXCR4 blockade, whereas CCR5 blocking had no detectable effect. For all R5X4 strains, however, the addition of M657 to AMD3100 further reduced entry levels (Fig. 3.2a). These results indicate that all R5X4 viruses tested entered CD4+ lymphocytes through both CXCR4 and CCR5, but that infection through CCR5 was markedly less than that through CXCR4, and played little, if any, additional role when both coreceptors were available.

To quantitate the relative contribution of each coreceptor to infection of CD4+ lymphocytes, the luciferase levels in the presence of coreceptor antagonists were normalized to the total infection capacity for each virus in untreated cells (Fig. 3.2b). Blocking CCR5 alone had no inhibitory effect on infection for any of the viruses. However, CXCR4 blocking, when compared to dual coreceptor blocking, revealed CCR5-mediated infection that ranged from ≤10% for the three prototype strains and two of the DR primary isolate Envs, to 50% of untreated levels for the C2-16 primary isolate Env. Thus, CXCR4 is the predominant coreceptor used by R5X4 viruses to infect CD4+ lymphocytes. However, some entry can be mediated by CCR5, and that proportion varies between isolates indicating a spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use.

43



Figure 3.3. CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 infection mediated by CCR5.

CD4+ lymphocytes were CD3/CD28 costimulated for three days and then infected with HIV-1 luciferase pseudotype viruses (A) or cultured with IL-2 for 10 additional days to upregulate CCR5 expression prior to infection (B). Infections were carried out with or without AMD3100, M657 or both antagonists to block CXCR4 and/or CCR5. Four days later, infection was determined by luciferase activity in cell lysates. Entry was normalized as a percentage of the RLUs seen in the absence of coreceptor blockers for each virus. Data are means +/- SEM of three experiments using lymphocytes from different donors, each done in duplicate.

CCR5 upregulation on CD4+ lymphocytes increases the proportion of R5X4 HIV-1 entry mediated by CCR5

These data indicate that CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocytes by many R5X4 HIV-1 is restricted (Fig. 3.2), yet all viruses in question can use this coreceptor to readily infect indicator cells such as U87 CD4/CCR5 cells (Fig. 3.1). CCR5 on indicator cells is typically over-expressed, however, while peripheral blood lymphocytes express CCR5 at low density and on a minority of cells (Lee et al., 1999b; Wu et al., 1997). We therefore sought to test whether low levels of CCR5 expression were an obstacle to efficient CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses, and how CCR5 expression levels regulated pathway-specific R5X4 lymphocyte entry. To address the role of CCR5 expression, CD4+ lymphocytes were infected with HIV-1 luciferase pseudotype viruses immediately after 3 days of CD3/CD28 costimulation, or after 10 additional days of culture with 300 U/ml of IL-2, which has been shown to upregulate lymphocyte CCR5 (Creson et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2001). Infections were performed in the presence or absence of CCR5 and CXCR4 antagonists to determine proportional use of each entry pathway. Coreceptor expression as determined by surface staining indicated that few CD4+ lymphocytes were CCR5+, whereas 20-40% had detectable CCR5 after prolonged culture. In addition to the increase in percentage of cells within the CCR5+ gate, the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of cells within the CCR5 gate increased as well (approximately 2-fold). In contrast, the percentage of cells expressing CXCR4 decreased to a modest degree but remained higher after culture with IL-2 (50-70%).

As shown in Fig. 3.3a, CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1 was restricted in day 3 CD3/CD28-stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes, with CXCR4 being the predominant pathway used for entry. However, there was a modest spectrum of CCR5 use similar to that seen in PHA-stimulated lymphocytes (Fig. 3.2). In contrast, CCR5 upregulation following 10 days of IL-2 stimulation dramatically increased the proportion of infection mediated by CCR5 for most R5X4 viruses tested, with the exception of 89.6, which remained nearly completely CXCR4 dependent (Fig. 3.3b).

Nevertheless, for those viruses that did increase the proportion of entry mediated by CCR5, CXCR4 remained the predominant coreceptor used for infection of day 13 CD4+ lymphocytes by most R5X4 strains. Exceptions to this coreceptor usage pattern were seen in the two C2 Envs (C2-16 and C2-22) for which CCR5 consistently mediated an equal or greater proportion of entry than did CXCR4 on CCR5-upregulated CD4+ T cells (Fig. 3.3b). VSV-G pseudotypes, used as a control, showed no change in luciferase expression from day 3 to day 13 cells (data not shown).

The percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected through each coreceptor is modulated following CCR5 upregulation

In addition to total infection levels within the cultures, we also aimed to define the contribution of each pathway to infection of individual CD4+ T lymphocytes following CCR5 upregulation. CD4+ lymphocytes were cultured for 3 or 13 days as described above to establish standard or high CCR5 expression conditions, respectively, and then infected with HIV-1 Env pseudotype virions carrying a GFP reporter gene. Infection-

mediated GFP expression therefore enabled per-cell analysis of infection based on GFP expression as determined by FACS. As with luciferase infection, addition of both CCR5 and CXCR4 antagonists completely blocked GFP expression (data not shown).

As shown in Fig. 3.4a, CCR5-mediated entry into day 3 CD4+ lymphocytes resulted in a low percentage of GFP-positive infected cells. This value ranged from barely detectable (DH12) to ~5% (C2-16 and the R5 Env JRFL). While this result is concordant with the low percentage of cells positive for CCR5 expression by FACS, it was interesting to note that the fraction of GFP+ cells for C2-16 and JRFL often exceeded the proportion that were CCR5+ by FACS. Entry by these viruses was clearly mediated by CCR5, however, since infection was blocked by M657 or Maraviroc (data not shown). This finding indicates that susceptibility to infection by efficient CCR5using Envs can be a more sensitive indicator of CCR5 expression than immunostaining, and thus, these isolates can use CCR5 at levels that are below the threshold of detection by FACS. Furthermore, the fact that some strains can exploit CCR5 to infect what appear to be CCR5-negative CD4+ T cells by FACS indicates that, following upregulation, the apparent increases in percentage of CCR5+ cells also reflects increased CCR5 expression levels by cells that are initially CCR5+ but at a level below the threshold detectable by flow cytometry.

When CCR5 was upregulated on CD4+ lymphocytes by prolonged culture in IL-2 (Fig. 3.4a, right), the percentage of GFP+ cells infected through CCR5 increased dramatically for the R5 isolate JRFL. Similarly, the percentage of GFP+ cells infected through CCR5 also increased for R5X4 viruses following CCR5 upregulation, although these percentages remained less than that for JRFL. Infection with VSV-G pseudotypes,



Figure 3.4. Stimulation-dependent changes in coreceptor expression affect the percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes infected via each pathway.

CD4+ lymphocytes were infected with HIV-1 GFP pseudotype viruses after 3 days of CD3/CD28 costimulation or following an additional 10 days of culture with IL-2 to upregulate CCR5. Cells were incubated with coreceptor antagonists for 1 hour prior to and throughout the infection to define the pathway of entry. CCR5 and CXCR4 expression were analyzed by FACS on the day of infection, and four days later, infected cells were determined by FACS analysis for GFP expression. Data indicate the percentage of GFP+ cells infected through CCR5 (A) or CXCR4 (B) at day 3 and day 13 after isolation, and are representative of three independent experiments using cells from different donors. The percentage of cells expressing CCR5 (A) and CXCR4 (B) at the time of infection is indicated by an asterisk (*).

used as a control for possible effects independent of coreceptor-mediated entry, showed no change in infection ($54\pm6\%$ GFP+ on day 3 cells and $44\pm8\%$ on day 13 cells; data not shown). Thus, both R5X4 and R5 Envs are highly dependent on CCR5 expression levels, although R5 JRFL is more efficient at exploiting limiting levels than R5X4 Envs (Fig. 3.4a).

In contrast to CCR5, CXCR4 levels typically decreased somewhat from day 3 to day 13, and this was associated with a modest decrease in the percentage of cells infected via CXCR4 for the R5X4 viruses tested, as well as the X4 strain Tybe (Fig. 3.4b).

Coreceptor-dependent R5X4 entry following lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression

Although 10 days in culture with IL-2 upregulated CCR5 levels and modulated coreceptor utilization, we considered the possibility that the extended period *in vitro* could also effect other factors that impact infection, despite the lack of changes in VSV-G pseudotype infection. For that reason, we used a second approach to upregulate CCR5. CD4+ lymphocytes were transduced after 3 days of PHA stimulation with a lentiviral vector expressing CCR5 or a mutated version of the coreceptor that is not expressed on the cell surface. CCR5 levels on transduced cells were measured by FACS, and cells were infected with prototype R5X4 Env luciferase viruses in the presence or absence of AMD3100. Transduction with the CCR5 vector increased the proportion of CCR5+ cells to 18-70% of CD4+ lymphocytes compared with 1-19% of cells transduced with a control vector (Fig. 3.5), and the MFI of CCR5+ increased as well (fold increase of 2.9 \pm 0.9; data not shown). CCR5 over-expression led to a marked increase in entry

mediated by CCR5 for R5X4 pseudotypes R3A and DH12 compared to control vectortransduced cells (Fig. 3.5). In contrast, entry mediated by CCR5 increased only marginally for strain 89.6. CCR5 transduction had no impact on the MFI of CD4 or CXCR4 expression and did not impact infection by the X4 virus Tybe (data not shown). Results from the lentiviral vector CCR5 over-expression studies are similar to those following stimulation-induced upregulation (Fig. 3.3), supporting the notion that entry as measured here reflects changes in coreceptor expression and not other features of the cell condition that might modulate infection.



Figure 3.5. Lentiviral over-expression of CCR5 increases the proportion of R5X4 entry mediated by CCR5 on CD4+ lymphocytes.

CD4+ lymphocytes were stimulated with PHA for 3 days, transduced with either control or CCR5expressing lentiviruses, and maintained in the presence of IL-2. Two days post-transduction, cells were pretreated for 1 hour with CXCR4 blocker AMD3100 and infected with HIV-1 luciferase pseudotypes in the continued presence of blocker. Infection was determined by luciferase activity in cell lysates four days later. The results are shown as the proportion of CD4+ lymphocyte infection mediated through CCR5 for R3A (A), DH12 (B) and 89.6 (C) on the Y-axis, plotted against the percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes that express CCR5 after transduction with a control or CCR5 expression vectors. Data are from three independent experiments using cells from different donors.

Conclusions

Coreceptor use and target cell tropism are important determinants of HIV-1 transmission and pathogenesis. In previous studies of primary cell tropism and coreceptor use by prototype R5X4 HIV-1 strains, we found that these viruses could use CCR5 and CXCR4 to infect macrophages, but in CD4+ lymphocytes, CXCR4 was the predominant entry pathway while CCR5 was used poorly, if at all. Here I sought to determine, employing a variety of dual-tropic isolates from disparate sources, whether R5X4 strains vary in their ability to use CCR5 on lymphocytes, and what factors were responsible for determining use of this pathway.

My findings reveal limited CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ T cells by the R5X4 strains tested, which did not substantially contribute to overall infection levels when CXCR4 was available. However, a spectrum existed among the R5X4 variants in the extent to which lymphocyte CCR5 could be used if CXCR4 was not available. Notably, while one R5X4 virus could reach CCR5-mediated infection levels approaching half that of untreated cells, R5X4 strains with marginal CCR5 use ($\leq 10\%$ of total entry) were more common. CCR5 is expressed at low levels on CD4+ lymphocytes. My results show that increasing CCR5 expression increased CCR5 use on CD4+ T cells by nearly all viruses, including R5X4 strains that were among the most restricted in the use of this coreceptor. However, 89.6 remained unable to use lymphocyte CCR5 even after increasing CCR5 expression on these cells. Thus, we conclude that CCR5 expression on CD4+ lymphocytes is an important regulator of the use of this coreceptor by many R5X4 viruses, but that other obstacles to lymphocyte CCR5 use may exist.

Even for R5X4 viruses with relatively greater lymphocyte CCR5 use, blocking this pathway had no impact on CD4+ T cell infection, as entry through CXCR4 alone was equivalent to infection when both coreceptors were available. CXCR4 is expressed on the majority of peripheral blood CD4+ lymphocytes, whereas CCR5 is expressed on a smaller subset of cells (Lee et al., 1999b; Ostrowski et al., 1998; van Rij et al., 2000; Wu et al., 1997). Most cells that are CCR5+ also express CXCR4; so blocking CCR5 may have little net effect on infection because entry can still occur through CXCR4. Conversely, since many CXCR4+ lymphocytes do not express CCR5, entry in the presence of CXCR4 blockers should be representative of the subset of cells that express CCR5. As demonstrated by my findings following CCR5 upregulation, increasing the subset of cells that express this coreceptor contributes to the increased proportion of infection mediated by CCR5.

If CCR5 use was determined solely by the percentage of lymphocytes that express this coreceptor, then CCR5-mediated infection should be equivalent for all R5X4 variants (and should be equivalent to infection by R5 variants), yet that was not observed. CCR5 use on lymphocytes varied among the R5X4 viruses, and this variation appeared to be related to the efficiency of interaction with CCR5. The percentage of lymphocytes infected using CCR5 by C2-16, the R5X4 strain with the greatest CCR5 use, were higher than the percentage of CCR5+ cells measured by FACS suggesting this virus can detect CCR5 better than some CCR5 specific antibodies. Furthermore, the two R5X4 strains with the greatest CCR5 use at endogenous levels were also the only viruses that showed a shift in preferential coreceptor use to CCR5 after upregulation of this coreceptor. This implies the R5X4 envs differ in the efficiency of interaction with CCR5 and the increased

53

CCR5 density following CCR5 over-expression was a critical factor in the increased CCR5-mediated infection of lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses. It is not clear from this study if CCR5 density or the percentage of CCR5+ cells plays a larger role in regulating use of this coreceptor on lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses.

The pattern of strain-dependent differences in the ability to use CCR5 on lymphocytes also strongly suggests a role for Env in regulating use of this coreceptor on lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses. Although CCR5 use by most of the viruses with extremely poor use of this coreceptor could be improved by increasing CCR5 expression, this was not the case for 89.6. Regardless of the method or magnitude of CCR5 overexpression, the virus remained extremely dependent on CXCR4 for infection. The nature of restricted CCR5 use by this virus is unclear, but results following CCR5 upregulation indicate CCR5 levels alone are not responsible for impaired lymphocyte CCR5 use by the 89.6 Env.

In summary, this study confirms with a panel of primary and prototype R5X4 HIV-1 variants that these strains are highly skewed towards CXCR4 use for entry into CD4+ T cells. However, there does exist a range among the isolates in the relative ability to use CCR5 on primary lymphocytes. CCR5 use by nearly all R5X4 viruses could be improved by CCR5 over-expression in lymphocytes, and this was sufficient to eliminate the barrier to CCR5 use for most, albeit not all, of the R5X4 isolates. These results indicate low lymphocyte CCR5 expression is a factor in the restriction to R5X4 entry through this pathway, although additional obstacles to primary cell coreceptor use exist. Better understanding of the viral and cellular factors that control coreceptor use by HIV-1 strains is critical to understanding the impact of viral evolution on target cell tropism.

54

Chapter IV - Efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction determines the spectrum of CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1

Introduction

HIV-1 Envs can differ in the ability to fuse viral and cellular membranes, and this variation in entry efficiency can lead to differences in infectivity and pathogenicity between viral strains. Longitudinal studies of HIV-1 infected patients that harbor only R5 viruses show that isolates from advanced stages of disease replicate to higher titers and are more cytopathic than isolates recovered during the asymptomatic phase of infection. Subsequent experiments using chimeric viruses indicated that greater infectivity of late R5 isolates was Env-dependent (Olivieri et al., 2007; Repits et al., 2005). Animal models of HIV-1 infection also suggest links between entry efficiency and pathogenesis. In vivo passage of SHIV-1 89.6 in rhesus macaques resulted in a variant that aggressively depleted CD4+ lymphocytes and caused much more rapid disease progression than infection with the parental virus (Karlsson et al., 1997). The difference in pathogenicity between these variants was associated with higher levels of replication on rhesus PBMCs and greater ability to induce syncytia by the passage virus. In these studies, the phenotypic differences between the parental and passaged SHIV-1 were dependent on the viral Env (Karlsson et al., 1998).

Env-coreceptor interactions and receptor density both influence entry efficiency. Changes in entry efficiency that result from differences in coreceptor binding or coreceptor expression level can impact sensitivity to entry inhibitors. Indeed, mutations that increase coreceptor binding and elevate CCR5 expression are both associated with reduced sensitivity to entry inhibitors and faster rates of Env-dependent membrane fusion (Heredia et al., 2007; Reeves et al., 2002). One study reported R5 Envs with lower CCR5 affinity require higher CCR5 levels for infection (Gorry et al., 2002a). This observation implies that these two factors have an interdependent affect on viral entry, and it suggests that increased coreceptor expression may enhance entry for viruses with inefficient Env-coreceptor interactions.

R5X4 viruses are more sensitive to CCR5 antagonists than R5 viruses (Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005), and in chapter 3, I presented results that showed restricted lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 variants could be rescued by increasing CCR5 expression. These results imply that R5X4 viruses have inefficient interactions with CCR5, and these interactions contribute to impaired lymphocyte CCR5 use by some R5X4 viruses. I also observed a spectrum of CCR5 use by R5X4 strains on CD4+ T cells at endogenous CCR5 levels. Differences in the Env-CCR5 interaction between R5X4 strains may also account for the range of lymphocyte CCR5 use seen among the viruses in this group.

Therefore, in this chapter I examine the efficiency of the R5X4 HIV-1 Env interaction with CCR5, and determine whether differences in this interaction influence lymphocyte CCR5 use by these viruses. To do this, I measured the sensitivity of each R5X4 virus to entry inhibition by antibodies, CCR5 antagonists and the fusion inhibitor T20. Overall, my results show that R5X4 strains differed in their sensitivity to these agents. Furthermore, I discovered a significant correlation between greater CCR5 use on lymphocytes and increased resistance to inhibition by antibodies or antagonists; however, there was no relationship between lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses and sensitivity to T20. I also assessed the impact of CCR5 density on infection by various R5X4 strains using Affinofile cells that allow inducible regulation of CCR5 expression. I found that

57

R5X4 strains with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use were less affected by declining CCR5 levels. I also observed a significant positive correlation between the ability to exploit low levels of CCR5 on the Affinofile cells and CCR5 use on lymphocytes. My results indicate that the Env-CCR5 interactions regulate CCR5-mediated infection of lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1, and strain-dependent differences in this interaction are responsible for the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by the R5X4 virus panel.

Results

Resistance to inhibition by ECL2-specific CCR5 mAbs correlates with the capacity of R5X4 HIV-1 to use CCR5 for lymphocyte infection

Previous studies comparing CCR5 use by R5 and R5X4 Envs have suggested that R5X4 Envs: i) appear to have a lower affinity for CCR5, ii) are generally more sensitive to inhibition by CCR5 antagonists, and iii) are more affected by changes in the structure of CCR5 (Cormier et al., 2000; Doranz et al., 1997; Lu et al., 1997; Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005; Yi et al., 2003b). Since R5 strains by definition use CCR5 efficiently for lymphocyte entry, our finding that R5X4 strains vary in their capacity to infect primary lymphocytes through CCR5 raised the possibility that these strains might also vary in their interaction with CCR5.

To examine the relationship between Env-coreceptor interactions and lymphocyte CCR5 use, we took advantage of CCR5-specific mAbs with well-characterized target epitopes (Fig. 4.1) (Blanpain et al., 2002; Lee et al., 1999a). U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were infected in the presence or absence of mAbs that target epitopes in the amino terminus (N-terminal), the second extracellular loop (ECL2) or multiple domains (MD) of CCR5, and entry inhibition was determined by normalizing infection levels to those of untreated cells. As shown in Fig. 4.2, both mAbs that targeted CCR5 ECL2 (45531 and MC-1) inhibited entry by the R5X4 viruses. Infection levels were reduced 15-70% by mAb 45531 and 30-90% by MC-1. Treatment with 2D7, another ECL2-directed mAb, completely inhibited infection by all viruses, even at four-fold lower concentrations (data not shown). Importantly, R5X4 Envs that were better able to use lymphocyte CCR5 for



Figure 4.1. Antibody epitopes on CCR5.

The antibody binding sites for CCR5 antibodies CTC8 (red), 2D7 (blue), MC-1 (green) and 45531 (purple) are shown within shaded squares. The epitope for multi-domain antibody 45523 is discontinuous and is not shown.



Figure 4.2. CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes correlates with resistance to inhibition by ECL2 mAbs.

U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were treated for 1 hour with or without 10 μ g/ml of CCR5-specific mAbs then infected with HIV-1 luciferase pseudotype viruses in the continued presence of mAb. Three days later, infection was determined by luciferase activity in cell lysates and normalized to luciferase activity in untreated cells. Each symbol represents an individual R5X4 virus, and results are presented as the proportion of total lymphocyte entry mediated by CCR5 (from Fig. 3.2b) on the X-axis versus the U87/CD4/CCR5 infection that occurred in the presence of CCR5 mAbs (A) on the Y-axis. Data are means for three experiments each carried out in duplicate.

entry were blocked less efficiently than those viruses that used the pathway poorly, as shown by the significant correlation between lymphocyte CCR5 use and infection in the presence of ECL2-directed mAbs 45531 and MC-1 (Fig. 4.2). In contrast to the ECL2-targeted antibodies, multidomain and N-terminal antibodies (45523 and CTC8, respectively) had a marginal or no effect on entry (Fig. 4.2).

Sensitivity to CCR5 antagonists but not a fusion inhibitor correlates with lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1

We then turned to small molecule CCR5 antagonists, which are frequently used as probes to assess Env-coreceptor interactions. Sensitivity to CCR5 blockers M657 and Maraviroc was determined by infecting U87/CD4/CCR5 cells in the presence of increasing concentrations of inhibitor. Infection by all viruses was extinguished at the highest concentrations of each antagonist (data not shown), but there was variation in sensitivity to both M657 and Maraviroc, exemplified by differences in antagonist EC50 values among the R5X4 Envs (Fig. 4.3). M657 and Maraviroc EC50 values were lower for R5X4 Envs with poor lymphocyte CCR5 use, compared to Envs such as C2-16 that are better able to use this coreceptor. Similar to inhibition by ECL2-directed CCR5 mAbs, M657 and Maraviroc EC50 values correlated with lymphocyte CCR5 use (Fig. 4.3). Concordant mAb and antagonist results show a link between lymphocyte CCR5 use and sensitivity to blocking among R5X4 HIV-1, and suggest that the variation in CCR5mediated infection of lymphocytes results at least in part from differences among these strains in the efficiency of interactions with the coreceptor.



Figure 4.3. CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes correlates with resistance to inhibition by CCR5 antagonists but not T20.

U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were treated for 1 hour with or without increasing concentrations of M657 or Maraviroc then infected with HIV-1 luciferase pseudotype viruses in the continued presence inhibitor. For experiments with T20 increasing concentrations of the drug were added with virus at the time of infection. Three days later, infection was determined by luciferase activity in cell lysates and normalized to luciferase activity in untreated cells. Each symbol represents an individual R5X4 virus, and results are presented as the proportion of total lymphocyte entry mediated by CCR5 (from Figure 3.2b) on the X-axis versus the entry inhibitor EC50 value on the Y-axis. Data are means for three experiments each carried out in duplicate.

The fusion inhibitor T20 binds to the HR1 region of gp41 and prevents the conformational changes that lead to membrane fusion. To determine whether R5X4 viruses differ in sensitivity to T20, U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were infected with HIV-1 in the presence of increasing concentrations of drug. Infection by all viruses was inhibited at the highest concentration of T20 (data not shown). While there was a range of T20 EC50 values that were similar for most viruses, DR-17 was substantially less sensitive to the drug with an EC50 value that was over two logs higher than the median EC50 value of the group (data not shown). Consequently, this virus was excluded from subsequent analysis. Unlike the CCR5 antagonists, viruses with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use were not less sensitive to inhibition by T20, and there was no correlation between T20 EC50 value and CCR5 use on lymphocytes by R5X4 viruses (Fig. 4.3). Thus, differences in the efficiency of fusion do not appear to impact lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses.

Greater lymphocyte CCR5 use is associated with reduced sensitivity to CCR5 density for infection of Affinofile cells

Increasing CCR5 expression on CD4+ lymphocytes increased the proportion of infection mediated by CCR5 for R5X4 viruses, suggesting inefficient use of endogenous CCR5 might be linked to sensitivity to coreceptor expression levels. To further address the interplay between CCR5 expression and R5X4 infection, we used 293 Affinofile cells (Fig. 4.4), a cell line in which expression of CD4 and CCR5 can be regulated precisely and independently by Minocycline and Ponasterone, respectively (Johnston et al., 2009; Lassen et al., 2009). The number of CD4 and CCR5 antibody binding sites (ABS) per cell can be determined for each inducer combination using quantitative FACS analysis.



Figure 4.4. Inducible CD4 and CCR5 Affinofile expression system.

Affinofile cells were created by transfecting 293 cells with plasmids expressing CD4 and CCR5 along with separate plasmids expressing inducible transcription factors that are responsive to minocycline and ponasterone. Addition of increasing concentrations of minocycline or ponasterone increases CD4 or CCR5 expression, respectively (A). Addition of different combinations of each inducer allows independent regulation of CD4 or CCR5 levels, which can be quantitated by FACS (B). Figure courtesy of *Johnston, S. et al. J. Viro. 2010*
Induction of Affinofile cells resulted in CD4 expression levels that ranged from 3,000 to 200,000 ABS per cell and CCR5 levels from 1,000 to 50,000 ABS per cell. Importantly, these levels encompass the physiologically relevant range of CD4 and CCR5 levels reported on stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes of 65,000-100,000 and 500-7,000 molecules per cell, respectively (Lee et al., 1999b). Therefore, we chose to examine the sensitivity of R5X4 HIV-1 infection to CCR5 expression levels in Affinofile indicator cells by analyzing the effect of physiologically relevant CD4 expression levels (~83,000 molecules/cell). Cells were maintained with a stable concentration of CD4 inducer and different concentrations of CCR5 inducer, and infected with luciferase pseudotype viruses at the same time that receptor expression levels were confirmed by FACS. Luciferase levels produced at each CCR5 density were normalized to luciferase activity in cells with the highest density of CCR5.

As shown in Fig. 4.5a, at a stable level of CD4 expression, luciferase virus infection was reduced for all R5X4 viruses as CCR5 density decreased. However, there were marked differences in the response to declining CCR5 levels. R5X4 Envs C2-16 and NR10 were least affected by declining CCR5 expression, showing 60 to 80% of maximal infection even at the lowest CCR5 density. A second group of R5X4 viruses, R3A, DR17 and DH12, were more impaired by low CCR5 expression, achieving 35-45% of maximal infection at the lowest CCR5 expression level tested. 89.6 was the R5X4 virus most affected by decreasing CCR5 expression, at the lowest density of CCR5 expression reaching only 25% of its maximal level of infection (Fig. 4.5a). Thus, R5X4 HIV-1 display a spectrum in their ability to use diminishing levels of CCR5 on Affinofile cells in the presence of physiologically relevant CD4 levels.



Figure 4.5. Efficiency of CCR5 use on Affinofile cells correlates with CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1.

Affinofile cells were induced to express a fixed level of CD4 (83,000 antibody binding sites (ABS)/cell) and varying levels of CCR5, then infected with HIV-1 luciferase pseudotypes in the presence of AMD3100 to block endogenous CXCR4. Infection was quantified 4 days later by luciferase activity in cell lysates. The results are shown as the luciferase levels at each CCR5 density normalized to infection levels on cells expressing the maximum density of CCR5 (A). The relationship between normalized infection of Affinofile cells expressing the lowest density of CCR5 and the proportion of total CD4+ lymphocyte infection that is mediated by CCR5 (from Fig. 3.2b) for each R5X4 Env pseudotype is also shown (B).

Ability to use CCR5 on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 correlates with the use of low levels of CCR5 on 293 Affinofile cells

We then asked if there was an association between R5X4 use of lymphocyte CCR5 and entry into Affinofile cells expressing CCR5 at the lowest density (Fig. 4.5a). Overall, there was a strong correlation for R5X4 HIV-1 between the proportion of CD4+ lymphocyte entry mediated by CCR5 and the ability to infect Affinofile cells expressing diminishing levels of CCR5 (Fig. 4.5b). C2-16 and NR-10 used CCR5 on lymphocytes more efficiently than other R5X4 viruses and were least sensitive to decreasing levels of CCR5 on the Affinofile cells. Lymphocyte CCR5 use was lowest for 89.6 and infection of Affinofile cells was most impaired by decreasing CCR5 levels for this virus. DR17, R3A and DH12 showed an intermediate phenotype in both lymphocyte CCR5 use and infection of Affinofile cells expressing low levels of CCR5. These results confirm that there is biological heterogeneity among R5X4 HIV-1, and suggest that strains with marginal CCR5 use on lymphocytes are unable to effectively scavenge for CCR5 when it is expressed at low density.

Conclusions

Entry efficiency, which is dependent on Env-coreceptor interactions and coreceptor density on target cells, is an important determinant of replication capacity and pathogenesis. Previous work from our lab showed that R5X4 viruses were more sensitive to CCR5 antagonists than R5 viruses, and in chapter 3, I described how increasing CCR5 expression on CD4+ lymphocytes enhanced CCR5 use by viruses with poor use of this coreceptor. Thus, previous reports combined with my recent findings suggested inefficient Env-CCR5 interactions may be one mechanism that regulates lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains.

In this chapter, I determined the relationship between the efficiency of CCR5 use by R5X4 strains and lymphocyte CCR5 use. Using sensitivity to entry blocking agents as a surrogate marker for the efficiency of CCR5 use, I found that R5X4 viruses were markedly inhibited by CCR5 antibodies with ECL2 epitopes but not by other CCR5 antibodies, and resistance to inhibition correlated with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use. In addition, I found a significant correlation between greater lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains and resistance to inhibition by CCR5 antagonists, but not the fusion inhibitor T20. I also employed Affinofile cells with regulated levels of CD4 and CCR5 to examine the impact of CCR5 expression on infection by R5X4 strains. I discovered that decreasing CCR5 expression had the largest impact on infection by viruses that used lymphocyte CCR5 poorly, in that strains with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use could better exploit low levels of CCR5 on these cells. From these results, I conclude that the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1 is determined by the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction.

CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 is relatively small in comparison to infection mediated by CXCR4 when that coreceptor is available, but the levels of lymphocyte CCR5 use vary among the R5X4 strains. The results outlined here indicate the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction differs between viruses and is a principal determinant of the ability to use this coreceptor. Specifically, viruses with more efficient Env-coreceptor interactions are able to use low levels of CCR5 more efficiently, suggesting that these viruses require a lower threshold of CCR5 to facilitate membrane fusion. The density of CCR5 expressed on individual CD4+ lymphocytes varies (Reynes et al., 2000), and these findings indicate that R5X4 strains with a lower CCR5 density threshold can reach higher levels of infection by infecting lymphocytes that express minimal levels of CCR5. Thus, the percentage of CCR5+ CD4+ lymphocytes determines the potential levels of CCR5 use, but actual CCR5 use by an R5X4 variant is determined by how efficiently its Env interacts with the coreceptor.

The results of this study show that CCR5 mAbs with epitopes in ECL2 inhibit R5X4 infection, and the extent of this inhibition is associated with the ability to use CCR5 on lymphocytes. This suggests the efficiency of interaction with ECL2 contributes to determining lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains. On the other hand, it is also possible that these mAbs are affecting interactions with other CCR5 domains, since inhibition by an antibody is not always dependent on competition for the epitope. For example 2D7 effectively blocks CCR5 use by R5 and R5X4 strains, yet in two studies, mutation of the CCR5 2D7 binding site had no impact on CCR5 use (Rabut et al., 1998;

Siciliano et al., 1999), indicating the 2D7 epitope itself is not required for infection by HIV-1. It has been proposed that 2D7 inhibits HIV-1 infection by blocking access to critical residues in the transmembrane core of CCR5 (Siciliano et al., 1999). The results presented in this chapter do appear to show a relationship between the proximity of an antibody epitope to the CCR5 core and the ability of that antibody to inhibit infection, although only a limited number of antibodies were used. Thus, these findings suggest the interactions with the ECLs, or possibly other residues near this region, make a significant contribution to regulating the efficiency of CCR5 use.

It is interesting that sensitivity to CCR5 antagonists correlated with lymphocyte CCR5 use but not sensitivity to the fusion inhibitor T20. CCR5 antagonists are allosteric inhibitors that are thought to prevent HIV-1 infection by binding within the pocket created by the extra cellular loops and altering the conformation of the coreceptor (Dragic et al., 2000). T20 is a steric inhibitor that binds to HR1 in gp41 and prevents formation of the 6-helix bundle that is required for membrane fusion (Rimsky, Shugars, and Matthews, 1998; Wild, Greenwell, and Matthews, 1993). Mutations in the coreceptor binding site that reduce Env binding invariably increase sensitivity to coreceptor antagonists, but the same mutations do not always have a similar effect on T20 sensitivity (Biscone et al., 2006; Reeves et al., 2002; Reeves et al., 2004). From these relationships, it appears that efficiency of the Env-coreceptor interaction may not be inextricably linked to the efficiency of the subsequent conformational changes in gp41. This also implies that sensitivity to coreceptor antagonists measures the efficiency of a single step in the fusion process. In light of that possibility, my findings suggest that Envs with more

efficient interactions with CCR5 likely have a higher affinity for the coreceptor, although this would have to determined by measuring affinity for CCR5.

The findings in this study indicate that R5X4 strains vary in the efficiency of interaction with CCR5, and the variation in Env-CCR5 interaction efficiency impacts coreceptor use on primary lymphocytes. Specifically, R5X4 HIV-1 with more efficient Env-CCR5 interactions infect CD4+ lymphocytes using CCR5 at much higher levels than viruses with inefficient interactions with the coreceptor. I also discovered that this variation in Env-CCR5 interaction may be, at least in part, determined by interactions with ECLs or residues proximal to this region, based on sensitivity to ECL2 antibodies and coreceptor antagonists.

Notably, 89.6, the virus with the least efficient interactions with CCR5, is also the virus that failed to respond to increased CCR5 expression on CD4+ lymphocytes in chapter 1. The barrier to CCR5 use by this strain and the factors in Env that regulate primary cell coreceptor usage and preference have not been identified, but this field necessitates further study if we are to fully understand pathogenesis by R5X4 HIV-1.

Chapter V - Molecular determinants within Env that regulate coreceptor use on CD4+ lymphocytes

Introduction

The spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by the R5X4 viruses studied here is dependent on the efficiency of the Env-coreceptor interaction, and variation in this interaction is Env-dependent. Although many domains in Env influence interactions with coreceptor, the V3 domain is the primary determinant of coreceptor use, and it is thought to directly interact with the coreceptor (Choe et al., 1996; Cormier and Dragic, 2002; Cormier et al., 2000). The V3 domain is also a critical determinant of viral phenotype. In CXCR4/CD4+ T cell lines, X4 and R5X4 viruses are able to induce syncytia (SI variants) while R5 strains are nonsyncytium inducing (NSI) in these cells (Björndal et al., 1997). This phenotypic difference between strains is based on coreceptor use and is largely determined by the V3 domain (Björndal et al., 1997; de Jong et al., 1992b). Comparative analysis of the V3 sequence of HIV-1 viruses with distinct phenotypes has led to the identification of features within this domain that are linked to use of CCR5 or CXCR4. As outlined in chapter 1, a high net positive charge and the presence of positively charged amino acids at positions 11 and 24 or 25 (positions 306 and 319 or 320) using HXB2 Env numbering) are well-known features associated with CXCR4 use by HIV-1 (Cardozo et al., 2007; Fouchier et al., 1992; Milich, Margolin, and Swanstrom, 1993). Several position specific scoring matrices (PSSM) have been developed to predict coreceptor use from V3 sequences based on large databases of viruses characterized as R5 vs X4 (X4/R5 PSSM) or NSI vs SI (SI/NSI PSSM) (Jensen et al., 2003). The presence of these specific features within V3 and the related PSSM algorithm distinguish X4 from R5 viruses with reasonably high although imperfect accuracy; however, the V3

of R5X4 strains are more varied and do not always conform to this paradigm. Presently, it is unclear how variability in V3 relates to coreceptor use by R5X4 viruses, particularly on primary CD4+ lymphocytes.

The spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains includes variants with marginal use of this coreceptor, such as 89.6. Unlike the other R5X4 viruses in this category, increased CCR5 expression on CD4+ lymphocytes did not enhance CCR5 use by 89.6, and severely impaired lymphocyte CCR5 use by this virus correlated with inefficient interactions with CCR5 by a number of different measures. These findings together suggest restricted CCR5 use by 89.6 is dependent on the viral Env. Determinants within the 89.6 Env that impact coreceptor use have been identified in V3. Deletions on either side of the 89.6 Env V3 base abrogate CCR5 use, while deleting a section of stem that contains residue 306 abolished CXCR4 use by this virus (Nolan, Jordan, and Hoxie, 2008). Another study attempted to derive variants of 89.6 resistant to CXCR4 inhibitors on cell lines expressing both coreceptors and identified a change from arginine to serine at position 306 that conferred resistance through enhanced CCR5 use (Maeda, Yusa, and Harada, 2008). A recent study of other R5X4 viruses also suggests a role for amino acid 306 in modulating coreceptor use. The efficiency of CCR5 and CXCR4 use on primary cells for brain versus blood or spleen-derived R5X4 envelopes was linked to the presence of a serine or arginine, respectively, at position 306 in V3 (Gray et al., 2009). Thus, residue 306 within Env appears to be a critical determinant of coreceptor use for 89.6 and for other R5X4 viruses, but it is not known whether the amino acid at this position contributes to restricted lymphocyte CCR5 use by 89.6 or the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by the other R5X4 viruses.

The goals of this chapter are to assess whether elements in V3 regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses, and to identify determinants in the 89.6 Env that are responsible for the severely impaired lymphocyte CCR5 use by this virus. To do this, the viral phenotype of each R5X4 virus was predicted using a V3-based position-specific scoring matrices (PSSM)-algorithm, and the relationship between predicted phenotype and lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses was evaluated. Eventhough all strains tested were R5X4 in indicator cells, I found that those with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use were predicted to be NSI viruses, while viruses with poor lymphocyte CCR5 use were predicted to be SI viruses. To determine the factors within the 89.6 Env that regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use, I mutated R306 in 89.6 to serine (89.6 R306S). In addition, the role of this residue in regulating coreceptor use by other R5X4 viruses was assessed by mutating the same residue in C2-16, the R5X4 Env with greatest lymphocyte CCR5 use, from serine to arginine (C2-16 S306R). I found that an arginine at this position was associated with increased sensitivity to CCR5 blocking agents for both 89.6 and C2-16. Moreover, viruses with an arginine at residue 306 were more dependent on the Nterminus of CCR5 for infection. My results also show the presence of a serine at position 306 dramatically enhanced CCR5 mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocytes by 89.6, and switched coreceptor preference from CXCR4 to CCR5 on these cells. However, arginine at this position had no impact on lymphocyte coreceptor use by C2-16. Thus, the amino acid at position 306 regulates interactions with CCR5 for 89.6 and C2-16; it also regulates coreceptor use on primary lymphocytes by 89.6.

Results

Relationship between V3 sequences and CD4+ lymphocyte coreceptor preference

The V3 region is a major determinant of coreceptor use, and position-specific scoring matrix (PSSM) algorithms based on variations in this domain are frequently used to predict viral phenotype. Two widely used algorithms are based on viruses phenotyped by syncytia induction in CXCR4/CD4+ cell lines (SI/NSI PSSM) or on coreceptor use in indicator cells (X4/R5 PSSM), which are highly related although not completely concordant features (Jensen et al., 2003). However, such algorithms are typically less able to identify dual-tropic R5X4 than single coreceptor R5 and X4 variants. More importantly, while used for indicator cell coreceptor use prediction, they have not been applied to selective use of coreceptors on primary cells. Therefore, we applied the PSSM algorithms to V3 sequences from Envs in our panel to determine whether primary CD4+ T cell coreceptor usage among R5X4 HIV-1 might be associated with sequences in V3 (Fig. 5.1a). Strikingly, we found that prediction of an NSI phenotype based on V3 sequence was associated with significantly more efficient use of lymphocyte CCR5 (Fig. 5.1a & b). Conversely, R5X4 viruses with more restricted entry through lymphocyte CCR5 were predicted to be SI. Thus, while unable to identify these R5X4 strains as a group, the SI/NSI algorithm appears to discriminate among R5X4 strains and predict relative efficiency of lymphocyte CCR5 use based on V3 determinants. In contrast, there was no link between primary lymphocyte coreceptor usage and predicted coreceptor phenotype based on V3 sequences using the X4/R5 coreceptor prediction algorithm.

1	٨
r	٦

Strain	V3 sequence	CD4+ PBL %CCR5 use	V3 Net Charge	PSSM SI/ NSI	PSSM X4/R5
Bal	CTRPNNNTRK S IHIGPGRALYTT GE IIGDIRQAHC	100	3	0	0
C2-16	TMVY	52	3	0	0
C2-22	TMVY	39	3	0	0
NR10	ASF.A R	39	5	0	0
NR 8	ASF.A R	35	5	0	0
NR11	ASF.A R	26	5	0	0
DH1 2	VFVK	12	4	1	0
R3A	G R VTLVYQK	11	5	1	1
DR 1	.IMTLKVF V TK	15	5	1	0
DR17	.IMTLKVF V TK	8	5	1	0
DR 8	.IMTLKVF V TK	4	5	1	0
89.6		4	7	1	1





Figure 5.1. R5X4 HIV-1 CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes is associated with the predicted viral phenotype.

V3 sequences from each virus were analyzed using the NSI/SI or X4/R5 PSSM algorithm. The table shows an alignment of V3 sequence from R5X4 HIV-1. Amino acids 11 (306) and 24/25 (319/320) are denoted in bold. The coreceptor use on primary lymphocytes for each R5X4 virus is shown (from Fig. 3.2). Predicted phenotypes are denoted by number with 1=SI or X4 and 0=NSI or R5 (A). Mean CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 grouped by predicted viral phenotype. R5X4 viruses were grouped by SI or NSI phenotype from (A) with CCR5 use for each virus represented by black circles. The mean lymphocyte CCR5 use for each group was calculated, and the means were compared using a two-tailed, unpaired t-test in GraphPad Prism 4 software (***p<0.0001) (B).

Interestingly, most of these R5X4 Envs were predicted to be R5 by the X4/R5 PSSM matrix, which differed from the SI/NSI algorithm results. Thus, while the V3-based PSSM is an incomplete predictor of coreceptor use for R5X4 strains, it does appear to predict the relative coreceptor preference on lymphocytes suggesting an important role of V3 in regulating coreceptor interactions.

A high net positive charge and positively charged amino acids at position 306 and 319/320 of V3 are typically associated with CXCR4 use, whereas R5 strains typically lack these determinants. R5X4 strains can use CXCR4, but these viruses often lack many of the features common in the V3 of X4 strains. However, variability in V3, including the presence or absence of hallmarks of CXCR4 use, may be associated with coreceptor use on primary lymphocytes by R5X4 strains. To assess this, the V3 net charge, as well as the identity of the amino acids at positions 306 and 319/320, were evaluated to determine if they were linked to CCR5 use on CD4+ T cells by the R5X4 viruses (Fig. 5.1a). This analysis revealed most of R5X4 strains in this panel have V3 charges that are only slightly higher than the R5 strain, Bal. Positively charged amino acids were uncommon at residues 306 or 319/320, and there was no consistent connection between positive charges at these positions and lymphocyte CCR5 use by the R5X4 viruses. Interestingly, while the spectrum of CCR5 use could not be defined by the residues at 306 and 319/320 or the V3 net charge, the viruses on both extremes of the CCR5-use spectrum did adhere to these rules. C2-16 and C2-22, the viruses with the greatest CCR5 use on lymphocytes, had net positive charges equal to Bal, and these viruses did not have basic residues at either V3 stem position. Alternatively, 89.6, which had the poorest use





Figure 5.2. The amino acid at position 306 in Env does not affect coreceptor use on U87 cells by 89.6 or C2-16.

The amino acids of envelope V3 regions of 89.6 and C2-16 are shown, along with the 89.6 R306S and C2-16 S306R mutations, which correspond to position 11 of the V3 domain (A). U87/CD4, U87/CD4/CCR5 and U87/CD4/CXCR4 were infected with wild-type and mutant 89.6 and C2-16 luciferase pseudotype viruses. The results are presented as the RLUs measured from cell lysates 3 days after infection (B).

of lymphocyte CCR5, had a much higher V3 charge than any other R5X4 strain, and it was the only clone with basic amino acids at both positions 306 and 319 in this study. This result also suggests that elements within V3 contribute to regulation of coreceptor use by R5X4 viruses on lymphocytes.

R306 is associated with increased sensitivity to inhibition by 2D7 and Maraviroc and less efficient interactions with CCR5

While CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by R5X4 envelopes was bolstered by increasing CCR5 expression, this measure had little effect on lymphocyte CCR5 use by 89.6. Therefore, for this virus, we wished to address the Env side of the Env-CCR5 interaction by determining if specific changes within V3 might alter the efficiency of CCR5 use and affect lymphocyte entry. I speculated that the amino acid at position 306 within Env might be involved in determining the efficiency of 89.6 Env-CCR5 interaction, since several studies have shown that this residue can influence coreceptor use for 89.6 and other R5X4 strains (Gray et al., 2009; Maeda, Yusa, and Harada, 2008; Nolan, Jordan, and Hoxie, 2008). To test this notion, R306 in 89.6 was mutated to serine (89.6 R306S; Fig. 5.2a). In contrast to 89.6, the R5X4 Env with greatest lymphocyte CCR5 use, C2-16, has a serine at position 11 in V3. Therefore, we also mutated the serine at this position in C2-16 to arginine in order to assess the converse effect (C2-16 S306R) (Fig. 5.2a). Both Envs remained R5X4 in U87/CD4/coreceptor cells (Fig. 5.2b). Sensitivity to CCR5 antagonists and mAbs are one method used to probe Env-coreceptor interactions, so I employed these inhibitors to determine whether mutations at residue 306 within the 89.6 and C2-16 V3 domains had an effect on interactions with CCR5.

81



Figure 5.3. Residue R306 in Env is associated with less efficient interactions with CCR5.

U87/CD4/CCR5 cells were not treated or pretreated with increasing concentrations of Maraviroc (A) or 2D7 (B), then infected with wt and mutant 89.6 and C2-16 in the continued presence of blocker. Results are presented as the luciferase activity in the presence of drug normalized to luciferase activity in the cell lysate of untreated cells. Affinofile cells expressing a fixed level of CD4 and differing levels of CCR5 were infected with wild-type and mutant 89.6 and C2-16 luciferase pseudotype viruses. The results are shown as the luciferase levels at each CCR5 density normalized to infection levels on cells expressing the maximum density of CCR5 (C).

Infection of U87 cells by wt and mutant 89.6 and C2-16 was inhibited at the highest Maraviroc concentrations (Fig. 5.3a). As seen in earlier studies, wt 89.6 was substantially more sensitive to inhibition by Maraviroc than wt C2-16, which required approximately one log higher concentration of the drug to completely inhibit entry. The R306S mutation in 89.6 resulted in a decrease in sensitivity to Maraviroc, while the S306R mutation in C2-16 increased sensitivity to this CCR5 antagonist (Fig. 5.3a). Infection of U87 cells in the presence of mAb 2D7 resulted in a similar inhibition pattern, with wt 89.6 and C2-16 being the most and least sensitive to inhibition by the mAb, respectively (Fig. 5.3b). The 89.6 mutant R306S showed reduced sensitivity to 2D7 compared to wt 89.6, and the reciprocal S306R mutation in C2-16 lead to increased 2D7 sensitivity for this virus relative to wt C2-16. These findings suggest that the residue at position 306 in Env modulates Env-CCR5 interactions. In particular, the presence of arginine at residue 306 decreases the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction while serine at this position enhances interaction.

The changes in sensitivity to CCR5 blockers caused by mutations at position 306 suggested that the identity of the amino acid at this position could also impact how efficiently viruses used CCR5 to infect target cells. To address this question, we infected 293 Affinofiles expressing a fixed level of CD4 and varying levels of CCR5 to test the effect of the Env mutations on the efficiency of CCR5 use in that system. As noted in chapter 4, infection by 89.6 decreased markedly as CCR5 density on Affinofiles dropped from maximal to minimal levels. Replacing the arginine at position 306 with serine resulted in a two-fold enhancement of entry at the lowest CCR5 levels, reaching a relative entry efficiency comparable to that for C2-16 (Fig. 5.3c). In contrast, the C2-16

83

S306R mutation had some effect on entry efficiency at intermediate CCR5 levels, but not at the lowest CCR5 density; which most closely mimics those on primary CD4+ lymphocytes (Fig. 5.3c).

Impaired CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by 89.6 is reversed by the R306S mutation within the V3 region

Since residue 306 modulates the efficiency of CCR5 use, it might also regulate the ability or inability of 89.6 to use CCR5 on lymphocytes. This question was addressed by evaluating coreceptor use on primary CD4+ T cells by wild type and mutant 89.6 and C2-16. As shown in Fig. 5.4a, the R306S mutation dramatically enhanced use of lymphocyte CCR5 for 89.6. In addition, the R306S change also decreased CXCR4 mediated infection for the 89.6 mutant. Importantly, this dramatic shift in lymphocyte coreceptor use occurred eventhough the mutant virus, like parental 89.6, remained R5X4 in indicator cells (Fig. 5.2b), albeit with some increase in relative CCR5 use associated with the mutation. In fact, 89.6 R306S showed a preference for CCR5 use on lymphocytes, in contrast to wild type 89.6, which was essentially restricted to CXCR4 for entry into these cells (Fig. 5.4b). Unlike 89.6, CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes by strain C2-16 was not affected by the converse S306R mutation (Fig. 5.4a & b).

Thus, replacing the positively charged arginine with serine at residue 306 in the 89.6 Env increased the efficiency of CCR5 use, and resulted in preferential infection of CD4+ lymphocytes through CCR5, reversing its otherwise strict dependence on CXCR4



Figure 5.4. Residue 306 in Env regulates CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes for 89.6 but not C2-16.

PHA stimulated CD4+ lymphocytes were infected with wild-type and mutant 89.6 and C2-16 luciferase pseudotype viruses in the presence or absence of AMD3100, Maraviroc or a combination of both inhibitors. The results are representative of the average of three experiments on cells from different donors each performed in duplicate. The results are presented as the RLUs measured from cell lysates 4 days after infection (A) or the RLUs for each treatment condition normalized to infection of untreated cells (B).

in those cells. However, the amino acid at this position is not a critical determinant for all R5X4 viruses, since converting serine to arginine at that residue did not notably impact the efficiency of CCR5 use or coreceptor preference on primary lymphocytes by the C2-16 Env, indicating that other context-dependent factors are involved as well.

Residue R306 increases Env dependence on the CCR5 amino terminus

Residue R306 is located in the stem of the V3 loop. This region of the V3 loop is thought to interact with the CCR5 ECLs, and mutations or deletions at this site in other Envs has been associated with changes in interaction with this coreceptor (Cormier and Dragic, 2002; Gray et al., 2009; Nolan et al., 2009). To determine how mutations at position 306 in Env impact interactions with CCR5, wt and mutant 89.6 and C2-16, along with the R5 virus JRFL, were used to infect 293 cells that expressed CD4 and wt CCR5 or versions of this coreceptor containing deletions of the N-terminus. All coreceptors were expressed at similar levels on the cell surface based on staining using the ECL2 mAb 2D7 (data not shown).

As shown in figure 5.5, infection by wt 89.6 was substantially reduced on cells expressing CCR5 that lacked four N-terminal residues ($\Delta 2$ -5), and deletion of eight amino acids from this domain ($\Delta 2$ -9) completely abolished infection by this virus. Conversely, infection of cells expressing $\Delta 2$ -5 by 89.6 R306S was two fold greater than infection by wt virus, and unlike wt 89.6, the mutant virus used $\Delta 2$ -9 to infect 293 cells (Fig. 5.5a). For C2-16, the $\Delta 2$ -5 deletion had minimal effect on infection by wt or mutant virus, and neither virus efficiently used $\Delta 2$ -13 for infection. However, infection of cells



Figure 5.5. Envs with R306 are more dependent on the N-terminus of CCR5 for infection.

293 cells expressing CD4 and mutant CCR5 with either N-terminal deletions (A) or N-terminal Y to A substitutions (B). Following transfection, cells were infected with 5ng of wt and mutant 89.6 and C2-16 luciferase pseudotypes. Results are shown as the luciferase activity in cell lysates from cells expressing mutant coreceptor normalized to infection of 293 cell expressing wt CCR5 after 3 days in culture. Results are representative of two infections each performed in triplicate.

expressing $\Delta 2$ -9 by wt and mutant C2-16 revealed stark differences in how these viruses are affected by changes in the CCR5 N-terminus. While infection of cells expressing $\Delta 2$ -9 by wt C2-16 was only 10% lower than infection using wt CCR5, the S306R conversion resulted in a virus incapable of using this mutant coreceptor (Fig. 5.5a). Unlike the R5X4 viruses, JRFL was able to use all three truncated coreceptors for infection (Fig. 5.5a). Thus, the identity of the residue at position 306 in Env is associated with different requirements for the CCR5 N-terminus. Viruses with arginine at this position are more dependent on the N-terminus of CCR5 for infection, and serine at this position is associated with the ability to use CCR5 despite truncation of this domain.

There are four tyrosines in the N-terminus of CCR5, and these tyrosines can be sulfated (Farzan et al., 1999). Tyrosine sulfation at residues 10, 14 and 15 in the CCR5 N-terminus are thought to be critical for gp120 binding and HIV-1 infection (Cormier et al., 2000; Farzan et al., 1998; Farzan et al., 1999; Rabut et al., 1998). Since the residue at position 306 regulates dependence on the N-terminus of CCR5, I thought it might also regulate dependence on the tyrosines in this domain. Therefore, I sought to determine whether altering the tyrosines in the CCR5 N-terminus had a larger impact on infection by wt or mutant Env clones of 89.6 and C2-16, and if an arginine or a serine at position 306 was associated with increased sensitivity to tyrosine mutation. This was done by infecting 293 cells that expressed CD4 and wt CCR5 or CCR5 mutants in which an individual tyrosine is mutated to alanine. All coreceptors were expressed at similar levels on the cell surface based on staining using the ECL2 mAb 2D7 (data not shown).

As shown in Fig 5.5b, infection by 89.6 on cells expressing the Y3A coreceptor was less than half that mediated by wild-type CCR5, and infection of cells expressing the

three other mutant coreceptors only approached 10% of wt levels (Fig. 5.5b). In contrast, the 89.6 mutant carrying the R306S change was less affected by tyrosine mutation, consistently reaching infection levels on each mutant at least 20% higher than infection by wt virus, and use of the Y10A coreceptor was five fold greater for 89.6 R306S compared to 89.6 (Fig. 5.5b). In contrast to 89.6, C2-16 was only modestly affected by the individual tyrosine mutations, whereas changing serine to arginine (C2-16 S306R) resulted in a virus with markedly reduced use of the Y14A and Y15A coreceptors, and that was also less able to use the Y10A coreceptor. Interestingly, CCR5-mediated infection by JRFL was only slightly affected by any of these individual tyrosine mutations, which was similar to C2-16 and markedly different from 89.6 (Fig. 5.5). Thus, the presence of arginine at position 306 is associated with increased dependence on tyrosine residues in the N-terminus of CCR5, while serine at this position results in less dependence on these residues.

Conclusions

CCR5 use on CD4+ lymphocytes varies among the R5X4 strains, but it is generally low, and includes one virus, 89.6, that is almost completely unable to use lymphocyte CCR5 even after CCR5 expression is increased on these cells. The V3 domain in Env is a principal determinant of coreceptor use and interacts directly with the coreceptor. In this chapter, I sought to determine the contribution of V3 to the spectrum of CCR5 use by R5X4 strains.

Using a PSSM algorithm, I found that viruses with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use were predicted to have an NSI phenotype while viruses that used this coreceptor poorly were classified as SI viruses. Comparative analysis of V3 revealed that viruses at the extremes of the lymphocyte CCR5 use spectrum, C2-16 and 89.6, could clearly be distinguished by the absence or presence, respectively, of common hallmarks of CXCR4 use, including the charge of the residue at position 306 in Env. I mutated the amino acid at this position in 89.6 (R306S) and C2-16 (S306R) to determine its role in controlling CCR5 use by these viruses. My findings show that the R306S change in 89.6 dramatically enhanced lymphocyte CCR5 use and changed coreceptor preference on these cells from CXCR4 to CCR5. However, the reciprocal mutation had no affect on lymphocyte coreceptor use by C2-16. The presence of an arginine at position 306 was associated with increased sensitivity to CCR5-specific blockers and less efficient infection of Affinofile cells when compared to viruses with serine at this same position. Having an arginine instead of a serine at residue 306 was also associated with greater dependence on the CCR5 N-terminus for infection. These results indicate that elements

within V3 determine the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains, the amino acid at position 306 in Env regulates the efficiency of CCR5 use for 89.6 and C2-16, and R306 is responsible for the impaired use of lymphocyte CCR5 by 89.6.

The bridging sheet and base of V3 are thought to interact with the N-terminus of CCR5, while the tip and stem interact with the ECLs (Cormier and Dragic, 2002; Cormier et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2007). The data presented here imply that the greater dependence on the CCR5 N-terminus displayed by R306 compared to S306 Envs results from reduced interactions between V3 containing R306 and the CCR5 ECLs. Amino acids 306 and 319/320 in V3 are thought to create a surface in Env that is positively charged for X4 viruses or negatively charged for R5 strains (Cardozo et al., 2007). While the charges of the residues at these positions for R5X4 strains do not always conform to this rule, 89.6 has positive charged residue at positions 320. Differences in the charge of the surface created by amino acids 306 and 319/320 between 89.6 and C2-16 regulate interactions with residues in the ECLs of CCR5, and the strength of this interaction contributes to regulation of CCR5 use.

Residue 306 in Env regulated CCR5 use by both 89.6 and C2-16, with serine at this position associated with more efficient Env-CCR5 interactions. Most of the R5X4 strains, including those with poor lymphocyte CCR5 use, had a neutral or acidic amino acid at this position, suggesting other residues may be responsible for the pattern of CCR5 use by these strains. Positions 306 and 319/320 likely associate in space, and perhaps the amino acid at either of the later positions could contribute to regulation of lymphocyte CCR5 use by some of these strains. The majority of the variability between

91

the V3 sequences of these R5X4 Envs is on either side of the tip, in residues that contact the ECLs. For some viruses, basic amino acids are found at these residues, and perhaps these amino acids negatively contribute to Env-CCR5 interactions. However, some of the R5X4 viruses with poor lymphocyte CCR5 use had no positive charges at either of these positions, and for these Envs, other domains may play an important role. For instance, the V1-V2 region of DH12 can confer CXCR4 use to an R5 virus, and Nglycosylation in this domain in the DH12 Env also influences the efficiency of CCR5 or CXCR4 use (Cho et al., 1998; Ogert et al., 2001). Thus, while I show that regulation of lymphocyte CCR5 use by the R5X4 strain 89.6 is influenced by interactions between the ECLs and the residue at position 306, additional factors exist likely, both within and outside V3, that regulate this interaction.

The R306S change in the 89.6 Env was also associated with a decrease in the contribution of CXCR4 to infection of CD4+ lymphocytes. V3 loops of X4 viruses have higher net positive charges than R5 viruses, and it has been proposed that this higher charge allows X4 viruses to utilize the negatively charged surface of CXCR4 (Chabot et al., 1999). Deletion of residues 304-307 in the R3A and 89.6 Env abrogates CXCR4 use by these viruses, suggesting this region is critical for interactions with the CXCR4 ECLs (Nolan et al., 2009). Thus, it is plausible that the amino acid at position 306 also contributes to regulation of CXCR4 use for some R5X4 viruses and that S306 is associated with reduced interactions with the CXCR4 ECLs.

It is interesting that changing the amino acid at position 306 had an impact on every measure of how efficiently 89.6 and C2-16 mutants used CCR5, but the S306R mutation did not alter CCR5 use on primary lymphocytes by C2-16. The V3 loop of C216 has features that are very similar to R5 viruses, including a low net positive charge (+3) and the lack of positively charged amino acids at the two key residues in the V3 stem. The S306R mutation introduces a positive charge into Env, which should decrease interactions with the CCR5 ECLs. It is possible that other residues within C2-16 Env continue to contact critical determinants in the ECLs, and, as a result, CCR5 use by the C2-16 mutant might be less affected. An alternative possibility is that the density of CCR5 expressed on lymphocytes is above the threshold required by both wt and mutant C2-16, and this would make it is difficult to observe a difference in lymphocyte CCR5 use of lymphocyte CCR5 by the C2-16 mutant.

PSSM predictive algorithms are not highly accurate for distinguishing R5X4 from single coreceptor-tropic viruses, but we found that among R5X4 variants, the SI/NSI matrix showed a strong correlation between "NSI-like" characteristics and greater lymphocyte CCR5 use, and "SI-like" and poorer lymphocyte CCR5 use. These results further support the role of V3 in determining coreceptor preference in the context of primary cells and, in addition, further emphasize the limitations of indicator cells in predicting primary cell coreceptor use. In contrast, the X4/R5 predictive matrix, based on coreceptor use in indicator cell lines, did not distinguish between R5X4 strains with greater or lesser lymphocyte CCR5 use. Future studies will be needed to characterize the strains for which phenotype predictions differ between the scoring matrices, and determine whether these Envs may exhibit other distinguishing features in their interactions with primary cells.

The role of particular Env domains in determining CCR5 or CXCR4 use has been well studied, however, the exact mechanisms underlying the discrimination of CCR5 and CXCR4 are still obscure. Small changes in the viral Env can impact interactions with different domains of the coreceptor, and this can affect viral entry. However, it is currently not known whether the structural determinants of CCR5 are equally exposed on different primary cell types or cells from different donors. These questions have important implications for the design of coreceptor antagonists and the study of drug resistance. Thus, understanding how changes in the HIV-1 Env alters interactions with the CCR5 structure and impacts primary cell coreceptor use is an extremely important topic. **Chapter VI - Discussion**

R5X4 strains are usually the first CXCR4-using viruses to emerge, and these variants appear late in disease with varying frequency in people infected with HIV-1 from many of the group M subtypes (van Rij et al., 2000; Zhang et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 1998). During the acute and early phases of disease, R5 strains predominate (Liu et al., 1996; Samson et al., 1996). However, R5X4 strains also use CCR5 but fail to establish infections in recipients. Selection against CXCR4 using variants may be the reason R5X4 viruses rarely seed new HIV-1 infections. Alternatively, R5X4 strains may fail to transmit because CCR5 use by these variants is distinct from coreceptor use by R5 strains. The study of coreceptor use by R5X4 viruses may provide key insights into this important aspect of HIV-1 infection.

Coreceptor use by HIV-1 strains is typically determined on cell lines that have been engineered to express CD4 and a coreceptor, and infection of these cell lines indicates which coreceptors a virus can use. However, viruses may fail to infect primary cells using a coreceptor that it uses in indicator cell lines, raising questions of whether coreceptor use on cell lines accurately models coreceptor use on primary cells (Tokunaga et al., 2001). The primary cell targets of HIV-1 express CCR5 and CXCR4, and a previous study from our lab demonstrated that prototype R5X4 viruses use CCR5 and CXCR4 to infect macrophages. However, infection of CD4+ lymphocytes occurred predominately through CXCR4, whereas CCR5 was used poorly, if at all (Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). For this dissertation, I utilized a variety of dual-tropic isolates representing a broad spectrum of phenotypes, to assess whether R5X4 strains vary in the ability to use CCR5 on lymphocytes, and what factors determined the use of this pathway.

Limited lymphocyte CCR5 use: implications for the evolution and transmission of R5X4 HIV-1

Results presented in this dissertation indicate limited CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ T cells by the R5X4 strains tested, which did not substantially contribute to overall infection levels when CXCR4 was available. However, blocking CXCR4 use revealed a spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use among the R5X4 viruses. CCR5 is expressed on a small percentage of CD4+ T cells, and increasing CCR5 expression noticeably improved CCR5 use for all R5X4 strains, except 89.6. If CCR5 use was determined strictly by the percentage of cells expressing this coreceptor, then infection by R5X4 strains should be equivalent to that of R5 viruses. CCR5 density varies within the population of CD4+ lymphocytes, and the variability in lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains suggested that coreceptor density could be a factor in regulating lymphocyte CCR5 use. However, other additional factors likely exist, since CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocyte by 89.6 was not enhanced by increasing CCR5 expression. R5X4 and R5 strains with the greatest CCR5 use were proficient at detecting this coreceptor than antibody specific for CCR5, suggesting Env might also regulate use of this coreceptor on CD4+ lymphocytes.

The R5X4 strains in this report exhibited a spectrum in their efficiency of lymphocyte CCR5 use, but none preferentially infected CD4+ T cells using this coreceptor. On one hand, this is not surprising given the difference in number of cells positive for each coreceptor. On the other hand, R5X4 strains emerge *in vivo* from R5 strains in memory lymphocytes that express CCR5 and CXCR4, while later in infection, R5X4 along with X4 viruses are found mostly in the CCR5-/CXCR4+ naïve subset (van Rij et al., 2000). Thus, it seems likely that some R5X4 strains would use CCR5 as the predominant coreceptor to infect CD4+ T cells. The fact that the R306S mutation in 89.6 changes coreceptor preference on lymphocytes from CXCR4 to CCR5 indicates that this type of R5X4 Env can exist and that only minor changes may be required to shift between these two phenotypes. Perhaps R5X4 viruses that predominately use CCR5 to infect lymphocytes emerge but then rapidly disappear from the viral quasispecies. Alternatively, evolution of R5X4 strains might never transit through a phase in which CCR5 use is dominant. In a study of in vitro-derived R5X4 switch variants, the earliest CXCR4-using Envs were more sensitive to CCR5 antagonists and less efficient at using CCR5 for entry when compared to the parental R5 virus (Pastore, Ramos, and Mosier, 2004), and the mutations conferring CXCR4 use were detrimental except when introduced with compensatory changes elsewhere in the envelope (Pastore et al., 2006). In vivo, R5 strains showed reduced ability to infect CCR5-low cells prior to the emergence of R5X4 viruses (Coetzer et al., 2008). Thus, CXCR4 use may only emerge after compensatory mutations occur that have the effect of decreasing CCR5 use, suggesting that R5X4 evolution may not involve a phase of predominate lymphocyte CCR5 use.

R5 viruses are responsible for establishing the majority of new HIV-1 infections, but it is still not clear why. R5 strains are typically more macrophage-tropic than X4 variants, and CCR5-dependent macrophage tropism was classically proposed as a possible reason (Liu et al., 1996; van't Wout et al., 1994; Zhu et al., 1993). However, R5X4 strains also use CCR5 to infect primary macrophages, yet this strain is rarely transmitted (Liu et al., 1996; van't Wout et al., 1994; Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). Furthermore, recent studies using transmission pair isolates obtained near the time of

98

transmission enabling donor/recipient comparison, or PCR amplification and phylogenetic reconstruction of the successfully transmitted virus, reveal that these founder viruses are restricted to CCR5 and readily infect lymphocytes but typically infect macrophages inefficiently and/or no better than the donor variants (Isaacman-Beck et al., 2009; Keele et al., 2008b; Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009). The fact that R5X4 variants generally use lymphocyte CCR5 poorly relative to R5 viruses raises the possibility that these strains do not establish infections in recipients because use of CCR5 on lymphocytes is the critical determinant of transmission. Alternatively, it remains possible that neither R5X4 nor X4 strains efficiently transmit because CXCR4 use is selected against during transmission or establishment of new infections in recipients (Cornelissen et al., 1995).

Efficiency of CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1: implications for pathogenesis

The variability in lymphocyte CCR5 use among the R5X4 strains, coupled with the observations that Envs at the extremes of this spectrum appeared to use CCR5 with different efficiencies, suggested that Env-coreceptor interactions influenced lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains. Experiments with CCR5-specific mAbs showed a significant correlation between greater lymphocyte CCR5 use and reduced sensitivity to ECL-2, but not N-terminal or multi-domain mAbs. When sensitivity to entry inhibitors was assessed, reduced sensitivity to CCR5 small molecule antagonists, but not fusion inhibitor T20, also correlated with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use. The link between coreceptor use and the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction was further evaluated using cell lines with regulated levels of CD4 and CCR5. At physiologically relevant CD4 levels, R5X4 strains with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use were less sensitive to reductions in CCR5 density. Moreover, there was a significant correlation between the ability to exploit low levels of CCR5 on this cell line and higher levels of lymphocyte CCR5 use. These results suggest that variation in the efficiency of Env interactions with the ECLs of CCR5 has an effect on efficiency of coreceptor use and contributes to the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains. These findings underscore the importance of the ECLs, in particular ECL2, in infection by R5X4 viruses, and raise the possibility that determinants in Env ultimately regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use by these viruses.

The limited CCR5-mediated infection of lymphocytes by R5X4 HIV-1 raises questions of whether the efficiency of CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses has any impact on viral pathogenesis. Although rare, R5X4 strains have been transmitted and were able to establish infection in recipients (Meissner et al., 2004; Yu et al., 1998). Given the importance of CCR5 use in transmission, these viruses might be expected to utilize lymphocyte CCR5 more efficiently than R5X4 viruses that arise later. Strain R3A was obtained from an unusual R5X4 acute infection (Meissner et al., 2004), but R3A was not among the R5X4 Envs with more efficient lymphocyte CCR5 use. Paradoxically, the two variants with greatest relative efficiency in lymphocyte CCR5 use were NR10, from a late stage patient, and C2-16, from a CCR5-null subject; neither are clinical scenarios in which one might expect more efficient lymphocyte CCR5 use from the isolated virus. Macrophage infection is thought to be the major source of virus in tissue, a critical component of neuropathogenesis, and responsible for sustaining virus replication at very late stages of disease (Igarashi et al., 2001; Koenig et al., 1986; Schuitemaker et al.,

100

1992). Prototype and some primary R5X4 strains readily infect macrophages using CCR5, which may be explained by the higher density of CCR5 expressed on these cells compared with primary CD4+ lymphocytes (Lee et al., 1999b; Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). However, use of this coreceptor may be dispensable since CXCR4 also serves as a viable coreceptor for R5X4 entry into these cells (Yi, Shaheen, and Collman, 2005). Thus, it remains to be determined how the efficiency of lymphocyte CCR5 use among R5X4 variants is linked to specific aspects of pathogenesis. In addition, while X4 use is common in subtype B HIV-1, it is less frequent among subtype C strains and, furthermore, the factors that regulate coreceptor interactions may differ for different subtypes (Lynch et al., 2009). Further studies will be needed to determine the extent to which these findings apply to other subtypes

V3 determinants that regulate CCR5 use by R5X4 HIV-1: implications for structural interactions with coreceptor

The repeated correlation between measures of Env-CCR5 interaction efficiency and CCR5 use on lymphocytes suggested that elements within Env regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use. Since V3 is the principal determinant of coreceptor use, I focused on how variation in this domain might regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 strains. I discovered a relationship between the viral phenotype predicted using a V3-based PSSM algorithm and lymphocyte CCR5 use, with viruses that used this coreceptor well predicted to be NSI viruses and those that use it poorly identified as SI variants. Subsequent analysis of V3 sequences revealed that the two variants at the extremes of the
spectrum of CCR5 use, 89.6 and C2-16, differed in the presence of hallmarks associated with CXCR4 use, including the presence or absence, respectively, of a basic amino acid at position 306 in V3. Evaluation of mutant compared to wt viruses showed that 89.6 R306S was less sensitive to blocking CCR5 and was less dependent on the CCR5 N-terminus for infection. Conversely, the C2-16 S306R mutant was more sensitive to agents directed at CCR5 and was more dependent on the N-terminus of the coreceptor. The impact of these mutations on coreceptor use was determined by infecting primary lymphocytes, and the results indicated that the R306S mutation in 89.6 changed its coreceptor preference from CXCR4 to CCR5, while the reciprocal S306R change in C2-16 did not alter coreceptor use. These studies revealed that features within V3 likely determine the spectrum of lymphocyte CCR5 use, that the residue at position 306 in Env modulates the efficiency of CCR5 use for 89.6 and C2-16, and that R306 is responsible for impaired lymphocyte CCR5 use by 89.6.

The V3 domain is a primary determinant of coreceptor use, however, the effect of subdomains within this region on primary cell coreceptor use has not been previously addressed. Here, I show that a serine at position 306 is associated with greater lymphocyte CCR5 use by 89.6. This occurs because serine at this residue enhances the efficiency of CCR5 use, likely through enhanced interactions with the CCR5 ECLs. Most of the R5X4 strains have serine at this position, but not all use CCR5 efficiently. PSSM results indicate that elements within V3 likely regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use by R5X4 viruses. The majority of the variation in the V3 region is in stem and tip residues other than 306. Thus, these stem and tip residues may regulate lymphocyte CCR5 use for the other R5X4 strains. This would presumably occur through interactions with the

102

ECLs, since the V3 stem and tip are thought to interact with this domain of the coreceptor. Interestingly, the C2-16 S306R mutation had an impact on the efficiency of CCR5 use by C2-16, but did not alter its coreceptor use on primary lymphocytes. The reasons for this are unclear, but may involve other regions of Env or of V3. Additionally, mutations at this position also affected CXCR4 use by 89.6, suggesting that residue 306 may regulate interactions with CXCR4 for some viruses.

The ability to use CCR5 and CXCR4 must hinge on the ability of R5X4 strains to recognize conserved regions of each coreceptor, but it is unclear exactly how this is regulated. Numerous studies indicate that the underlying architecture of CCR5 and CXCR4 are similar. R5, X4 and R5X4 viruses are capable of using CCR5/CXCR4 chimeras for infection, even when multiple discontinuous domains are exchanged (Karlsson et al., 2004; Pontow and Ratner, 2001). Removal of an N-linked glycosylation site in the N-terminus or a substitution that removes a negatively charged residue in ECL-2 of CXCR4 permits use of this coreceptor by R5 viruses (Chabot and Broder, 2000; Chabot et al., 2000; Chabot et al., 1999). As mentioned, deletion of amino acids surrounding the V3 loop of R3A and 89.6 abrogated CXCR4 use; the resulting virus retained CCR5 use but was resistant to CCR5 antagonists (Nolan, Jordan, and Hoxie, 2008). These findings indicate this segment of the V3 stem interacts with the ECLs of CCR5 and CXCR4. Residue 306 is located in this region of V3 and it modulates Env-CCR5 and potentially Env-CXCR4 interactions for some viruses. Perhaps position 306 serves as a pivot point in Env, and the identity of the amino acid at this position allows the virus to favor one coreceptor over another by recognizing a critical ECL determinant that is similar in both coreceptors but distinct enough to allow the virus to distinguish

CCR5 from CXCR4. For other R5X4 strains, in which amino acid 306 may not regulate the efficiency of CCR5 use, another stem or tip residue in V3 may play this role.

Summary and final conclusions

In summary, using a panel of primary and prototype R5X4 HIV-1 variants, this study confirms that these strains are highly skewed towards CXCR4 use for entry into CD4+ T cells. However, among the isolates tested, there is a range in the relative ability to use CCR5 on primary lymphocytes, although we did not identify an evident relationship between relative lymphocyte coreceptor use and the clinical context in which the R5X4 Envs were derived. The ability to use lymphocyte CCR5 by R5X4 variants was linked to greater efficiency in CCR5 interactions based on antibody and small molecule antagonist blocking studies, and this was dependent on residues within V3. Furthermore, the barrier to CCR5 use could be overcome by CCR5 over-expression in lymphocytes for most of the R5X4 isolates or, by mutating Env to enhance coreceptor interaction efficiency.

These finding lead to the conclusion that potential CCR5-mediated infection of CD4+ lymphocytes is limited by the proportion of cells that express CCR5, but actual CCR5 use by a specific R5X4 virus is regulated by the threshold of CCR5 it requires for infection. The differences in CCR5-Env interactions identified among the R5X4 strains here, which are dependent on determinants within the Env V3 that interact with the CCR5 ECLs, regulate the threshold of CCR5 required for entry. Thus, the efficiency of the Env-CCR5 interaction is the principal factor underlying differences in CCR5-mediated target cell availability and, ultimately, lymphocyte CCR5 use for each isolate.

Better understanding of the viral and cellular factors that control coreceptor use by HIV-1 strains is critical to understanding the impact of viral evolution on target cell tropism.

Chapter VII - Bibliography

- Abebe, A., Demissie, D., Goudsmit, J., Brouwer, M., Kuiken, C. L., Pollakis, G., Schuitemaker, H., Fontanet, A. L., and Rinke de Wit, T. F. (1999). HIV-1 subtype C syncytium- and non-syncytium-inducing phenotypes and coreceptor usage among Ethiopian patients with AIDS. *Aids* 13(11), 1305-11.
- Abrahams, M. R., Anderson, J. A., Giorgi, E. E., Seoighe, C., Mlisana, K., Ping, L. H., Athreya, G. S., Treurnicht, F. K., Keele, B. F., Wood, N., Salazar-Gonzalez, J. F., Bhattacharya, T., Chu, H., Hoffman, I., Galvin, S., Mapanje, C., Kazembe, P., Thebus, R., Fiscus, S., Hide, W., Cohen, M. S., Karim, S. A., Haynes, B. F., Shaw, G. M., Hahn, B. H., Korber, B. T., Swanstrom, R., and Williamson, C. (2009). Quantitating the multiplicity of infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C reveals a non-poisson distribution of transmitted variants. *J Virol* 83(8), 3556-67.
- Alkhatib, G., Combadiere, C., Broder, C. C., Feng, Y., Kennedy, P. E., Murphy, P. M., and Berger, E. A. (1996). CC CKR5: a RANTES, MIP-1alpha, MIP-1beta receptor as a fusion cofactor for macrophage-tropic HIV-1. *Science* 272(5270), 1955-8.
- Asjo, B., Morfeldt-Manson, L., Albert, J., Biberfeld, G., Karlsson, A., Lidman, K., and Fenyo, E. M. (1986). Replicative capacity of human immunodeficiency virus from patients with varying severity of HIV infection. *Lancet* 2(8508), 660-2.
- Bakri, Y., Schiffer, C., Zennou, V., Charneau, P., Kahn, E., Benjouad, A., Gluckman, J. C., and Canque, B. (2001). The maturation of dendritic cells results in postintegration inhibition of HIV-1 replication. *J Immunol* **166**(6), 3780-8.
- Berger, E. A., Doms, R. W., Fenyo, E. M., Korber, B. T., Littman, D. R., Moore, J. P., Sattentau, Q. J., Schuitemaker, H., Sodroski, J., and Weiss, R. A. (1998). A new classification for HIV-1. *Nature* **391**(6664), 240.
- Biscone, M. J., Miamidian, J. L., Muchiri, J. M., Baik, S. S., Lee, F. H., Doms, R. W., and Reeves, J. D. (2006). Functional impact of HIV coreceptor-binding site mutations. *Virology* 351(1), 226-36.
- Björndal, A., Deng, H., Jansson, M., Fiore, J. R., Colognesi, C., Karlsson, A., Albert, J., Scarlatti, G., Littman, D. R., and Fenyö, E. M. (1997). Coreceptor usage of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates varies according to biological phenotype. *J Virol* **71**(10), 7478-87.
- Blaak, H., van't Wout, A. B., Brouwer, M., Hooibrink, B., Hovenkamp, E., and Schuitemaker, H. (2000). In vivo HIV-1 infection of CD45RA(+)CD4(+) T cells

is established primarily by syncytium-inducing variants and correlates with the rate of CD4(+) T cell decline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **97**(3), 1269-74.

- Blanpain, C., Doranz, B. J., Vakili, J., Rucker, J., Govaerts, C., Baik, S. S., Lorthioir, O., Migeotte, I., Libert, F., Baleux, F., Vassart, G., Doms, R. W., and Parmentier, M. (1999). Multiple charged and aromatic residues in CCR5 amino-terminal domain are involved in high affinity binding of both chemokines and HIV-1 Env protein. *J Biol Chem* 274(49), 34719-27.
- Blanpain, C., Vanderwinden, J. M., Cihak, J., Wittamer, V., Le Poul, E., Issafras, H., Stangassinger, M., Vassart, G., Marullo, S., Schlndorff, D., Parmentier, M., and Mack, M. (2002). Multiple active states and oligomerization of CCR5 revealed by functional properties of monoclonal antibodies. *Mol Biol Cell* 13(2), 723-37.
- Bleul, C. C., Wu, L., Hoxie, J. A., Springer, T. A., and Mackay, C. R. (1997). The HIV coreceptors CXCR4 and CCR5 are differentially expressed and regulated on human T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94(5), 1925-30.
- Boily, M. C., Baggaley, R. F., Wang, L., Masse, B., White, R. G., Hayes, R. J., and Alary, M. (2009). Heterosexual risk of HIV-1 infection per sexual act: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Lancet Infect Dis* 9(2), 118-29.
- Brenchley, J. M., Price, D. A., Schacker, T. W., Asher, T. E., Silvestri, G., Rao, S., Kazzaz, Z., Bornstein, E., Lambotte, O., Altmann, D., Blazar, B. R., Rodrigues, D. S., Teixeira-Johnson, L., Landay, A., Martin, J. N., Hecht, F. M., Picker, L. J., Lederman, M. M., Deeks, S. G., and Douek, D. C. (2006). Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med* 12(12), 1365-71.
- Bunnik, E. M., Quakkelaar, E. D., van Nuenen, A. C., Boeser-Nunnink, B. D., and Schuitemaker, H. (2007). Increased neutralization sensitivity of recently emerged CXCR4-using human immunodeficiency virus type 1 strains compared to coexisting CCR5-using variants from the same patient. *J Virol* 81(2), 525-31.
- Buonaguro, L., Tornesello, M. L., and Buonaguro, F. M. (2007). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype distribution in the worldwide epidemic: pathogenetic and therapeutic implications. *J Virol* **81**(19), 10209-19.
- Cameron, P. U., Forsum, U., Teppler, H., Granelli-Piperno, A., and Steinman, R. M. (1992). During HIV-1 infection most blood dendritic cells are not productively infected and can induce allogeneic CD4+ T cells clonal expansion. *Clin Exp Immunol* 88(2), 226-36.

- Cardozo, T., Kimura, T., Philpott, S., Weiser, B., Burger, H., and Zolla-Pazner, S. (2007). Structural basis for coreceptor selectivity by the HIV type 1 V3 loop. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 23(3), 415-26.
- Chabot, D. J., and Broder, C. C. (2000). Substitutions in a homologous region of extracellular loop 2 of CXCR4 and CCR5 alter coreceptor activities for HIV-1 membrane fusion and virus entry. *J Biol Chem* **275**(31), 23774-82.
- Chabot, D. J., Chen, H., Dimitrov, D. S., and Broder, C. C. (2000). N-linked glycosylation of CXCR4 masks coreceptor function for CCR5-dependent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates. *J Virol* 74(9), 4404-13.
- Chabot, D. J., Zhang, P. F., Quinnan, G. V., and Broder, C. C. (1999). Mutagenesis of CXCR4 identifies important domains for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 X4 isolate envelope-mediated membrane fusion and virus entry and reveals cryptic coreceptor activity for R5 isolates. *J Virol* 73(8), 6598-609.
- Chan, D. C., Fass, D., Berger, J. M., and Kim, P. S. (1997). Core structure of gp41 from the HIV envelope glycoprotein. *Cell* **89**(2), 263-73.
- Chang, L. J., Urlacher, V., Iwakuma, T., Cui, Y., and Zucali, J. (1999). Efficacy and safety analyses of a recombinant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 derived vector system. *Gene Ther* **6**(5), 715-28.
- Chen, B., Vogan, E. M., Gong, H., Skehel, J. J., Wiley, D. C., and Harrison, S. C. (2005). Structure of an unliganded simian immunodeficiency virus gp120 core. *Nature* 433(7028), 834-41.
- Cho, M. W., Lee, M. K., Carney, M. C., Berson, J. F., Doms, R. W., and Martin, M. A. (1998). Identification of determinants on a dualtropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein that confer usage of CXCR4. *J Virol* 72(3), 2509-15.
- Choe, H., Farzan, M., Sun, Y., Sullivan, N., Rollins, B., Ponath, P. D., Wu, L., Mackay, C. R., LaRosa, G., Newman, W., Gerard, N., Gerard, C., and Sodroski, J. (1996). The beta-chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 facilitate infection by primary HIV-1 isolates. *Cell* 85(7), 1135-48.
- Chohan, B., Lang, D., Sagar, M., Korber, B., Lavreys, L., Richardson, B., and Overbaugh, J. (2005). Selection for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycosylation variants with shorter V1-V2 loop sequences occurs during

transmission of certain genetic subtypes and may impact viral RNA levels. *J Virol* **79**(10), 6528-31.

- Coetzer, M., Nedellec, R., Salkowitz, J., McLaughlin, S., Liu, Y., Heath, L., Mullins, J. I., and Mosier, D. E. (2008). Evolution of CCR5 use before and during coreceptor switching. J Virol 82(23), 11758-66.
- Collman, R. (1992). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 tropism for human macrophages. *Pathobiology* **60**(4), 213-8.
- Collman, R., Balliet, J. W., Gregory, S. A., Friedman, H., Kolson, D. L., Nathanson, N., and Srinivasan, A. (1992). An infectious molecular clone of an unusual macrophage-tropic and highly cytopathic strain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* **66**(12), 7517-21.
- Cormier, E. G., and Dragic, T. (2002). The crown and stem of the V3 loop play distinct roles in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein interactions with the CCR5 coreceptor. *J Virol* **76**(17), 8953-7.
- Cormier, E. G., Persuh, M., Thompson, D. A., Lin, S. W., Sakmar, T. P., Olson, W. C., and Dragic, T. (2000). Specific interaction of CCR5 amino-terminal domain peptides containing sulfotyrosines with HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97(11), 5762-7.
- Cormier, E. G., Tran, D. N., Yukhayeva, L., Olson, W. C., and Dragic, T. (2001). Mapping the determinants of the CCR5 amino-terminal sulfopeptide interaction with soluble human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120-CD4 complexes. J Virol 75(12), 5541-9.
- Cornelissen, M., Mulder-Kampinga, G. A., Veenstra, J., Zorgdrager, F., Kuiken, C. L., Hartman, S., Dekker, J., van der Hoek, L., Sol, C., and Coutinho, R. A. (1995). Syncytium-inducing (SI) phenotype suppression at seroconversion after intramuscular inoculation of a non-syncytium-inducing/SI phenotypically mixed human immunodeficiency virus population. *J Virol* 69(3), 1810-8.
- Creson, J. R., Lin, A. A., Li, Q., Broad, D. F., Roberts, M. R., and Anderson, S. J. (1999). The mode and duration of anti-CD28 costimulation determine resistance to infection by macrophage-tropic strains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in vitro. *J Virol* 73(11), 9337-47.

- Dalgleish, A. G., Beverley, P. C., Clapham, P. R., Crawford, D. H., Greaves, M. F., and Weiss, R. A. (1984). The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature* **312**(5996), 763-7.
- Dalmau, J., Puertas, M. C., Azuara, M., Marino, A., Frahm, N., Mothe, B., Izquierdo-Useros, N., Buzon, M. J., Paredes, R., Matas, L., Allen, T. M., Brander, C., Rodrigo, C., Clotet, B., and Martinez-Picado, J. (2009). Contribution of immunological and virological factors to extremely severe primary HIV type 1 infection. *Clin Infect Dis* 48(2), 229-38.
- Davis, K. A., Abrams, B., Iyer, S. B., Hoffman, R. A., and Bishop, J. E. (1998). Determination of CD4 antigen density on cells: role of antibody valency, avidity, clones, and conjugation. *Cytometry* 33(2), 197-205.
- de Jong, J. J., de Ronde, A., Keulen, W., Tersmette, M., and Goudsmit, J. (1992a).
 Minimal requirements for the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V3 domain to support the syncytium-inducing phenotype: analysis by single amino acid substitution. *J Virol* 66(11), 6777-80.
- de Jong, J. J., Goudsmit, J., Keulen, W., Klaver, B., Krone, W., Tersmette, M., and de Ronde, A. (1992b). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones chimeric for the envelope V3 domain differ in syncytium formation and replication capacity. *J Virol* **66**(2), 757-65.
- Deng, H., Liu, R., Ellmeier, W., Choe, S., Unutmaz, D., Burkhart, M., Di Marzio, P., Marmon, S., Sutton, R. E., Hill, C. M., Davis, C. B., Peiper, S. C., Schall, T. J., Littman, D. R., and Landau, N. R. (1996). Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. *Nature* 381(6584), 661-6.
- Deng, H. K., Unutmaz, D., KewalRamani, V. N., and Littman, D. R. (1997). Expression cloning of new receptors used by simian and human immunodeficiency viruses. *Nature* 388(6639), 296-300.
- Derdeyn, C. A., Decker, J. M., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Mokili, J. L., Muldoon, M., Denham, S. A., Heil, M. L., Kasolo, F., Musonda, R., Hahn, B. H., Shaw, G. M., Korber, B. T., Allen, S., and Hunter, E. (2004). Envelope-constrained neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. *Science* **303**(5666), 2019-22.
- Doranz, B. J., Lu, Z. H., Rucker, J., Zhang, T. Y., Sharron, M., Cen, Y. H., Wang, Z. X., Guo, H. H., Du, J. G., Accavitti, M. A., Doms, R. W., and Peiper, S. C. (1997). Two distinct CCR5 domains can mediate coreceptor usage by human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 71(9), 6305-14.

- Doranz, B. J., Rucker, J., Yi, Y., Smyth, R. J., Samson, M., Peiper, S. C., Parmentier, M., Collman, R. G., and Doms, R. W. (1996). A dual-tropic primary HIV-1 isolate that uses fusin and the beta-chemokine receptors CKR-5, CKR-3, and CKR-2b as fusion cofactors. *Cell* 85(7), 1149-58.
- Dorr, P., Westby, M., Dobbs, S., Griffin, P., Irvine, B., Macartney, M., Mori, J., Rickett, G., Smith-Burchnell, C., Napier, C., Webster, R., Armour, D., Price, D., Stammen, B., Wood, A., and Perros, M. (2005). Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a potent, orally bioavailable, and selective small-molecule inhibitor of chemokine receptor CCR5 with broad-spectrum anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **49**(11), 4721-32.
- Dragic, T., Trkola, A., Thompson, D. A., Cormier, E. G., Kajumo, F. A., Maxwell, E., Lin, S. W., Ying, W., Smith, S. O., Sakmar, T. P., and Moore, J. P. (2000). A binding pocket for a small molecule inhibitor of HIV-1 entry within the transmembrane helices of CCR5. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97(10), 5639-44.
- Dunfee, R. L., Thomas, E. R., Gorry, P. R., Wang, J., Taylor, J., Kunstman, K. J., Wolinsky, S. M., and Gabuzda, D. (2006). The HIV Env variant N283 enhances macrophage tropism and is associated with brain infection and dementia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103(41), 15160-5.
- Earl, P. L., Doms, R. W., and Moss, B. (1990). Oligomeric structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87(2), 648-52.
- Edinger, A. L., Hoffman, T. L., Sharron, M., Lee, B., O'Dowd, B., and Doms, R. W. (1998a). Use of GPR1, GPR15, and STRL33 as coreceptors by diverse human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus envelope proteins. *Virology* 249(2), 367-78.
- Edinger, A. L., Hoffman, T. L., Sharron, M., Lee, B., Yi, Y., Choe, W., Kolson, D. L., Mitrovic, B., Zhou, Y., Faulds, D., Collman, R. G., Hesselgesser, J., Horuk, R., and Doms, R. W. (1998b). An orphan seven-transmembrane domain receptor expressed widely in the brain functions as a coreceptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus. *J Virol* 72(10), 7934-40.
- Eilbott, D. J., Peress, N., Burger, H., LaNeve, D., Orenstein, J., Gendelman, H. E., Seidman, R., and Weiser, B. (1989). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in spinal cords of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome patients with myelopathy: expression and replication in macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86(9), 3337-41.

- Farzan, M., Choe, H., Vaca, L., Martin, K., Sun, Y., Desjardins, E., Ruffing, N., Wu, L., Wyatt, R., Gerard, N. P., Gerard, C., and Sodroski, J. G. (1998). A tyrosine-rich region in the N terminus of CCR5 is important for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry and mediates an association between gp120 and CCR5. *J Virol* 72(2), 1160-4.
- Farzan, M., Mirzabekov, T., Kolchinsky, P., Wyatt, R., Cayabyab, M., Gerard, N. P., Gerard, C., Sodroski, J. G., and Choe, H. (1999). Tyrosine sulfation of the amino terminus of CCR5 facilitates HIV-1 entry. *Cell* 96(5), 667-76.
- Finke, P., Caldwell, C, Dorn C, Meurer, L, Oates, B, Chen, P, MacCoss, M, Mills, S, Malkowitz, S, Sicilano, S, Springer, M, DeMartino, J, Gould, S, Chen, Q, Braun, J, Hajdu, R, Kwei, G, Carella, A, Carver, G, Holmes, K, Schleif, W, Danzeisen, R, Hazuda, D, Kessler, J, Lineberger, J, Miller, M, and Emini, E (2000). 10th National Conference of the Inflammation Research Association, Hot Springs, Va.
- Fouchier, R. A., Groenink, M., Kootstra, N. A., Tersmette, M., Huisman, H. G., Miedema, F., and Schuitemaker, H. (1992). Phenotype-associated sequence variation in the third variable domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 molecule. *J Virol* 66(5), 3183-7.
- Freed, E. O., Myers, D. J., and Risser, R. (1990). Characterization of the fusion domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp41. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **87**(12), 4650-4.
- Gallaher, W. R. (1987). Detection of a fusion peptide sequence in the transmembrane protein of human immunodeficiency virus. *Cell* **50**(3), 327-8.
- Gartner, S., Markovits, P., Markovitz, D. M., Kaplan, M. H., Gallo, R. C., and Popovic, M. (1986). The role of mononuclear phagocytes in HTLV-III/LAV infection. *Science* 233(4760), 215-9.
- Gelderblom, H. R., Hausmann, E. H., Ozel, M., Pauli, G., and Koch, M. A. (1987). Fine structure of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and immunolocalization of structural proteins. *Virology* 156(1), 171-6.
- Genoud, S., Kajumo, F., Guo, Y., Thompson, D. A., and Dragic, T. (1999). CCR5-Mediated human immunodeficiency virus entry depends on an amino-terminal gp120-binding site and on the conformational integrity of all four extracellular domains. *J Virol* **73**(2), 1645-8.

- Ghezzi, S., Menzo, S., Brambilla, A., Bordignon, P. P., Lorini, A. L., Clementi, M., Poli, G., and Vicenzi, E. (2001). Inhibition of R5X4 Dualtropic HIV-1 Primary Isolates by Single Chemokine Co-receptor Ligands. *Virology* 280(2), 253-261.
- Glushakova, S., Yi, Y., Grivel, J. C., Singh, A., Schols, D., De Clercq, E., Collman, R. G., and Margolis, L. (1999). Preferential coreceptor utilization and cytopathicity by dual-tropic HIV-1 in human lymphoid tissue ex vivo. *J Clin Invest* 104(5), R7-R11.
- Gorry, P. R., Taylor, J., Holm, G. H., Mehle, A., Morgan, T., Cayabyab, M., Farzan, M., Wang, H., Bell, J. E., Kunstman, K., Moore, J. P., Wolinsky, S. M., and Gabuzda, D. (2002a). Increased CCR5 affinity and reduced CCR5/CD4 dependence of a neurovirulent primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate. *J Virol* 76(12), 6277-92.
- Gorry, P. R., Zhang, C., Wu, S., Kunstman, K., Trachtenberg, E., Phair, J., Wolinsky, S., and Gabuzda, D. (2002b). Persistence of dual-tropic HIV-1 in an individual homozygous for the CCR5 Δ 32 allele. *The Lancet*.
- Graham, F. L., Smiley, J., Russell, W. C., and Nairn, R. (1977). Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. *J Gen Virol* **36**(1), 59-74.
- Gray, L., Churchill, M. J., Keane, N., Sterjovski, J., Ellett, A. M., Purcell, D. F., Poumbourios, P., Kol, C., Wang, B., Saksena, N. K., Wesselingh, S. L., Price, P., French, M., Gabuzda, D., and Gorry, P. R. (2006). Genetic and functional analysis of R5X4 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins derived from two individuals homozygous for the CCR5delta32 allele. *J Virol* 80(7), 3684-91.
- Gray, L., Roche, M., Churchill, M. J., Sterjovski, J., Ellett, A., Poumbourios, P., Sheffief, S., Wang, B., Saksena, N., Purcell, D. F., Wesselingh, S., Cunningham, A. L., Brew, B. J., Gabuzda, D., and Gorry, P. R. (2009). Tissue-specific sequence alterations in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope favoring CCR5 usage contribute to persistence of dual-tropic virus in the brain. *J Virol* 83(11), 5430-41.
- Greene, W. C., and Peterlin, B. M. (2002). Charting HIV's remarkable voyage through the cell: Basic science as a passport to future therapy. *Nat Med* **8**(7), 673-80.
- Grivel, J. C., and Margolis, L. B. (1999). CCR5- and CXCR4-tropic HIV-1 are equally cytopathic for their T-cell targets in human lymphoid tissue. *Nat Med* **5**(3), 344-6.

- Gupta, P., Collins, K. B., Ratner, D., Watkins, S., Naus, G. J., Landers, D. V., and Patterson, B. K. (2002). Memory CD4(+) T cells are the earliest detectable human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-infected cells in the female genital mucosal tissue during HIV-1 transmission in an organ culture system. *J Virol* 76(19), 9868-76.
- Hahn, B. H., Shaw, G. M., Taylor, M. E., Redfield, R. R., Markham, P. D., Salahuddin, S. Z., Wong-Staal, F., Gallo, R. C., Parks, E. S., and Parks, W. P. (1986). Genetic variation in HTLV-III/LAV over time in patients with AIDS or at risk for AIDS. *Science* 232(4757), 1548-53.
- Harouse, J. M., Buckner, C., Gettie, A., Fuller, R., Bohm, R., Blanchard, J., and Cheng-Mayer, C. (2003). CD8+ T cell-mediated CXC chemokine receptor 4simian/human immunodeficiency virus suppression in dually infected rhesus macaques. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 100(19), 10977-82.
- Harouse, J. M., Gettie, A., Tan, R. C., Blanchard, J., and Cheng-Mayer, C. (1999). Distinct pathogenic sequela in rhesus macaques infected with CCR5 or CXCR4 utilizing SHIVs. *Science* 284(5415), 816-9.
- Helseth, E., Kowalski, M., Gabuzda, D., Olshevsky, U., Haseltine, W., and Sodroski, J. (1990). Rapid complementation assays measuring replicative potential of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein mutants. *J Virol* 64(5), 2416-20.
- Hemelaar, J., Gouws, E., Ghys, P. D., and Osmanov, S. (2006). Global and regional distribution of HIV-1 genetic subtypes and recombinants in 2004. *AIDS* 20(16), W13-23.
- Heredia, A., Gilliam, B., DeVico, A., Le, N., Bamba, D., Flinko, R., Lewis, G., Gallo, R. C., and Redfield, R. R. (2007). CCR5 density levels on primary CD4 T cells impact the replication and Enfuvirtide susceptibility of R5 HIV-1. *AIDS* 21(10), 1317-22.
- Ho, S. H., Tasca, S., Shek, L., Li, A., Gettie, A., Blanchard, J., Boden, D., and Cheng-Mayer, C. (2007). Coreceptor switch in R5-tropic simian/human immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. *J Virol* 81(16), 8621-33.
- Huang, C. C., Lam, S. N., Acharya, P., Tang, M., Xiang, S. H., Hussan, S. S., Stanfield, R. L., Robinson, J. E., Sodroski, J. G., Wilson, I. A., Wyatt, R., Bewley, C. A., and Kwong, P. D. (2007). Structures of the CCR5 N terminus and of a tyrosinesulfated antibody with HIV-1 gp120 and CD4. *Science* **317**(5846), 1930-4.

- Huang, C. C., Tang, M., Zhang, M. Y., Majeed, S., Montabana, E., Stanfield, R. L., Dimitrov, D. S., Korber, B. T., Sodroski, J. G., Wilson, I. A., Wyatt, R., and Kwong, P. D. (2005). Structure of a V3-containing HIV-1 gp120 core. *Science* 310(5750), 1025-8.
- Hwang, S. S., Boyle, T. J., Lyerly, H. K., and Cullen, B. R. (1991). Identification of the envelope V3 loop as the primary determinant of cell tropism in HIV-1. *Science* 253(5015), 71-4.
- Igarashi, T., Brown, C. R., Endo, Y., Buckler-White, A., Plishka, R., Bischofberger, N., Hirsch, V., and Martin, M. A. (2001). Macrophage are the principal reservoir and sustain high virus loads in rhesus macaques after the depletion of CD4+ T cells by a highly pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus/HIV type 1 chimera (SHIV): Implications for HIV-1 infections of humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **98**(2), 658-63.
- Isaacman-Beck, J., Hermann, E. A., Yi, Y., Ratcliffe, S. J., Mulenga, J., Allen, S., Hunter, E., Derdeyn, C. A., and Collman, R. G. (2009). Heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C: Macrophage tropism, alternative coreceptor use, and the molecular anatomy of CCR5 utilization. J Virol 83(16), 8208-20.
- Jeffrey, A. A., Israel-Biet, D., Andrieu, J. M., Even, P., and Venet, A. (1991). HIV isolation from pulmonary cells derived from bronchoalveolar lavage. *Clin Exp Immunol* **84**(3), 488-92.
- Jekle, A., Keppler, O. T., De Clercq, E., Schols, D., Weinstein, M., and Goldsmith, M. A. (2003). In vivo evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 toward increased pathogenicity through CXCR4-mediated killing of uninfected CD4 T cells. *J Virol* 77(10), 5846-54.
- Jensen, M. A., Li, F. S., van 't Wout, A. B., Nickle, D. C., Shriner, D., He, H. X., McLaughlin, S., Shankarappa, R., Margolick, J. B., and Mullins, J. I. (2003). Improved coreceptor usage prediction and genotypic monitoring of R5-to-X4 transition by motif analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 env V3 loop sequences. J Virol 77(24), 13376-88.
- Johnston, S. H., Lobritz, M. A., Nguyen, S., Lassen, K., Delair, S., Posta, F., Bryson, Y. J., Arts, E. J., Chou, T., and Lee, B. (2009). A quantitative affinity-profiling system that reveals distinct CD4/CCR5 usage patterns amongst HIV-1 and SIV strains. *J Virol.*

- Karlsson, G. B., Halloran, M., Li, J., Park, I. W., Gomila, R., Reimann, K. A., Axthelm, M. K., Iliff, S. A., Letvin, N. L., and Sodroski, J. (1997). Characterization of molecularly cloned simian-human immunodeficiency viruses causing rapid CD4+ lymphocyte depletion in rhesus monkeys. *J Virol* 71(6), 4218-25.
- Karlsson, G. B., Halloran, M., Schenten, D., Lee, J., Racz, P., Tenner-Racz, K., Manola, J., Gelman, R., Etemad-Moghadam, B., Desjardins, E., Wyatt, R., Gerard, N. P., Marcon, L., Margolin, D., Fanton, J. W., Axthelm, M. K., Letvin, N. L., and Sodroski, J. G. (1998). The envelope glycoprotein ectodomains determine the efficiency of CD4+ T lymphocyte depletion in simian-human immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. *J Exp Med* 188(6), 1159-71.
- Karlsson, I., Antonsson, L., Shi, Y., Oberg, M., Karlsson, A., Albert, J., Olde, B., Owman, C., Jansson, M., and Fenyö, E. M. (2004). Coevolution of RANTES sensitivity and mode of CCR5 receptor use by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 of the R5 phenotype. *J Virol* 78(21), 11807-15.
- Keele, B. F., Giorgi, E. E., Salazar-Gonzalez, J. F., Decker, J. M., Pham, K. T., Salazar, M. G., Sun, C., Grayson, T., Wang, S., Li, H., Wei, X., Jiang, C., Kirchherr, J. L., Gao, F., Anderson, J. A., Ping, L. H., Swanstrom, R., Tomaras, G. D., Blattner, W. A., Goepfert, P. A., Kilby, J. M., Saag, M. S., Delwart, E. L., Busch, M. P., Cohen, M. S., Montefiori, D. C., Haynes, B. F., Gaschen, B., Athreya, G. S., Lee, H. Y., Wood, N., Seoighe, C., Perelson, A. S., Bhattacharya, T., Korber, B. T., Hahn, B. H., and Shaw, G. M. (2008a). Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 105(21), 7552-7.
- Keele, B. F., Giorgi, E. E., Salazar-Gonzalez, J. F., Decker, J. M., Pham, K. T., Salazar, M. G., Sun, C., Grayson, T., Wang, S., Li, H., Wei, X., Jiang, C., Kirchherr, J. L., Gao, F., Anderson, J. A., Ping, L. H., Swanstrom, R., Tomaras, G. D., Blattner, W. A., Goepfert, P. A., Kilby, J. M., Saag, M. S., Delwart, E. L., Busch, M. P., Cohen, M. S., Montefiori, D. C., Haynes, B. F., Gaschen, B., Athreya, G. S., Lee, H. Y., Wood, N., Seoighe, C., Perelson, A. S., Bhattacharya, T., Korber, B. T., Hahn, B. H., and Shaw, G. M. (2008b). Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105(21), 7552-7.
- Keele, B. F., Van Heuverswyn, F., Li, Y., Bailes, E., Takehisa, J., Santiago, M. L., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Chen, Y., Wain, L. V., Liegeois, F., Loul, S., Ngole, E. M., Bienvenue, Y., Delaporte, E., Brookfield, J. F., Sharp, P. M., Shaw, G. M., Peeters, M., and Hahn, B. H. (2006). Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. *Science* 313(5786), 523-6.

- Kim, Y. B., Lee, M. K., Han, D. P., and Cho, M. W. (2001). Development of a safe and rapid neutralization assay using murine leukemia virus pseudotyped with HIV type 1 envelope glycoprotein lacking the cytoplasmic domain. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 17(18), 1715-24.
- Kiselyeva, Y., Nedellec, R., Ramos, A., Pastore, C., Margolis, L. B., and Mosier, D. E. (2007). Evolution of CXCR4-using human immunodeficiency virus type 1 SF162 is associated with two unique envelope mutations. *J Virol* 81(7), 3657-61.
- Klatzmann, D., Champagne, E., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Guetard, D., Hercend, T., Gluckman, J. C., and Montagnier, L. (1984). T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. *Nature* **312**(5996), 767-8.
- Koenig, S., Gendelman, H. E., Orenstein, J. M., Dal Canto, M. C., Pezeshkpour, G. H., Yungbluth, M., Janotta, F., Aksamit, A., Martin, M. A., and Fauci, A. S. (1986). Detection of AIDS virus in macrophages in brain tissue from AIDS patients with encephalopathy. *Science* 233(4768), 1089-93.
- Koot, M., Keet, I. P., Vos, A. H., de Goede, R. E., Roos, M. T., Coutinho, R. A., Miedema, F., Schellekens, P. T., and Tersmette, M. (1993). Prognostic value of HIV-1 syncytium-inducing phenotype for rate of CD4+ cell depletion and progression to AIDS. *Ann Intern Med* **118**(9), 681-8.
- Kourtis, A. P., Lee, F. K., Abrams, E. J., Jamieson, D. J., and Bulterys, M. (2006). Mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1: timing and implications for prevention. *Lancet Infect Dis* 6(11), 726-32.
- Koyanagi, Y., Miles, S., Mitsuyasu, R. T., Merrill, J. E., Vinters, H. V., and Chen, I. S. (1987). Dual infection of the central nervous system by AIDS viruses with distinct cellular tropisms. *Science* 236(4803), 819-22.
- Kwa, D., Vingerhoed, J., Boeser-Nunnink, B., Broersen, S., and Schuitemaker, H. (2001). Cytopathic effects of non-syncytium-inducing and syncytium-inducing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants on different CD4(+)-T-cell subsets are determined only by coreceptor expression. *J Virol* 75(21), 10455-9.
- Kwong, P. D., Wyatt, R., Robinson, J., Sweet, R. W., Sodroski, J., and Hendrickson, W.
 A. (1998). Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. *Nature* 393(6686), 648-59.
- Lassen, K., Lobritz, M., Bailey, J., Johnston, S., Nguyen, S., Lee, B., Chou, T., Siliciano, R., Markowitz, M., and Arts, E. (2009). Elite suppressor-derived HIV-1 envelope

glycoproteins exhibit reduced entry efficiency and kinetics. *PLoS Pathog* **5**(4), e1000377.

- Lee, B., Sharron, M., Blanpain, C., Doranz, B. J., Vakili, J., Setoh, P., Berg, E., Liu, G., Guy, H. R., Durell, S. R., Parmentier, M., Chang, C. N., Price, K., Tsang, M., and Doms, R. W. (1999a). Epitope mapping of CCR5 reveals multiple conformational states and distinct but overlapping structures involved in chemokine and coreceptor function. *J Biol Chem* 274(14), 9617-26.
- Lee, B., Sharron, M., Montaner, L. J., Weissman, D., and Doms, R. W. (1999b). Quantification of CD4, CCR5, and CXCR4 levels on lymphocyte subsets, dendritic cells, and differentially conditioned monocyte-derived macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96(9), 5215-20.
- Leonard, C. K., Spellman, M. W., Riddle, L., Harris, R. J., Thomas, J. N., and Gregory, T. J. (1990). Assignment of intrachain disulfide bonds and characterization of potential glycosylation sites of the type 1 recombinant human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein (gp120) expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem 265(18), 10373-82.
- Lin, Y. L., Mettling, C., Portales, P., Reynes, J., Clot, J., and Corbeau, P. (2002). Cell surface CCR5 density determines the postentry efficiency of R5 HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(24), 15590-5.
- Liu, R., Paxton, W. A., Choe, S., Ceradini, D., Martin, S. R., Horuk, R., MacDonald, M. E., Stuhlmann, H., Koup, R. A., and Landau, N. R. (1996). Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. *Cell* 86(3), 367-77.
- Lu, Z., Berson, J. F., Chen, Y., Turner, J. D., Zhang, T., Sharron, M., Jenks, M. H., Wang, Z. X., Kim, J., Rucker, J., Hoxie, J. A., Peiper, S. C., and Doms, R. W. (1997). Evolution of HIV-1 coreceptor usage through interactions with distinct CCR5 and CXCR4 domains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94(12), 6426-31.
- Lynch, R. M., Shen, T., Gnanakaran, S., and Derdeyn, C. A. (2009). Appreciating HIV type 1 diversity: subtype differences in Env. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* **25**(3), 237-48.
- Maeda, Y., Yusa, K., and Harada, S. (2008). Altered sensitivity of an R5X4 HIV-1 strain 89.6 to coreceptor inhibitors by a single amino acid substitution in the V3 region of gp120. *Antiviral Research* 77(2), 128-35.

- Malkevitch, N., McDermott, D. H., Yi, Y., Grivel, J. C., Schols, D., De Clercq, E., Murphy, P. M., Glushakova, S., Collman, R. G., and Margolis, L. (2001). Coreceptor choice and T cell depletion by R5, X4, and R5X4 HIV-1 variants in CCR5-deficient (CCR5delta32) and normal human lymphoid tissue. *Virology* 281(2), 239-47.
- Massari, F. E., Poli, G., Schnittman, S. M., Psallidopoulos, M. C., Davey, V., and Fauci, A. S. (1990). In vivo T lymphocyte origin of macrophage-tropic strains of HIV. Role of monocytes during in vitro isolation and in vivo infection. *J Immunol* 144(12), 4628-32.
- McElrath, M. J., Pruett, J. E., and Cohn, Z. A. (1989). Mononuclear phagocytes of blood and bone marrow: comparative roles as viral reservoirs in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**(2), 675-9.
- McNearney, T., Hornickova, Z., Markham, R., Birdwell, A., Arens, M., Saah, A., and Ratner, L. (1992). Relationship of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 sequence heterogeneity to stage of disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89(21), 10247-51.
- Meissner, E. G., Duus, K. M., Gao, F., Yu, X. F., and Su, L. (2004). Characterization of a thymus-tropic HIV-1 isolate from a rapid progressor: role of the envelope. *Virology* 328(1), 74-88.
- Melikyan, G. B., Markosyan, R. M., Hemmati, H., Delmedico, M. K., Lambert, D. M., and Cohen, F. S. (2000). Evidence that the transition of HIV-1 gp41 into a sixhelix bundle, not the bundle configuration, induces membrane fusion. *J Cell Biol* 151(2), 413-23.
- Merson, M. H. (2006). The HIV-AIDS pandemic at 25--the global response. *N Engl J Med* **354**(23), 2414-7.
- Milich, L., Margolin, B. H., and Swanstrom, R. (1993). V3 loop of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Env protein: interpreting sequence variability. J Virol 67(9), 5623-34.
- Mkrtchyan, S. R., Markosyan, R. M., Eadon, M. T., Moore, J. P., Melikyan, G. B., and Cohen, F. S. (2005). Ternary complex formation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Env, CD4, and chemokine receptor captured as an intermediate of membrane fusion. *J Virol* **79**(17), 11161-9.

- Nishimura, Y., Brown, C. R., Mattapallil, J. J., Igarashi, T., Buckler-White, A., Lafont, B. A., Hirsch, V. M., Roederer, M., and Martin, M. A. (2005). Resting naive CD4+ T cells are massively infected and eliminated by X4-tropic simian-human immunodeficiency viruses in macaques. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102(22), 8000-5.
- Nishimura, Y., Igarashi, T., Donau, O. K., Buckler-White, A., Buckler, C., Lafont, B. A., Goeken, R. M., Goldstein, S., Hirsch, V. M., and Martin, M. A. (2004). Highly pathogenic SHIVs and SIVs target different CD4+ T cell subsets in rhesus monkeys, explaining their divergent clinical courses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101(33), 12324-9.
- Niwa, H., Yamamura, K., and Miyazaki, J. (1991). Efficient selection for high-expression transfectants with a novel eukaryotic vector. *Gene* **108**(2), 193-9.
- Nolan, K. M., Del Prete, G. Q., Jordan, A. P., Haggarty, B., Romano, J., Leslie, G. J., and Hoxie, J. A. (2009). Characterization of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V3 deletion mutation that confers resistance to CCR5 inhibitors and the ability to use aplaviroc-bound receptor. *J Virol* 83(8), 3798-809.
- Nolan, K. M., Jordan, A. P., and Hoxie, J. A. (2008). Effects of partial deletions within the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V3 loop on coreceptor tropism and sensitivity to entry inhibitors. *J Virol* **82**(2), 664-73.
- O'Doherty, U., Swiggard, W. J., and Malim, M. H. (2000). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 spinoculation enhances infection through virus binding. *J Virol* **74**(21), 10074-80.
- Ogert, R. A., Lee, M. K., Ross, W., Buckler-White, A., Martin, M. A., and Cho, M. W. (2001). N-linked glycosylation sites adjacent to and within the V1/V2 and the V3 loops of dualtropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate DH12 gp120 affect coreceptor usage and cellular tropism. *J Virol* **75**(13), 5998-6006.
- Olivieri, K., Scoggins, R. M., Bor, Y. C., Matthews, A., Mark, D., Taylor, J. R., Chernauskas, D., Hammarskjöld, M. L., Rekosh, D., and Camerini, D. (2007). The envelope gene is a cytopathic determinant of CCR5 tropic HIV-1. *Virology* 358(1), 23-38.
- Olson, W. C., Rabut, G. E., Nagashima, K. A., Tran, D. N., Anselma, D. J., Monard, S. P., Segal, J. P., Thompson, D. A., Kajumo, F., Guo, Y., Moore, J. P., Maddon, P. J., and Dragic, T. (1999). Differential inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion, gp120 binding, and CC-chemokine activity by monoclonal antibodies to CCR5. *J Virol* 73(5), 4145-55.

- Oravecz, T., Pall, M., and Norcross, M. A. (1996). Beta-chemokine inhibition of monocytotropic HIV-1 infection. Interference with a postbinding fusion step. J Immunol 157(4), 1329-32.
- Ostrowski, M. A., Chun, T. W., Justement, S. J., Motola, I., Spinelli, M. A., Adelsberger, J., Ehler, L. A., Mizell, S. B., Hallahan, C. W., and Fauci, A. S. (1999). Both Memory and CD45RA+/CD62L+ Naive CD4+ T Cells Are Infected in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type J Virol.
- Ostrowski, M. A., Justement, S. J., Catanzaro, A., Hallahan, C. A., Ehler, L. A., Mizell, S. B., Kumar, P. N., Mican, J. A., Chun, T. W., and Fauci, A. S. (1998). Expression of chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CCR5 in HIV-1-infected and uninfected individuals. *J Immunol* 161(6), 3195-201.
- Parolin, C., Taddeo, B., Palu, G., and Sodroski, J. (1996). Use of cis- and trans-acting viral regulatory sequences to improve expression of human immunodeficiency virus vectors in human lymphocytes. *Virology* **222**(2), 415-22.
- Pasquier, C., Cayrou, C., Blancher, A., Tourne-Petheil, C., Berrebi, A., Tricoire, J., Puel, J., and Izopet, J. (1998). Molecular evidence for mother-to-child transmission of multiple variants by analysis of RNA and DNA sequences of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 72(11), 8493-501.
- Pastore, C., Nedellec, R., Ramos, A., Pontow, S., Ratner, L., and Mosier, D. E. (2006). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coreceptor switching: V1/V2 gain-offitness mutations compensate for V3 loss-of-fitness mutations. *J Virol* 80(2), 750-8.
- Pastore, C., Ramos, A., and Mosier, D. E. (2004). Intrinsic obstacles to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coreceptor switching. *J Virol* **78**(14), 7565-74.
- Peters, P. J., Bhattacharya, J., Hibbitts, S., Dittmar, M. T., Simmons, G., Bell, J. E., Simmonds, P., and Clapham, P. R. (2004). Biological analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 envelopes amplified from brain and lymph node tissues of AIDS patients with neuropathology reveals two distinct tropism phenotypes and identifies envelopes in the brain that confer an enhanced tropism and fusigenicity for macrophages. *J Virol* 78(13), 6915-26.
- Peters, P. J., Sullivan, W. M., Duenas-Decamp, M. J., Bhattacharya, J., Ankghuambom, C., Brown, R., Luzuriaga, K., Bell, J. E., Simmonds, P., Ball, J., and Clapham, P. R. (2006). Non-macrophage-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 envelopes predominate in blood, lymph nodes, and semen: implications for transmission and pathogenesis. *J Virol* 80(13), 6324-32.

- Plantier, J. C., Leoz, M., Dickerson, J. E., De Oliveira, F., Cordonnier, F., Lemee, V., Damond, F., Robertson, D. L., and Simon, F. (2009). A new human immunodeficiency virus derived from gorillas. *Nat Med* 15(8), 871-2.
- Polk, B. F., Fox, R., Brookmeyer, R., Kanchanaraksa, S., Kaslow, R., Visscher, B., Rinaldo, C., and Phair, J. (1987). Predictors of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome developing in a cohort of seropositive homosexual men. *N Engl J Med* **316**(2), 61-6.
- Pollakis, G., Kang, S., Kliphuis, A., Chalaby, M. I. M., Goudsmit, J., and Paxton, W. A. (2001). N-linked glycosylation of the HIV type-1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein as a major determinant of CCR5 and CXCR4 coreceptor utilization. *J Biol Chem* 276(16), 13433-41.
- Pontow, S., and Ratner, L. (2001). Evidence for common structural determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 coreceptor activity provided through functional analysis of CCR5/CXCR4 chimeric coreceptors. *J Virol* 75(23), 11503-14.
- Pratt, R. D., Shapiro, J. F., McKinney, N., Kwok, S., and Spector, S. A. (1995). Virologic characterization of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in a health care worker following needlestick injury. *J Infect Dis* 172(3), 851-4.
- Quagliarello, V. (1982). The Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome: current status. *Yale J Biol Med* **55**(5-6), 443-52.
- Rabin, R. L., Park, M. K., Liao, F., Swofford, R., Stephany, D., and Farber, J. M. (1999). Chemokine receptor responses on T cells are achieved through regulation of both receptor expression and signaling. *J Immunol* 162(7), 3840-50.
- Rabut, G. E., Konner, J. A., Kajumo, F., Moore, J. P., and Dragic, T. (1998). Alanine substitutions of polar and nonpolar residues in the amino-terminal domain of CCR5 differently impair entry of macrophage- and dualtropic isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 72(4), 3464-8.
- Ray, N., Harrison, J. E., Blackburn, L. A., Martin, J. N., Deeks, S. G., and Doms, R. W. (2007). Clinical resistance to enfuvirtide does not affect susceptibility of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to other classes of entry inhibitors. *J Virol* 81(7), 3240-50.
- Reeves, J. D., Gallo, S. A., Ahmad, N., Miamidian, J. L., Harvey, P. E., Sharron, M., Pöhlmann, S., Sfakianos, J. N., Derdeyn, C. A., Blumenthal, R., Hunter, E., and

Doms, R. W. (2002). Sensitivity of HIV-1 to entry inhibitors correlates with envelope/coreceptor affinity, receptor density, and fusion kinetics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **99**(25), 16249-54.

- Reeves, J. D., Miamidian, J. L., Biscone, M. J., Lee, F. H., Ahmad, N., Pierson, T. C., and Doms, R. W. (2004). Impact of mutations in the coreceptor binding site on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion, infection, and entry inhibitor sensitivity. *J Virol* 78(10), 5476-85.
- Ren, W., Tasca, S., Zhuang, K., Gettie, A., Blanchard, J., and Cheng-Mayer, C. (2010). Different tempo and anatomic location of dual-tropic and X4 virus emergence in a model of R5 simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Virol* 84(1), 340-51.
- Repits, J., Oberg, M., Esbjörnsson, J., Medstrand, P., Karlsson, A., Albert, J., Fenyö, E.
 M., and Jansson, M. (2005). Selection of human immunodeficiency virus type 1
 R5 variants with augmented replicative capacity and reduced sensitivity to entry inhibitors during severe immunodeficiency. *J Gen Virol* 86(Pt 10), 2859-69.
- Reynes, J., Portales, P., Segondy, M., Baillat, V., Andre, P., Reant, B., Avinens, O., Couderc, G., Benkirane, M., Clot, J., Eliaou, J. F., and Corbeau, P. (2000). CD4+ T cell surface CCR5 density as a determining factor of virus load in persons infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Infect Dis* 181(3), 927-32.
- Rimsky, L. T., Shugars, D. C., and Matthews, T. J. (1998). Determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 resistance to gp41-derived inhibitory peptides. J Virol 72(2), 986-93.
- Robertson, D. L., Anderson, J. P., Bradac, J. A., Carr, J. K., Foley, B., Funkhouser, R. K., Gao, F., Hahn, B. H., Kalish, M. L., Kuiken, C., Learn, G. H., Leitner, T., McCutchan, F., Osmanov, S., Peeters, M., Pieniazek, D., Salminen, M., Sharp, P. M., Wolinsky, S., and Korber, B. (2000). HIV-1 nomenclature proposal. *Science* 288(5463), 55-6.
- Rucker, J., Samson, M., Doranz, B. J., Libert, F., Berson, J. F., Yi, Y., Smyth, R. J., Collman, R. G., Broder, C. C., Vassart, G., Doms, R. W., and Parmentier, M. (1996). Regions in beta-chemokine receptors CCR5 and CCR2b that determine HIV-1 cofactor specificity. *Cell* 87(3), 437-46.
- Saag, M. S., Hahn, B. H., Gibbons, J., Li, Y., Parks, E. S., Parks, W. P., and Shaw, G. M. (1988). Extensive variation of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 in vivo. *Nature* 334(6181), 440-4.

- Salazar-Gonzalez, J. F., Salazar, M. G., Keele, B. F., Learn, G. H., Giorgi, E. E., Li, H., Decker, J. M., Wang, S., Baalwa, J., Kraus, M. H., Parrish, N. F., Shaw, K. S., Guffey, M. B., Bar, K. J., Davis, K. L., Ochsenbauer-Jambor, C., Kappes, J. C., Saag, M. S., Cohen, M. S., Mulenga, J., Derdeyn, C. A., Allen, S., Hunter, E., Markowitz, M., Hraber, P., Perelson, A. S., Bhattacharya, T., Haynes, B. F., Korber, B. T., Hahn, B. H., and Shaw, G. M. (2009). Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. *J Exp Med* 206(6), 1273-89.
- Samson, M., Libert, F., Doranz, B. J., Rucker, J., Liesnard, C., Farber, C. M., Saragosti, S., Lapoumeroulie, C., Cognaux, J., Forceille, C., Muyldermans, G., Verhofstede, C., Burtonboy, G., Georges, M., Imai, T., Rana, S., Yi, Y., Smyth, R. J., Collman, R. G., Doms, R. W., Vassart, G., and Parmentier, M. (1996). Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. *Nature* 382(6593), 722-5.
- Sattentau, Q. J., and Moore, J. P. (1991). Conformational changes induced in the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein by soluble CD4 binding. *J Exp Med* **174**(2), 407-15.
- Scarlatti, G., Tresoldi, E., Björndal, A., Fredriksson, R., Colognesi, C., Deng, H. K., Malnati, M. S., Plebani, A., Siccardi, A. G., Littman, D. R., Fenyö, E. M., and Lusso, P. (1997). In vivo evolution of HIV-1 co-receptor usage and sensitivity to chemokine-mediated suppression. *Nature Medicine* 3(11), 1259-65.
- Schuitemaker, H., Koot, M., Kootstra, N. A., Dercksen, M. W., de Goede, R. E., van Steenwijk, R. P., Lange, J. M., Schattenkerk, J. K., Miedema, F., and Tersmette, M. (1992). Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytotropic to T-cell-tropic virus population. *J Virol* 66(3), 1354-60.
- Schuitemaker, H., Kootstra, N. A., de Goede, R. E., de Wolf, F., Miedema, F., and Tersmette, M. (1991). Monocytotropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) variants detectable in all stages of HIV-1 infection lack T-cell line tropism and syncytium-inducing ability in primary T-cell culture. *J Virol* 65(1), 356-63.
- Schwartz, S., Felber, B. K., Fenyo, E. M., and Pavlakis, G. N. (1989). Rapidly and slowly replicating human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates can be distinguished according to target-cell tropism in T-cell and monocyte cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86(18), 7200-3.

- Shibata, R., Hoggan, M. D., Broscius, C., Englund, G., Theodore, T. S., Buckler-White, A., Arthur, L. O., Israel, Z., Schultz, A., and Lane, H. C. (1995). Isolation and characterization of a syncytium-inducing, macrophage/T-cell line-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate that readily infects chimpanzee cells in vitro and in vivo. J Virol 69(7), 4453-62.
- Shioda, T., Levy, J. A., and Cheng-Mayer, C. (1992). Small amino acid changes in the V3 hypervariable region of gp120 can affect the T-cell-line and macrophage tropism of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89(20), 9434-8.
- Siciliano, S. J., Kuhmann, S. E., Weng, Y., Madani, N., Springer, M. S., Lineberger, J. E., Danzeisen, R., Miller, M. D., Kavanaugh, M. P., DeMartino, J. A., and Kabat, D. (1999). A critical site in the core of the CCR5 chemokine receptor required for binding and infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Biol Chem* 274(4), 1905-13.
- Sonza, S., Maerz, A., Deacon, N., Meanger, J., Mills, J., and Crowe, S. (1996). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication is blocked prior to reverse transcription and integration in freshly isolated peripheral blood monocytes. *J Virol* **70**(6), 3863-9.
- Spear, G. T., Ou, C. Y., Kessler, H. A., Moore, J. L., Schochetman, G., and Landay, A. L. (1990). Analysis of lymphocytes, monocytes, and neutrophils from human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected persons for HIV DNA. *J Infect Dis* 162(6), 1239-44.
- Spijkerman, I. J., Koot, M., Prins, M., Keet, I. P., van den Hoek, A. J., Miedema, F., and Coutinho, R. A. (1995). Lower prevalence and incidence of HIV-1 syncytiuminducing phenotype among injecting drug users compared with homosexual men. *Aids* 9(9), 1085-92.
- Starcich, B. R., Hahn, B. H., Shaw, G. M., McNeely, P. D., Modrow, S., Wolf, H., Parks, E. S., Parks, W. P., Josephs, S. F., Gallo, R. C., and et al. (1986). Identification and characterization of conserved and variable regions in the envelope gene of HTLV-III/LAV, the retrovirus of AIDS. *Cell* 45(5), 637-48.
- Sterjovski, J., Churchill, M. J., Ellett, A., Gray, L. R., Roche, M. J., Dunfee, R. L., Purcell, D. F., Saksena, N., Wang, B., Sonza, S., Wesselingh, S. L., Karlsson, I., Fenyo, E. M., Gabuzda, D., Cunningham, A. L., and Gorry, P. R. (2007). Asn 362 in gp120 contributes to enhanced fusogenicity by CCR5-restricted HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein variants from patients with AIDS. *Retrovirology* 4, 89.

- Terhorst, C., van Agthoven, A., Reinherz, E., and Schlossman, S. (1980). Biochemical analysis of human T lymphocyte differentiation antigens T4 and T5. *Science* **209**(4455), 520-1.
- Tersmette, M., de Goede, R. E., Al, B. J., Winkel, I. N., Gruters, R. A., Cuypers, H. T., Huisman, H. G., and Miedema, F. (1988). Differential syncytium-inducing capacity of human immunodeficiency virus isolates: frequent detection of syncytium-inducing isolates in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and AIDS-related complex. *J Virol* 62(6), 2026-32.
- Tokunaga, K., Greenberg, M. L., Morse, M. A., Cumming, R. I., Lyerly, H. K., and Cullen, B. R. (2001). Molecular basis for cell tropism of CXCR4-dependent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates. *J Virol* 75(15), 6776-85.
- Tscherning, C., Alaeus, A., Fredriksson, R., Bjorndal, A., Deng, H., Littman, D. R., Fenyo, E. M., and Albert, J. (1998). Differences in chemokine coreceptor usage between genetic subtypes of HIV-1. *Virology* 241(2), 181-8.
- UNAIDS-Epidemic-Update (2009). UNAIDS Epidemic Update, Vol. 2009, pp. UNAIDS website providing statistics on the global HIV burden.
- van Rij, R. P., Blaak, H., Visser, J. A., Brouwer, M., Rientsma, R., Broersen, S., de Roda Husman, A. M., and Schuitemaker, H. (2000). Differential coreceptor expression allows for independent evolution of non-syncytium-inducing and syncytiuminducing HIV-1. J Clin Invest 106(8), 1039-52.
- van't Wout, A. B., Kootstra, N. A., Mulder-Kampinga, G. A., Albrecht-van Lent, N., Scherpbier, H. J., Veenstra, J., Boer, K., Coutinho, R. A., Miedema, F., and Schuitemaker, H. (1994). Macrophage-tropic variants initiate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection after sexual, parenteral, and vertical transmission. J Clin Invest 94(5), 2060-7.
- Veenstra, J., Schuurman, R., Cornelissen, M., van't Wout, A. B., Boucher, C. A., Schuitemaker, H., Goudsmit, J., and Coutinho, R. A. (1995). Transmission of zidovudine-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants following deliberate injection of blood from a patient with AIDS: characteristics and natural history of the virus. *Clin Infect Dis* 21(3), 556-60.
- Verani, A., Pesenti, E., Polo, S., Tresoldi, E., Scarlatti, G., Lusso, P., Siccardi, A. G., and Vercelli, D. (1998). CXCR4 is a functional coreceptor for infection of human macrophages by CXCR4-dependent primary HIV-1 isolates. *J Immunol* 161(5), 2084-8.

- Verhofstede, C., Demecheleer, E., De Cabooter, N., Gaillard, P., Mwanyumba, F., Claeys, P., Chohan, V., Mandaliya, K., Temmerman, M., and Plum, J. (2003). Diversity of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) env sequence after vertical transmission in mother-child pairs infected with HIV-1 subtype A. J Virol 77(5), 3050-7.
- Weissenhorn, W., Dessen, A., Harrison, S. C., Skehel, J. J., and Wiley, D. C. (1997). Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41. *Nature* **387**(6631), 426-30.
- Wild, C., Greenwell, T., and Matthews, T. (1993). A synthetic peptide from HIV-1 gp41 is a potent inhibitor of virus-mediated cell-cell fusion. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 9(11), 1051-3.
- Wolinsky, S. M., Wike, C. M., Korber, B. T., Hutto, C., Parks, W. P., Rosenblum, L. L., Kunstman, K. J., Furtado, M. R., and Munoz, J. L. (1992). Selective transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 variants from mothers to infants. *Science* 255(5048), 1134-7.
- Wood, G. S., Warner, N. L., and Warnke, R. A. (1983). Anti-Leu-3/T4 antibodies react with cells of monocyte/macrophage and Langerhans lineage. *J Immunol* **131**(1), 212-6.
- Wu, L., Paxton, W. A., Kassam, N., Ruffing, N., Rottman, J. B., Sullivan, N., Choe, H., Sodroski, J. G., Newman, W., Koup, R. A., and Mackay, C. R. (1997). CCR5 levels and expression pattern correlate with infectability by macrophage-tropic HIV-1, in vitro. J Exp Med 185(9), 1681-91.
- Yang, X., Tomov, V., Kurteva, S., Wang, L., Ren, X., Gorny, M. K., Zolla-Pazner, S., and Sodroski, J. G. (2004). Characterization of the outer domain of the gp120 glycoprotein from human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 78(23), 12975-86.
- Yang, Y. F., Tomura, M., Iwasaki, M., Mukai, T., Gao, P., Ono, S., Zou, J. P., Shearer, G. M., Fujiwara, H., and Hamaoka, T. (2001). IL-12 as well as IL-2 upregulates CCR5 expression on T cell receptor-triggered human CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. J Clin Immunol 21(2), 116-25.
- Yi, Y., Chen, W., Frank, I., Cutilli, J., Singh, A., Starr-Spires, L., Sulcove, J., Kolson, D. L., and Collman, R. G. (2003a). An unusual syncytia-inducing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolate from the central nervous system that is restricted to CXCR4, replicates efficiently in macrophages, and induces neuronal apoptosis. *J Neurovirol* 9(4), 432-41.

- Yi, Y., Isaacs, S. N., Williams, D. A., Frank, I., Schols, D., De Clercq, E., Kolson, D. L., and Collman, R. G. (1999). Role of CXCR4 in cell-cell fusion and infection of monocyte-derived macrophages by primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) strains: two distinct mechanisms of HIV-1 dual tropism. *J Virol* 73(9), 7117-25.
- Yi, Y., Shaheen, F., and Collman, R. G. (2005). Preferential use of CXCR4 by R5X4 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates for infection of primary lymphocytes. *J Virol* **79**(3), 1480-6.
- Yi, Y., Singh, A., Shaheen, F., Louden, A., Lee, C., and Collman, R. G. (2003b). Contrasting use of CCR5 structural determinants by R5 and R5X4 variants within a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolate quasispecies. *J Virol* 77(22), 12057-66.
- Yu, X. F., Wang, Z., Vlahov, D., Markham, R. B., Farzadegan, H., and Margolick, J. B. (1998). Infection with dual-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants associated with rapid total T cell decline and disease progression in injection drug users. *J Infect Dis* 178(2), 388-96.
- Zaitseva, M., Blauvelt, A., Lee, S., Lapham, C. K., Klaus-Kovtun, V., Mostowski, H., Manischewitz, J., and Golding, H. (1997). Expression and function of CCR5 and CXCR4 on human Langerhans cells and macrophages: implications for HIV primary infection. *Nat Med* 3(12), 1369-75.
- Zhang, L., Carruthers, C. D., He, T., Huang, Y., Cao, Y., Wang, G., Hahn, B., and Ho, D. D. (1997). HIV type 1 subtypes, coreceptor usage, and CCR5 polymorphism. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 13(16), 1357-66.
- Zhang, L., He, T., Huang, Y., Chen, Z., Guo, Y., Wu, S., Kunstman, K. J., Brown, R. C., Phair, J. P., Neumann, A. U., Ho, D. D., and Wolinsky, S. M. (1998). Chemokine coreceptor usage by diverse primary isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 72(11), 9307-12.
- Zhang, L. Q., MacKenzie, P., Cleland, A., Holmes, E. C., Brown, A. J., and Simmonds, P. (1993). Selection for specific sequences in the external envelope protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 upon primary infection. *J Virol* 67(6), 3345-56.
- Zhang, Z., Schuler, T., Zupancic, M., Wietgrefe, S., Staskus, K. A., Reimann, K. A., Reinhart, T. A., Rogan, M., Cavert, W., Miller, C. J., Veazey, R. S., Notermans, D., Little, S., Danner, S. A., Richman, D. D., Havlir, D., Wong, J., Jordan, H. L., Schacker, T. W., Racz, P., Tenner-Racz, K., Letvin, N. L., Wolinsky, S., and

Haase, A. T. (1999). Sexual transmission and propagation of SIV and HIV in resting and activated CD4+ T cells. *Science* **286**(5443), 1353-7.

- Zhou, Y., Shen, L., Yang, H. C., and Siliciano, R. F. (2008). Preferential cytolysis of peripheral memory CD4+ T cells by in vitro X4-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection before the completion of reverse transcription. *J Virol* 82(18), 9154-63.
- Zhu, T., Mo, H., Wang, N., Nam, D. S., Cao, Y., Koup, R. A., and Ho, D. D. (1993). Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. *Science* 261(5125), 1179-81.